Annual Report and Accounts
2014/15

Contents
Section

Page

Welcome
Member practices introduction and locality updates
Evaluating and improving our effectiveness

3
5
10

Strategic Report
Our role as local leaders of the NHS
The way we commission services
Organisation of East and North Hertfordshire CCG
Delivering our key projects
The health of the people we serve
Addressing health inequalities
Provision of care
Strategic aims 2014/15
Working with our patients

11
11
12
14
15
18
21
23
25
32

Quality and performance 2013/14
Performance tables

38
50

Review of financial performance
Financial strategy
Looking forward – the changing health landscape
Supporting resilient communities
Sustainability
Emergency preparedness
Review of statutory duties
Equality report – our policies and staff

57
60
63
66
69
71
71
71

Members’ Report
Our member practices
Governance

81
81
83

Remuneration Report
Governing Body member profiles
Declarations of Interest

86
95
99

Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
Annual Governance Statement
Glossary
The Accounts and External Audit Opinion

102
103
120
126

Frontcover: Dennis and Eleanor Draper aged 79 and 80, Welwyn Garden City

2

Welcome
We are pleased to present the annual report and accounts for East
and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group’s second year
of operation.
Led by local GPs, the CCG plans, designs and buys health services for over half a million
people living in our area and monitors the quality and effectiveness of those services. Since
our formation, GPs on our governing body have used their expertise, working closely with
our partners in health and social care, to meet the needs of our population. The past year
has seen significant developments which will make it possible for us to make further
meaningful improvements for patients and carers across east and north Hertfordshire.
General practitioners know that an unnecessary or prolonged stay in hospital can have a
detrimental effect on the health of our most vulnerable patients, which is why we invested
in increasing the capacity of home care support last year. This has had a very positive impact
for our patients. They can now more easily be discharged home or to a nursing or
community home with a package of care and support when their medical treatment is
complete, supported by skilled professionals as they recover. In addition, thanks to the
extension of our collaborative HomeFirst ‘hospital from home’ scheme to North
Hertfordshire, many more of our patients are avoiding being admitted to hospital at all when
that’s in their best interests.
HomeFirst’s dedicated teams of health and social care staff respond rapidly when a GP raises
concerns about their patient, providing intensive medical and practical support in the
patient’s home until their physical and mental health improves.
The involvement of patients and carers is central to our organisation’s success and our
patient groups have made many valuable contributions to the health of our population in
the last year. Together they have championed bowel cancer screening and healthy walks,
run diabetes support groups and carer awareness days and campaigned on antibiotic
resistance. The positive influence of these committed patients in their own General
Practices and within their wider communities is vital and inspiring.
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There is much to look forward to in the year ahead. Our governing body is growing in
expertise and influence, as recognised by Health Education England who judged us to be
‘Governing Body of the Year’ in the East of England. We are proud to have recently been
approved as ‘joint commissioners’ of primary care services with NHS England, which means
that from now onwards, local clinicians with their knowledge of patients’ needs will have
much more involvement in deciding how GP services should be delivered. This is also the
year in which the New QEII Hospital in Welwyn Garden City, commissioned by our
organisation, will open its doors to patients.
We move forward then with confidence and from a firm financial footing to another
challenging and exciting year, working to improve the mental and physical health of people
living in the east and north of Hertfordshire.

Lesley Watts
Chief Executive

Dr Hari Pathmanathan
Chair
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Member practices’
introduction
During the past year the member practices of East and North
Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group have worked to
ensure that the healthcare services commissioned meet the
healthcare needs that locality groups have identified for their
patients.
Doctors, practice nurses and healthcare assistants see thousands
of patients a year in GP surgeries, enabling these clinicians to
build a detailed understanding of their needs. GPs in locality
groups have used that knowledge to inform the improvement
work that the CCG is undertaking. The CCG was allocated £5 per
head to spend on improving services for older people. We used
this funding to invest in health checks for the over 75s. The CCG
also delegated localities £1 per head for primary care
improvement with localities spending it on the priority needs they
had identified for their own patients.
Like most other areas of the country, the winter brought a period
of exceptional pressure on local NHS services. Some of this year’s
‘winter pressure’ money, funded by the CCG and NHS England,
paid for a number of schemes in practices. From more practice
nurse home visits, longer or additional GP clinics, and increased
visits to your frail and elderly patients in care homes, the projects
made a positive difference this winter.
The 60 member practices which make up the CCG are organised
into six geographical localities. Every member practice is fully
engaged with their locality group and each group has its own
priorities, based on the health needs identified in that locality.
Throughout the year each locality has undertaken projects which
are helping to meet our local health objectives. These include:
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Lower Lea Valley
During 2014/15, the eight practices in the Lower Lea Valley locality
led a number of projects to improve the health and wellbeing of
their patients including:
•

Helping families with healthy lifestyles – Childhood obesity in
the Borough of Broxbourne is higher than the regional average
so GPs in Lower Lea Valley are working with the Allsorts
Children’s Centre in Cheshunt to refer families into a
programme to help them manage their weight and make
healthier choices.

•

HomeFirst - The HomeFirst project in Lower Lea Valley has continued very successfully
and has been extended to include four mental health nurses, one specialist palliative
care nurse from Isabel Hospice and one pharmacist to be part of the multi-disciplinary
team. In 2014/15, the team supported more than 675 patients on the ‘virtual ward’,
responding to more than 300 rapid response calls. In addition to a rapid response and
virtual ward function, the team provides support to patients who have just come home
from hospital. 97% of GPs and 96% of patients in a recent survey would recommend the
HomeFirst service to family and friends.

•

The Supporting Carers project is enabling primary care services in Lower Lea Valley to
deliver their commitment to carers and increase the number of unpaid family carers who
know where to turn when they reach a ‘tipping point’. Crossroads Care is working with
the CCG to support carers in a preventative manner before they reach ‘crisis’ by
providing regular breaks and access to other relevant support from the voluntary sector.
Each practice has a carers’ lead and many now have a Patient Participation Group Carer
Champion working together to support carers in their surgery and at the newly formed
Carers Café in Cheshunt.

•

Minor Injuries Unit in Cheshunt – locality GPs have been closely involved in the work to
renew the contract for the MIU at Cheshunt Community Hospital.
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North Herts
During 2014/15, the twelve practices in the North
Herts locality led a number of projects to improve the
health and wellbeing of their patients including:
•

HomeFirst comes to North Herts – The twelve
practices in North Herts have focused this year on
improving the quality of life for people with longterm conditions. Locality GPs have embraced the
HomeFirst rapid response service which supports older people and others with long term
or complex conditions to remain at home rather than going into hospital or residential
care. GPs identify patients who are suitable for HomeFirst support and participate in
multi-disciplinary team meetings to develop personalised care plans for them.

•

Better end of life planning – Other areas of multi-disciplinary working have resulted in
more people who are coming to their end of their life, letting their doctor know their
preferences for their last days and an increased number of people dying in a place of
their choosing.

Stevenage
During 2014/15, the nine practices in the Stevenage locality led a number of projects to
improve the health and wellbeing of their patients including:
•

Identifying and supporting people with caring responsibilities – working with local
charity Carers in Herts, the Stevenage locality has been a leader in establishing Carer
Champions in GP practices. These champions aim to identify people who care for their
family or friends and make sure that their caring responsibilities are included in their
patient notes and that they know how to access support from the surgery and from
community organisations.

•

Improving early detection of cancer – A key priority in the Stevenage area is to improve
the uptake of screening for bowel cancer. Patients from Stevenage practices undertook a
public awareness campaign to stress the importance of taking up screening opportunities
when offered in order to catch any cancers at an early stage.
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Stort Valley and Villages
During 2014/15, the six practices in the Stort Valley and Villages locality led a number of
projects to improve the health and wellbeing of their patients including:
•

Supporting patients to care for themselves – The Stort Valley and Villages locality has
been looking at how patients can care for themselves and this includes having up-to-date
information and strong working relationships with pharmacies. Patient Participation
Groups in the locality have taken up the challenge of educating the public about the
overuse of antibiotics and have held events in local markets to spread the message.

•

Health checks – The NHS Health Check programme aims to help prevent heart disease,
stroke, diabetes, kidney disease and certain types of dementia. Everyone between the
ages of 40 and 74, who has not already been diagnosed with one of these conditions or
who has certain risk factors, will be invited to have a health check at their surgery. Over
80% of eligible patients in this locality have taken up their health check.

Upper Lea Valley
During 2014/15, the sixteen practices in the Upper Lea Valley locality led a number of
projects to improve the health and wellbeing of their patients including:
•

Supporting patients with Diabetes – Practices in the Upper Lea Valley locality have
spearheaded work across the CCG to encourage patients to come forward to be tested
for Diabetes and to support those who have been newly diagnosed. Practices have held
a successful public awareness event and have helped to launch the Type2 Together peer
support and education programme in the locality.

•

Helping people reach and maintain a healthy weight – Practices in Upper Lea Valley
recognise the importance of supporting their patients to manage their weight and
minimise the likelihood of people developing long term health problems related to being
overweight. In the final six months of 2014/15, practices in this area referred 111 people
to a 12-week funded Slimming World or Weight Watchers course.

•

A commitment to patient engagement – each of the sixteen practices in the locality has
a patient participation group. Representatives from these groups have been instrumental
in supporting initiatives like the Diabetes awareness day.
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Welwyn Hatfield
During 2014/15, the nine practices in the Welwyn Hatfield locality led a number of projects
to improve the health and wellbeing of their patients including:
•

Supporting patients with dementia – The practices in Welwyn and Hatfield aim to make
Welwyn Hatfield a Dementia-friendly locality. GPs will be commissioning the Alzheimer’s
Society to provide a dementia support service whereby GPs can refer patients and their
carers to a dementia support worker. Each worker will spend one day per week in each
GP surgery to support the person with dementia and their carer, including signposting to
other health and social care professionals to co-ordinate their care.

•

Developing the New QEII Hospital – Over the past year, locality GPs in Welwyn Hatfield
have also been closely involved in the design of treatment pathways at the New QEII
Hospital. The new facility is on schedule to open in late spring 2015. More information
on the New QEII Hospital can be found on page 63.

•

Walking for health – The Welwyn Hatfield locality has also provided funding for the
Hertfordshire Health Walks scheme to help people get more physically active if they are
new to exercise or perhaps are recovering from a period of ill health.

Locality-based training
Locality groups hold regular TARGET events which provide development opportunities for all
member practices. Examples of the areas covered in 2014/15 include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Developing a Primary Care Strategy to ensure GP premises, infrastructure and
workforce are fit for the future
Federations – how GP practices can work together to improve the services they offer
to patients
Tackling healthcare associated infections such as c. difficile
Safeguarding vulnerable adults
Help and services offered by the voluntary sector
Analysing performance – examining data on emergency admissions to hospital
Integrating health and social care, including the HomeFirst scheme which operates in
North Herts and Lower Lea Valley localities
Understanding information governance and data protection
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Evaluating and improving our
effectiveness
•

360 degree stakeholder survey
72% of the CCG’s key stakeholders took part in the recent NHS England 360 degree
stakeholder survey commissioned by external survey company Ipsos Mori. This
compares well with a national average response rate of 62%. 66% of GP member
practices responded to the survey’s questions on a number of topics. Our responses will
be analysed and a plan of action drawn up in the light of the survey findings.

•

Annual General Meeting feedback
The CCG’s first Annual General Meeting was held on 11 September 2014. More than 140
people, including GPs, practice staff, patient representatives, stakeholders and members
of the public heard about the CCG’s performance in our first year as an
organisation. Patient participation groups had a stand at the event, with display
materials and contact information about their roles and achievements. The involvement
of a dance group of young adults with learning disabilities raised the profile of the health
needs of this group whose general health is often unnecessarily poor due to their
difficulties in accessing services. Workshops were designed to illicit valuable
contributions and feedback from patients, carers and the public on topics including
‘maintaining a healthy weight’, ‘stroke support services’ and ‘supporting carers’.
Feedback was gathered after the event to inform future meetings of this
type. Presentations and workshop materials were circulated to all attendees after the
meeting. 92% of attendees said that they would recommend the AGM to a friend or
colleague.

•

Improving Quality Programme
The CCG took part in the Improving Quality Programme, supported by the NHS’
improvement organisation. The programme was a driving force for improvement across
the NHS, working to improve health outcomes for the population and supporting the
development of Clinical Commissioning Groups’ new leadership roles. The focus of the
Improving Quality Programme in East and North Hertfordshire CCG was on developing
skills and knowledge within the organisation, to enable us to become better
commissioners. The programme, which culminated in May 2014, involved both CCG
senior managers and clinical leads and our partners from Hertfordshire County Council,
so that the skills learnt could support the drive for integrated commissioning of
services. The programme was deemed to be a success and recently featured in a
national NHS IQ event as an exemplar project.
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•

The impact of the Governing Body
Throughout the year, the Governing Body has undertaken self-assessments of its
effectiveness. Its members have also undertaken training in areas including equality and
diversity, information governance, health and safety, counter fraud and the safeguarding
of children and adults.
The Committees of the Governing Body also undertook self-assessments of their
effectiveness. As a result, agreed changes have been incorporated into the agenda
planning and organisation of subsequent Governing Body and Committee meetings.

Strategic Report
Clinical Commissioning Groups are governed by a Governing Body that is mainly made up of
local GPs and also includes a nurse, patient representatives and a secondary care (hospital)
doctor, along with executive officers such as the Chief Executive and Chief Finance
Officer. The composition of the East and North Hertfordshire CCG Governing Body is set out
in the Members’ Report on page 81 of the Annual Report. East and North Hertfordshire
Clinical Commissioning Group had a budget of more than £630m to deliver a wide range of
health services to our population in 2014/15.

Our role as local leaders of the NHS
The population of east and north Hertfordshire is changing. The birth rate is increasing and
people are living well into their old age. At the same time, improvements in healthcare
mean that people in the county are able to survive for longer with complex medical
conditions. Public demand for specialist treatment has increased and expectations of what
our health service should provide are high. This increasing demand cannot be met with the
funding we receive, unless we change the way we provide services. We are working closely
with our partners, using our clinical expertise to find solutions to this challenge.
We hold the majority of the NHS budget locally and are the lead healthcare commissioning
organisation for the east and north of Hertfordshire, responsible for commissioning
healthcare services on behalf of patients registered with sixty GP practices in the
Broxbourne, East Herts, North Herts, Stevenage and Welwyn Hatfield council areas. Three
GP Practices in Royston joined with other practices in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough to
form the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group.
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Commissioning means that we carefully assess the health needs of our population, informed
by the county-wide priorities set by the Health and Wellbeing Board, then plan how best to
meet those needs, before buying the health services required. We do not make these
important decisions in isolation. Through a range of engagement events held throughout the
year across our area we have actively sought the views of a wide range of partners. We have
engaged member GP practices, patient and carer groups and other key partners (including
provider trusts, voluntary and third sector organisations and the County and
District/Borough Councils) in the development of our commissioning plan.
Ideas and information gathered during our consultation events have fed into our
commissioning intentions, plans for further integrated working and the future of the ‘Better
Care Fund’ for health and social care in Hertfordshire. Outputs from these engagement
events have been reflected in contracts for 2014/15 and 2015/16 and the strategic and
operational plans that form our commissioning strategy.

The way we commission services
NHS England is also a commissioner of healthcare services, with responsibilities for
specialised services and primary care services e.g. the majority of services provided by GP
practices, dentists, pharmacists and optometrists. Each clinical commissioning group has a
duty to assist and support NHS England in carrying out these commissioning functions and to
secure continuous improvement in the quality of primary medical services.
From April 2015 onwards, East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group
became joint or ‘co-commissioners’ of GP services with NHS England, following a national
approval process. Extending our commissioning remit to primary care is a significant step for
the CCG and we have made a number of changes to our constitution to prepare for the
introduction of our new commissioning responsibilities.
A new joint committee, which will include representation from Healthwatch, Hertfordshire’s
Health and Wellbeing Board, and NHS England, has been established to oversee these cocommissioning arrangements.
East and North Hertfordshire CCG already buys services from a range of providers, including
hospitals and other organisations such as mental health and community services NHS trusts,
voluntary organisations and independent providers. By doing this we can have a positive
impact on the health and wellbeing of the local population. We also fund the cost of
medicines and treatments prescribed by GPs and nurse prescribers.
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In 2014/15, we commissioned services in the following ways:
•

as the coordinating commissioner, where East and North Hertfordshire CCG has the
biggest share of activity and holds the contract, allowing other commissioners to be
associates to the contract. Examples of this include contracts with East and North
Hertfordshire NHS Trust and Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust.

•

as an associate commissioner, where another commissioner has the biggest share of
activity and holds the contract, allowing East and North Hertfordshire CCG to be a party
to the contract. Examples of this include contracts with Princess Alexandra Hospital and
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.

•

as a joint commissioner, where funding is pooled with partners and services are jointly
commissioned using that pooled budget. Examples of this include mental health and
learning disability services where resources are pooled with Hertfordshire County
Council and NHS Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group to commission services,
predominantly from Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust and
from the county council’s Health and Community Services.

•

as lead commissioner, where we procure services on behalf of a number CCGs. An
example of this is the flexible IVF contract which has been procured on behalf of 19 CCGs
from across a wide area.

We have established strong governance arrangements to oversee delivery of the priorities in
the commissioning plan, and these are managed on a system-wide basis where
appropriate. For example, the Urgent Care Network involves representatives from across
the health and social care system, allowing joint decision-making in relation to priorities that
affect the prevention of admission or earlier discharges.
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Organisation of East and North Hertfordshire CCG
The Governing Body has overarching responsibility for setting the strategic direction of East
and North Hertfordshire CCG, exercising financial control and the management of risk. Each
of the 60 GP practices within East and North Hertfordshire CCG is a member of one of six
localities and each locality has selected GP leads to be members of the CCG Governing Body.
As well as having a corporate role on the Governing Body these GPs provide local leadership
and represent a direct link between the decision-making of the CCG and its member
practices.
The localities are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Lower Lea Valley
North Herts
Stevenage
Stort Valley and Villages
Upper Lea Valley
Welwyn and Hatfield

The six localities retain a strong local focus to enable them to commission to meet the needs
of their particular local populations. Each locality receives its fair share of the CCG’s financial
resources, with budgets being set and financial reports presented at GP practice and locality
level. Monthly locality committees are facilitated to ensure member practices can influence
and inform commissioning decisions and to alert the CCG management team to issues,
especially those related to patient experience or where clinical pathways are not working as
intended.
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Delivering our key projects
In December 2014, the governance arrangements for reviewing and monitoring the CCG’s
key work programmes were enhanced.
Previously, four ‘programme boards’, chaired by GP Governing Body members, each met
monthly for each of the workstreams: planned care, unplanned care, out of hospital care
and joint commissioning. These programme boards were supported by a range of subgroups and partnership working arrangements.
It was felt that combining the three Programme Boards (Planned, Unplanned and Out of
Hospital) into one session would allow greater scrutiny of work streams, ensuring individual
projects were better aligned and integrated. The first ‘Organisational Performance and
Delivery’ (OPD) day was held in December and will continue on a monthly basis. The
executive team and a number of governing body GP representatives attend the whole
session, with senior managers attending to present reports on projects which they are
responsible for. Governing Body GPs have an open invitation to attend.
The process is also underpinned by development sessions which happen several times a
week to facilitate discussion on projects that are under development or to test thinking
about how projects are delivered and next steps.
The partnership elements of the CCG’s overall work programme, are now co-ordinated via a
monthly Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Board, with clear links into the
Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board work programme.
In order to manage the increasing scope of our integrated work, including the care home
improvement project (see page 64), the CCG established the Integrated Care Programme
Board (ICPB) in October 2014. This board is responsible for the development and
implementation of a whole-system partnership approach to integrating care for our
population. Tom Cahill, Chief Executive of Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS
Foundation Trust (HPFT), is designated as the provider system lead for integrated care, and
chairs the board.
Integrating care will only be successful if we adopt a collaborative partnership approach
which recognises and brings together the innovative developments already underway across
the system. The shared outcomes we all want to achieve are:
•
•
•

more people living independently in their own homes
health and care teams and services working closer together, providing a seamless
service for patients
a greater focus on proactive community care
15

•
•

a move away from managing single diseases to a more holistic care approach
a sustainable reduction in the urgent care demand on primary care, community
services, hospitals and social care services.

The CCG employs clinical, administrative and managerial staff to support the commissioning
of services. In October 2014, following the closure of Central Eastern Commissioning
Support Unit (one of the CSUs hosted by NHS England), the services the CCG had previously
received from the CSU were brought in-house. See page79 for more details about the
services affected.
To support the increasing integration of health and social care services in the county, the
CCG is supported by a small number of staff who work across Hertfordshire County Council
and the CCG. This integration team is working on delivering Better Care Fund projects and
also leading the introduction of the CCG’s care homes project which was successfully
awarded ‘vanguard’ status in March 2015. In addition, an integrated health and care team
works across the CCG and its local partners to support the commissioning of children’s
healthcare services and services for people with mental health problems, substance abuse
problems and learning disabilities.
In addition to the clinical expertise of its Governing Body, the CCG is actively involved in a
number of networks to ensure access to specialist clinical advice is available when needed.
The CCG also takes advice from the clinical senate and integrates national and regional
guidance (such as NICE) into commissioning plans and quality schedules.
When redesigning services, the CCG works closely with clinicians from provider organisations
and also engages the Local Medical Committee (LMC) and other local representative bodies
such as the Local Ophthalmic Committee (LOC) and Local Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC).
Public health input into commissioning decisions is available through Hertfordshire County
Council and a named public health consultant aligned to the CCG. The CCG also works closely
with Public Health England. The CCG is a key member of Hertfordshire’s Health and
Wellbeing Board and is involved in setting priorities in partnership with other member
organisations. Decisions are made on the basis of a shared understanding of need as
described in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA).
The Clinical Commissioning Group employs a Medical Advisor who is not employed in
general practice locally. She is on the specialist register for both Public Health and General
Practice and brings this expertise to her CCG role, supporting clinical commissioning through
service redesign, monitoring the quality of health care, setting standards and providing
clinical challenge.
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In the past year the CCG’s Medical Advisor has been working with clinicians across the health
sector to reduce health inequalities through a number of work streams including:
•

•
•

•

•

•

working with public health colleagues at Hertfordshire County Council on obesity
reduction and exercise strategies and to develop clear pathways with public health
and other services
working with providers to agree and improve standards of palliative care for patients
redesigning respiratory services – this includes developing a specialist team for
people with serious respiratory (breathing) difficulties based in the Lister hospital and
planning the development of a community respiratory service which can support
patients in their own homes
reviewing all serious incidents that occur to our patients and working with the quality
team and local clinicians to ensure lessons are learnt and actions are put in place to
prevent similar problems in future
making it easier for GPs to follow best practice advice for their patients’ treatment by
agreeing with clinicians’ recommended treatments and referral guidelines and
ensuring they are inputted to practice computer systems via an information system,
known as the ‘map of medicine’ - so that local doctors have the guidelines and
protocols readily to hand
evaluating services and advising on the pathways of care for patients with cancer,
heart disease and stroke, developing new ways of managing the clinical needs of
patients in nursing homes and reducing hospital mortality rates.
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The health of the people we serve
Using information from a range of sources, East and North
Hertfordshire CCG assesses the health needs of the people we
serve. This analysis guides the decisions that we make about what
we spend our money on. We aim to address the health inequalities
we identify through commissioning services that address particular
needs or shortfalls. By making the best use of demographic
information, we can also predict which communities face increased
health risks and plan ahead to meet those challenges. For example,
the county-wide dementia strategy will focus on improving our
understanding of the prevalence of dementia, both in our different
geographical localities and in the different groups of people
identified as having ‘protected characteristics’ as identified in the
2010 Equality Act.
Approximately 580,000 people live in our area – with the
population expected to rise by 26 per cent by 2035. As well as
growing, the CCG’s population is also ageing, with the number of
people aged 65 and over predicted to increase by 75 per cent in the
same period. Age-related conditions, such as dementia will
therefore pose an increasing challenge to the health system over
the coming years.
The number of (predominantly older) people admitted to hospital
from east and north Hertfordshire for conditions which could
potentially have been treated in the community are lower than the
East of England average although there are over 5,200 admissions
which could potentially have been avoided in a year. Rates of
admissions for hip fractures in people aged 65 and over are similar
to the overall rate for the whole of Hertfordshire and average
around 530 admissions per year.
The people of east and north of Hertfordshire are generally
comparatively prosperous and levels of deprivation are
low. Overall, East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s area ranks in the
lowest 20% of deprived areas nationally. There are however wide
variations between the most prosperous and most deprived areas
served by the CCG. Similarly, although the health of people in East
and North Hertfordshire CCG is generally the same or better than
the East of England average, this varies at district and borough
18

level. For example, life expectancy is 1.7 years lower for men in Stevenage compared to
Broxbourne and 2 years lower for women in North Hertfordshire compared to Broxbourne.
Amongst the 580,000 residents in our area, those communities which experience higher
levels of deprivation are also the communities in which people are more likely to die earlier
than would be expected (this is known as premature mortality).
1

Causes of early death include:
•
•
•
•

cancer
heart disease and stroke
lung disease
liver disease

Living an unhealthy lifestyle - smoking, excessive drinking and a poor diet for example - all
increase a person’s risk of dying prematurely. Although the number of people who live
unhealthily in our area has decreased overall, those from poorer backgrounds and the most
vulnerable are more likely to live unhealthy lives. This increases their chances of developing
the conditions or diseases which are the major causes of early death.
Mental health:
Good mental health can be defined as feeling good and functioning well, with a sense of
connection with other people, communities and the wider environment. Mental ill health is
linked with poor physical health: in the UK, depression is associated with 50% increased
mortality from a range of physical illnesses, including cardiovascular disease, cancer and
respiratory disease. Poor mental health, specifically depression, is associated with poor
access to, and willingness to accept treatment for, physical health problems.
Sometimes longer term conditions or physical or learning disabilities are accompanied by
anxiety or depression and providing mental health treatment may help people manage their
physical illness. As our population ages, dementia will also become an increasing challenge.
One in six of the population experiences mental ill health at any one time and accounts for
over 20% of the total burden of disease in the UK - more than cardiovascular disease or
cancer. In east and north Hertfordshire, it is estimated that 16.24% of those aged 16-74 have
a common mental health disorder, which is higher than the England average of 15.62%.
People’s mental health is also influenced by a range of social factors, including their financial
status, the quality of their housing, access to education and rewarding employment. Being
the subject of violence, abuse, crime and discrimination are also significant factors.
1

Source: http://atlas.hertslis.org/IAS/Custom/Resources/DPH2014ReportPDF.pdf
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Smoking:
In England overall, there has been a downward trend in the number of men and women who
smoke. This national downward trend has not been matched in Hertfordshire in recent
years. Just over one in five adults smoke, higher than the East of England average and an
estimated 770 deaths per year are due to smoking. The percentage of adults smoking in
Hertfordshire ranges from an average of 15.2% in the East Herts District Council area to
22.3% in the Stevenage Borough Council area.
Smoking was the major cause of the 128 premature deaths in Hertfordshire men and 97
premature deaths in Hertfordshire women from lung disease in 2012. Approximately half of
those who died were East and North Hertfordshire CCG patients. More than one in four of
all cancers, one in four circulatory disease deaths (including heart attacks and strokes) and
more than one in three respiratory deaths are directly attributable to smoking. In addition,
for every smoking-related death 20 people are suffering a smoking related
disease. Stevenage has a significantly higher smoking prevalence and smoking attributable
mortality than the East of England average.
Obesity:
Approximately one in twelve reception (aged 4-5) children, one in seven Year 6 (aged 11-12)
children and one in five adults in the East and North Hertfordshire CCG area are obese. This
is similar to the East of England average, although obesity rates are higher in the Broxbourne
Borough Council area than across the rest of our area.
Circulatory disease: In 2012, in Hertfordshire there were 412 premature deaths in men and
200 premature deaths in women due to circulatory disease. Hertfordshire follows the same
overall declining trend in premature deaths from circulatory disease as the England average
for both men and women. Many of these deaths are preventable by making individual
lifestyle changes. For instance, regular exercise can reduce the risk of a heart attack by
around 30%.
Alcohol: The rate of alcohol-related hospital admissions is higher than the East of England
average in Broxbourne and Stevenage and has increased over the last ten years in line with
the national trend. The number of early deaths due to liver disease is increasing in our area,
as it is across the East of England. In 2012 across the whole of Hertfordshire there were 86
premature deaths in men and 51 premature deaths in women due to liver disease. The most
important individual lifestyle factor associated with liver disease is regularly consuming
excess amounts of alcohol.
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Cancer:
Although deaths from cancer are declining overall, in 2012, there were 591 premature
deaths in men and 546 premature deaths in women due to cancer across
Hertfordshire. Based on population of East and North Hertfordshire CCG, it can be assumed
that half of these deaths are from the East and North Hertfordshire CCG population. More
than four in ten cancer cases could be prevented by individual lifestyle changes, such as not
smoking and keeping a healthy body weight.
Improving the health of our population is not a challenge that the CCG can meet alone. The
CCG is working together with patients and patient groups, neighbouring CCGs, the NHS
hospitals used by our patients, Hertfordshire’s NHS mental health trust, our county, district
and borough council colleagues, employers and the voluntary and community sector to
achieve our objectives.
To find out more about the targeted work that we have undertaken to address the issues
highlighted above, see the table aligning projects with the Health and Wellbeing Board’s
nine priorities on page 26 and the CCG’s ambitions and actions on page 28.

Addressing health inequalities
Patients and the quality of the care they receive is the focus of everything we do. We
commission services based on the quality of the outcome patients receive and we listen to
patients and carers to ensure that they are empowered to choose services on the basis of
quality and outcomes. We will continue to provide clear information to the public about the
quality of services which are commissioned on their behalf, including information about
poor quality services and unexplained variations in health outcomes. Our six localities have
each identified their own local health priorities, demonstrating our organisation’s
commitment to tackling inequalities within East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s area.
The CCG GP Quality Leads and Quality Team work closely together to ensure that clinical
outcomes are reported to the CCG Governing Body, Quality Committee and commissioning
work streams. This enables East and North Hertfordshire CCG to identify and act on any
clinical concerns or variations that may impact on quality and patient safety, including
variations in GP practices.
In our five year strategic plan and operational plan, we have been careful to focus on
tackling health inequalities and variations from best practice. For example:
•

proactive management of long term conditions in primary care to reduce current
levels of variation, such as the variation of exacerbations of COPD (chronic
obstructive pulmonary disease) across our six localities. The CCG will provide
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targeted clinical leadership and support to practice teams that are identified as
outliers
•

improving patient outcomes for those with cancer by addressing variation in
screening, diagnosis and management between practice populations. We are
supporting practices to develop action plans to make necessary changes and to
influence patient outcomes

•

elective treatment thresholds. Treatments of limited clinical effectiveness are being
monitored at a locality level with the aim of identifying variation at practice level and
to target support in order to improve overall productivity and clinical outcomes for
patients

•

better access to mental health care. As an organisation we recognise that mental
health is just as important to a person’s overall wellbeing as physical health. Noting
that patients with a long-term physical illness are three to four times more likely to
have a mental illness than a healthy member of the population, we have piloted the
RAID (rapid assessment, interface and discharge pilot) treatment model at the Lister
Hospital. RAID provides mental healthcare to patients being treated for physical
health conditions, improving their care and allowing them to be discharged earlier
with the appropriate support if their mental health needs are addressed. This
reduces rates of hospital readmission. We have also committed increased funding to
‘talking’ therapies, such as counselling, for people with mild to moderate depression
or anxiety.

•

addressing the health needs of children in local authority care. When a child comes
into the care of the local authority for the first time, they must have a thorough
check-up, known as an ‘initial health assessment’. Some children have missed out on
immunisations, check-ups and dental appointments and may have medical or mental
health problems which haven’t been properly identified. This first check is then
followed-up by regular health checks as the child grows up. By law, children under
the age of five years must have a health check every six months and those over the
age of five years must have a health check every year. An action plan will be drawn
up if any health needs are identified during these checks.

•

To help to meet the needs of these vulnerable patients, in 2014/15 the CCG and
Hertfordshire County Council recruited six GPs to carry out these specialist health
checks. A former ‘looked after child’ was supported to join the interview panel, in
order to assist with the appointment process.
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Provision of care
East and North Hertfordshire CCG is a commissioning organisation, based in Welwyn Garden
City, and the vast majority of our staff are based here. We do not operate from any other
buildings and we do not directly provide care for patients.
Acute hospital services are provided by NHS Trusts, NHS Foundation Trusts and other
independent providers and East and North Hertfordshire CCG has contracts with over 30
such providers. In addition the CCG also pays for acute care at other Care Quality
Commission (CQC) registered providers on a non-contractual basis.
Non-acute services are provided under contract by a further 90 CQC registered providers.
However, community services are predominantly provided to our residents by Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust. Mental health and learning disability services are predominantly
provided by Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust.
The most significant healthcare providers with whom East and North Hertfordshire CCG
spent more than £5m and the broad service categories of care provided, are set out below.
Provider
East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
Barnet and Chase Farm NHS Trust became part of the Royal Free
from 1 September 2014.
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
North Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust
Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust
Ramsay Healthcare UK
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
The Pathology Partnership (TPP)
Herts Urgent Care

Service Category
Acute
Acute

Acute
Acute
Acute
Acute
Acute
Ambulance
Community
Mental Health and Learning Disability
Pathology
Primary Care and Out of Hours

The number of providers with which East and North Hertfordshire CCG has a contractual or
other relationship, together with their geographic spread, provides the population of East
and North Hertfordshire CCG with a large degree of choice, which they can exercise
particularly when accessing acute services. The competition this creates can act as an
incentive for providers to improve the quality of care and services that they offer.

The location of key NHS hospitals is shown in the map below.
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Strategic aims 2014/15
The CCG is a patient-centred organisation. We aim to:
•

work with patients, partners, managers and clinical colleagues from all sectors to
commission the best possible healthcare for our patients within available resources

•

reduce health inequalities and achieve a stable and sustainable health economy by
working together, sharing best practice and improving expertise and clinical
outcomes.

We are determined to improve the quality of care provided to patients, regardless of setting.
From our inception, we committed to looking carefully at how best to commission services
to achieve sustainable improvements. We will always put the needs of patients and carers
first – not the needs of any organisation.

Health and Wellbeing Board
East and North Hertfordshire CCG is part of the Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board.
This brings together the NHS, public health, adult social care and children’s services,
including elected representatives and Hertfordshire Healthwatch, to plan how best to meet
the needs of Hertfordshire’s population and tackle local inequalities in health.
The Health and Wellbeing Board has identified the following priorities for the county:
•
•
•
•

Healthy Living - reducing the harm caused by alcohol, reducing the harm from
tobacco
Increasing physical activity and promoting a healthy weight
Independent Lives - fulfilling lives for people with learning disabilities, living well with
dementia, enhancing quality of life for people with long term conditions
Flourishing Communities - supporting carers to care; helping all families to thrive;
improving mental health and emotional wellbeing.

The following table outlines some of the CCG projects which are linked to the HWB’s priority
areas.
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Health and Wellbeing
Strategy priority areas

Projects and pilots to support this priority
•

Reducing the harm
caused by alcohol

•

In 2014/15 the CCG received an increased number of requests for referral for
external assessment for young children with challenging behaviour, associated
with Maternal Foetal Alcohol Syndrome. This increased demand is being
benchmarked with other CCGs in the East of England Strategic Clinical Network.
The CCG is linking with Hertfordshire County Council’s early childhood
preventative health and support strategies to ensure early identification of
families of risk from excessive alcohol, so that appropriate support is provided for
these families.

Reducing smoking

•
•

Smoking / surgical pathway (across whole CCG)
Hertfordshire Stop Smoking services available across the county

Increasing physical
activity and promoting a
healthy weight

•
•
•

BMI / surgical pathway (across whole CCG)
Family healthy weight programme in Lower Lea Valley
Referral to 12-week weight management programme (across whole CCG)

•

Work through mental health leads – acute trust learning disability initiatives purple books (across whole CCG)
Learning disability health checks (across whole CCG)

Fulfilling lives for people
with learning disabilities

Living well with dementia

•
•
•

•
•
Enhancing quality of life
for people with long term
conditions

•
•
•

Supporting carers to care

Helping all families to
thrive

Improving emotional and
mental health wellbeing

Introducing a new dementia strategy
Commitment to becoming a ‘dementia-friendly’ community, for example
establishing dementia lunch clubs (Cheshunt) and introducing dementia support
workers in practices (Welwyn Hatfield)
Investment in early memory clinics
HomeFirst is well established in Lower Lea Valley and extended into North Herts
in July 2014.
Patients who experience a mild to moderate stoke can be looked after at home
by the Early Supported Discharge team
Peer education groups, called Type2 Together have been set up to support
patients with type 2 diabetes. All diabetes patients have been given a Diabetes UK
support pack – the CCG is the first in the country to offer these universally
The Acute In-hours Visiting Service is a rapid response service to enable
vulnerable patients to receive a home visit

•
•
•

A new carers’ strategy is in place across the CCG
‘Carers’ champions ‘ are available in the majority of GP practices
Carers are entitled to a free flu vaccination

•
•
•
•
•

Health visitor developments
Teenage champions
Family Nursing Partnership (Stevenage)
Special Educational Needs pilot
Substance misuse re-tendered and re-negotiated contract

•
•

Increased investment in Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)
Extending the operating hours of the rapid assessment interface and discharge
(RAID) service at Lister Hospital
Piloting mental health support workers in NHS 111 call centre to offer immediate
help to callers

•
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Our strategic ambitions
The CCG has nine strategic ambitions as set out below. These ambitions run until 2018/19
and we will assess our achievements on an annual basis.
The ambitions are evidence-based and have been agreed by the Governing Body following
detailed discussion, both within our locality groups and with our partners. Evidence for
priority-setting has been gathered from a number of sources including:
•
•
•

•

•

•

the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and other public health data, which sets out
the health challenges for the CCG
the county-wide Health and Wellbeing Strategy, which we actively helped to develop
as members of the Health and Wellbeing Board
the Community Safety Board, a quarterly forum chaired by the Police and Crime
Commissioner which provides oversight of countywide community safety related
strategies and is an advisory board on community safety activities
the District and Borough Community Safety Partnerships in the East and North of
Hertfordshire; of which we are one of a number of public sector ‘responsible
authorities,’ working together to tackle crime, disorder and anti-social behaviour
the work plans of the Adult Commissioning Executive Group and the Children’s
Commissioning Executive Group. These groups are made up of senior managers and
clinicians from Health, Social Care and Education
‘Healthier Herts,’ the 2013-17 Public Health Strategy for Hertfordshire.

Our ambitions acknowledge the significant impact of an ageing population; the number of
people aged over 65 is forecast to increase by 30,000 in the next 14 years and the numbers
aged over 90 will more than double. Two schemes were introduced and funded by the CCG
in 2014/15 to specifically support this growing older generation of patients. The new
‘interface geriatrician’ at Lister Hospital provides expert advice to GPs with concerns or
queries about their older patients, while the care home support scheme links every care
home with a local GP practice. Practice GPs carry out regular ‘ward rounds’, getting to know
individual patients and care home staff. These innovative projects are helping to reduce the
number of avoidable hospital admissions amongst older people.
Our focus in 2014/15 was to build on the firm foundations we established in our first year
and continue to ensure that we managed the increasing demands on our financial resources
in the most effective way. This was particularly important given the economic climate and
the need nationally, as well as locally, for significant efficiency savings to be delivered
through service transformation. Our overarching aims are to improve the health of the
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population, to reduce health needs and to find better ways of meeting those needs through
the commissioning of high quality services at lower cost.
East and North Hertfordshire CCG has demonstrated the appetite and the capacity to be
innovative and make a positive difference for the communities we serve. Service
developments like the HomeFirst hospital from home service, which was extended to our
North Hertfordshire locality in 2014/15 and the acute in-hours visiting service which
increases the number of home visits to vulnerable patients, are helping to reduce the
number of avoidable hospital admissions from our area.
Engagement and involvement of our practices, patient representatives, commissioning
partners, providers and other stakeholders has been vital in the development of the CCG and
the commissioning decisions we have taken on behalf of our population.
We firmly believe that through effective engagement and joint working with the community
and partnership organisations we can deliver improved health outcomes for people living in
the east and north of Hertfordshire.
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CCG ambition

Details

Proposed attainment in 2018/19

Add life to years and
years to life by reducing
health inequalities

One of the principal objectives for any health system is that people should live longer,
healthier lives. As a result of the investment we make in health services, we should expect
to see people not only living longer but also those additional years should be characterised
by good health rather than poor health. When we look at the current figures for life
expectancy and disability-free life expectancy, it shows a significant gap between localities.
We will focus on improving the lower performing areas.

Each locality has its own measures. Details are contained
in the CCG Operational Commissioning Plan 2014/16.

Managing long term
conditions

End of Life care

The Kings Fund report Making best use of the Better Care Fund (2014) indicates that
patients with long term conditions account for 70 per cent of all inpatient bed days. In the
CCG area this equates to 240,707 bed days. If a patient with a long term condition has an
actively managed care plan the exacerbations of their condition should be better
understood and managed by patients themselves, accessing the right NHS services when
they need them.
In 2012, across England, there were 300,000 hospital episodes for people within their last
month of life. In the CCG area this amounts to around 3,000 hospital episodes. Almost all
of these episodes are unplanned and many could be avoided if a more appropriate
proactive end of life service was in place. The CCG now has an agreed shared vision with
stakeholders and plans are in place for implementation of workstreams including early
identification of people approaching the end of their life and initiating discussions about
care preferences through Advance Care Planning. We have been developing an integrated
care pathway to support GPs and their patients in accessing the right care at the right
time. Work has started to develop an electronic system to co-ordinate and share data on
patients’ care preferences. CQUIN incentives have been agreed to develop the clinical
workforce across the whole system to deliver a patient-centred service. Post-death audits
continue to be monitored to measure preferred place of death and have been further
refined for delivery in 2015/16.

By 2016, 95 per cent of patients with a long term
condition will be offered a personal health care plan and
50 per cent will actually have a personal health plan,
initiated by the most appropriate health care
professional. This will contribute to a reduction of 2,932
hospital bed days for patients with long term conditions
by 2019.

By 2019 we will see a reduction in the number of hospital
episodes within the final 30 days of life to no more than
1,500; and the percentage of people dying in a place of
their choice will have increased to 60 per cent.
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CCG ambition

Details

Proposed attainment in 2018/19

In 2014/15, there were 52,698 hospital spells resulting from emergency admissions, costing
a total of £98m.
2

Looking after our frail
elderly patients

Of these spells, 17,512 were for people aged over 75 at a cost of almost £44m. There is an
opportunity to improve the quality of care and reduce spend. We will achieve this by
tailoring care for vulnerable and older people and doing things differently in primary care;
for example the acute in-hours home visiting service (AIHVS) and expanding the HomeFirst
project. Rapid access to expert opinion/support and appropriate seven day working across
all health and social care providers should see a reduction in hospital spells of less than two
days for the over 75s.

Reduction of hospital spells of less than two days for the
over 75s by 15 per cent over five years: reduction of
2,100 spells (a net reduction of 1,089 when
demographics are taken into account).

We want to see people living healthy and independent lives for longer. Much of what the
CCG and Hertfordshire County Council commissions is intended to promote health and
independence. The right support for people living independently should reduce the
demand on residential homes and potentially nursing homes. The CCG, along with the
county council, will monitor the demand for, and capacity of, residential care and nursing
homes.

The number of health or social care funded residential
beds for over 75s rate per 1,000 is maintained or
reduced.

Children and young
people

One in ten children aged 5-16 have a mental health problem. We will work in partnership
with other agencies to improve the mental and emotional well-being of children and
younger people to reduce the incidence of challenging behaviour, self-harm and suicide
and improve the resilience of families.

Local experience targets and baseline to be agreed
• Number of thriving families
• School health and wellbeing survey
• U19 unplanned hospitalisations for asthma, diabetes
and epilepsy
• Self-harm data
• Suicide data

Cancer

We know that earlier diagnosis of cancer improves survival rates. More comprehensive
cancer screening, better use of referral guidelines, reflective analysis of cancer cases,
tighter safety-netting systems and lower thresholds for investigations (in line with national
guidelines) can all help in detecting cancers at an earlier stage when they are easier to
treat, with less morbidity and a higher likelihood of cure. We aim to address locality

Cancer survival rates will improve to above England
median and regional mean.
We will reduce locality variation in under 75 mortality
linked to cancer so that by 2016/17 all localities are
within 35 per cent of the best performing locality and by

Independent Living

2

All providers all specialties and all activity that has been commissioned on behalf of patients who live in the CCG area.
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CCG ambition

Details
variations in mortality linked to cancer.

Dementia

Parity of Esteem

The incidence of dementia will increase as the population profile continues to become
older. We will work together with partners to develop and implement a responsive
approach which integrates physical and mental wellbeing for people with dementia and
their carers. We will develop the Herts Dementia Strategy in four areas :
• Good quality diagnosis as early as possible
• A workforce operating across health and social care which is confident to support the
physical and mental needs of people with dementia
• Improved quality of care and support for carers
• Improved outcomes in terms of quality of life and carer reported outcomes
“Treating mental and physical health conditions in a co-ordinated way, and with equal
priority, is essential to supporting recovery. Yet people with mental health problems have
worse outcomes for their physical healthcare, and those with physical conditions often
have mental health needs that go unrecognised.”
We want to understand the way in which people with mental health problems access
health and social care services and what their experiences are. Once we have that fuller
understanding, we and partners will take steps to jointly commission support services that
meet patient and carer needs.

Proposed attainment in 2018/19
2018/19 all localities are within 20 per cent of the best.

Carer reported outcome measures to be determined. The
CCG is in discussion with partners about the feasibility of
combining Mental Health Minimum Data Set and
Hospital data. This innovative approach would identify
the cohort of patients with dementia and produce
quarterly analysis on how this cohort is accessing health
services.

Patient and carer experience outcome measure to be
determined.
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Working with our patients
The patient and carer member network
Over the course of the year, the public engagement team has sought to
develop an informed local network of patient and carer members
which is built on patient participation groups (PPGs) in local GP
practices. Terms of reference and roles have been agreed for locality
patient commissioning groups (PCGs). A bi-monthly e-newsletter and
patient extranet area on the CCG website have been introduced to
facilitate two-way communication with members. These keep patient
and carer members informed of activities taking place across the
network and raise awareness of the CCG’s work and wider health and
wellbeing initiatives.
Meetings of the six PCGs take place every other month with patient
and carer member representation from 40 of the 60 practices in east
and north Hertfordshire. The CCG engagement team has sought to
encourage those practices which do not have active PPGs and this work
is ongoing.
The six PCGs have a patient and GP co-chair arrangement with the
patient co-chair attending the GP locality meetings and providing twoway communication and feedback.

Patient Network Quality group
The ‘Patient Network Quality’ group has undertaken a number of
initiatives over the course of its first full year, discussing and escalating
issues of patient/carer concern to the CCG Quality Committee. The
work of the Patient Network Quality group has been recognised by
CCGs across the country and other health sector organisations as an
example of good practice, particularly the quality assurance visits
undertaken by patient members as part of the team and the patient
stories initiative.
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Quality Assurance Visits (QAV)
The patient experience team has provided ongoing training for a cohort of 10 patient members on
undertaking a QAV. Following the initial training, follow-up training sessions have been arranged
at six monthly intervals to provide updates, key reminders and also to seek their feedback of the
QAV experience.
Over the year, members have undertaken fourteen visits to four different providers (East and
North Hertfordshire NHS Trust, Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust, Herts Urgent Care and
Ramsay Healthcare). Visits have been made to acute hospital wards, community hospitals, out of
hours GP bases and independent hospitals. More recently, one of the members has been on the
first visit to a mental health unit which provides services for older people.
The patient members’ role is to focus on patient experience - talking with patients and relatives,
assessing their experience of care and contributing to action plans. Clear improvements in patient
experience following patient member feedback have been instigated by the providers. These
improvements are shared with patient members and the wider patient network.
The quality assurance visits project has been identified as an example of best practice across NHS
England and was included as a case study in the publication ‘Commissioning for Quality’.

Patient Stories
Collecting and reflecting on a person’s individual experiences through the ‘patient stories’ project
is a powerful approach to understanding patients’ experiences of healthcare. Stories are relayed
by patients in recorded conversations to help us understand what is important to them, what
elements of their treatment and care work well and what improvements to the quality and safety
of the service they received should be made.
The CCG has created a small, skilled network of patient volunteers to listen and collect patient
stories on behalf of the organisation. We consider it important to use patient members to collect
these stories to ensure objectivity, understanding of the patient perspective and develop trust
from patient-to-patient conversation.
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Contributing to programmes and projects
•

Anti-coagulation monitoring services consultation
In March 2014, an extensive consultation was undertaken with patients receiving the anticoagulation monitoring service from their GP surgeries, prior to the tendering process for
this service. More than 450 responses were received from patients using the service and
their feedback was analysed and included within the tender documentation and
requirements for bidders.

•

HomeFirst implementation group
Within Lower Lea Valley and North Herts localities, patient representatives have been key
members of the implementation and clinical governance groups for the HomeFirst service.
Patients and carers have provided insight and support in the build-up to the launch of the
service and during its continuing development and day-to-day management.

•

Carers’ champions
Patient and carer members have supported their practices in the development of the
‘Carer Champions’ role. This work has been particularly effective in Lower Lea Valley
where members have worked with the GP practice Champions, Crossroads Care and Carers
in Herts to support practices to identify carers in their community and raise awareness of
the support carers are entitled to. Members have been involved in running a monthly
carers’ café. Identifying and highlighting the needs of carers will continue to be a key
priority going forward.

•

Hertfordshire falls strategy development
In May 2014, the engagement team coordinated a stakeholder workshop in partnership
with Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group and Hertfordshire County Council to
develop ideas and feedback for a county-wide strategy on falls. Patients and carers gave
their views on how to improve service integration and service outcome. A follow-up
workshop held in January 2015 sense-checked the suggestions put forward.

•

Commissioning intentions 2015/16
Patient and carer members have been involved in discussions regarding potential changes
to services in 2015/16. They highlighted the needs of carers and expressed concerns
regarding child and adolescent mental health services. These concerns are being taken
forward as part of the contract negotiations with providers.
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•

Primary Care strategy reference group
Patient and carer members are involved in a reference group, working with GPs and CCG
staff, on the development of the strategy using their personal experiences.

•

GP services to care homes
Patient members have assisted with the design of letters to patients regarding a more coordinated approach to GP services for patients living in a care home.

•

Danesbury Neurological Centre
The engagement team assisted with the involvement of patients and close relatives on
changes to the availability of respite care for a small group of patients who attended
Danesbury.

•

QEII arts and wayfinding
Stakeholders from the voluntary and community sectors in Welwyn and Hatfield have been
regularly consulted on the progression and development of the arts and wayfinding
strategy and action plans for the New QEII Hospital.

•

NHS 111 Clinical Governance Group / Personal budgets peer group
Patient and carer members serve on advisory groups, as and when required, and regularly
attend the NHS 111 Clinical Governance Group and NHS England’s Personal budgets peer
support group.

•

Involving a patient in specialist recruitment
This year the CCG and Hertfordshire County Council appointed a number of specialist GPs
to undertake health assessments for children in the care of Hertfordshire County Council
(also known as ‘looked after children’ or children ‘in care’). A young person, Lydia, who
herself had been ‘looked after’ in Hertfordshire was part of the interview panel, using her
own experience to inform the questions she asked. Lydia said: “I know what the doctors
need to be aware of because I have been through this process. We appointed six GPs in
total and I really enjoyed the experience.”

Promoting self-care and raising awareness
•

The CCG engagement team and patient and carer members have attended local
community events such as the Health Fest events held in Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield
as well as the University of Hertfordshire’s Fresher’s Fair to raise awareness of health
messages amongst key audiences.
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•

DIY Self Care Event
In November 2014 over 50 patient and carer members attended a DIY guide to Self-Care
event. Patient and carer members, working in locality groups, identified three actions that
patient participation groups could undertake in their local communities. Attendees were
then involved in table-top discussions focusing on motivating people to take responsibility
for their own. This involved keeping active, diabetes peer support groups and raising
awareness of antibiotic resistance through communications campaigns. CCG pharmacist
advisors additionally attended several local patient participation groups to raise awareness
of the importance of avoiding unnecessary antibiotic prescribing, to help reduce antibiotic
resistance.

•

Type2Together – peer support for people with Type 2 Diabetes
As part of a jointly funded project with Diabetes UK, the CCG is working to develop 25 peer
support groups for people with Type 2 diabetes across east and north Hertfordshire. The
groups are designed to provide regular support and advice. A support group is already well
established in Hertford and further groups are in the process of being established.
A very successful Diabetes Awareness Day was held in Hertford in July, attended by over
150 people and more than 80 people undertook a blood pressure and glucose test. A
second event has taken place in Hoddesdon.

•

Communications
We have enhanced our engagement communications activities, developing a social media
presence on Facebook for the CCG, as well as a public Facebook group for the Maternity
Care Matters members. We have redeveloped our website, explaining the role of public
engagement and encouraging new members to get involved with patient and carer
engagement in east and north Herts. Our consultations and health promotion activities are
also regularly published online. We are in the process of establishing a Plain English and
Communications network which will enable our communications team to sense-check
public facing communications with patient and carer members.
We have planned and funded a number of public communications campaigns to raise
awareness of alternative sources of health advice and information, in order to reduce the
pressure on primary care. These include:
•
•
•

mail shot on QEII service changes and the new Urgent Care Centre to 140,000
homes
‘Where do I go?’ advice leaflets
NHS 111 radio advertisements
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Public Engagement Ambitions for 2015/16
The public engagement team has identified the following priorities and ambitions for 2015/16:
•

Health Maze initiative
Over the last year, several new members have joined practice PPGs and locality PCGs and
have expressed a desire to gain a better understanding of the organisation and working of
the NHS and social care. The public engagement team has started a series of workshop
sessions to further develop patient members’ knowledge and skills and therefore enhance
their contribution to discussions on commissioning and quality of services.

•

Neurological conditions co-production project
We are supporting the development of this project funded by NHS East of England
Strategic Clinical Networks to develop service pathways for progressive neurological
conditions through co-production.

•

Self-care and self-management
Raise awareness amongst our network of self-care initiatives available in Hertfordshire and
enable them to share with their communities, and to support the joint working across
Herts Valleys CCG and Herts County Council on self-management tools for conditions.

•

Dementia friends
Aim to make our entire patient and carer member network ‘dementia friends’, by running
dementia awareness information sessions for each of our groups.

•

Equality, Diversity and Youth Development
Seek to ensure the views and feedback we receive are representative of our local
population. We are currently exploring opportunities and initiatives to better engage with
young people on key issues around health services in east and north Hertfordshire.

•

Health promotion and Community Awareness
Aim to increase our presence at local community events and through existing networks to
raise awareness of the CCG’s priorities and key messages.

37

Quality and performance in 2014/15
How we monitor quality
East and North Hertfordshire CCG needs to be assured that we are commissioning high quality,
safe and clinically effective services to our patients. The indicators in the NHS Outcomes
Framework cover clinical effectiveness, patient experience, and patient safety. They allow the CCG
to be assured of the quality of services being delivered by our providers, and enable us to
challenge and intervene when necessary, in line with the recommendations of a number of key
publications, including Francis, Keogh, Berwick and Winterbourne 3. These high profile publications
provide the fundamental principles in quality monitoring. The Governing Body has been through
an assurance process to ensure that we meet the recommendations for CCGs arising from the
Francis report. We also regularly report on progress against the recommendations of the
Winterbourne View report.
The CCG has a quality assurance strategy which sets out East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s
approach to commissioning and monitoring services in order to deliver high quality care to our
patients. Some of the actions we have taken to achieve this are:
•

Setting key safety, experience and effectiveness measures which are monitored robustly
through quality review meetings, quality assurance visits and contract review meetings

•

The provision of an integrated performance and quality report produced for the governing
body

•

The Quality Committee is fully established as a committee of the Governing Body to provide it
with assurance on the quality of services we commission. The committee receives a quality
dashboard detailing key metrics for all providers and ‘deep dives’ take place focusing on all
aspects of quality, patient experience and safety for both NHS and independent providers.

•

Monitoring and reviewing of a variety of data from a number of sources, including the GP
hotline, to ensure early warnings of a potential decline in quality are identified and appropriate

3

Links to: Keogh Report, Francis Inquiry Report, Berwick Report, Winterbourne View
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action taken. The GP hotline is a direct way for GPs and practice staff to let us know if there
are any issues with healthcare providers.
•

The CCG has worked in partnership with providers and other commissioners to ensure quality
priorities are aligned to the current and future health needs of the local population. Where
appropriate, improvements are incentivised through the national commissioning for quality
and innovation (CQUIN) schemes such as those for diabetes and stroke care.

Throughout 2014/15 the quality team has been involved with a number of workstreams that
have improved quality including:
•

A review of the GP hotline to ensure queries are dealt with in a timely way and that themes
are identified and actions taken.

•

Following concerns about the quality of discharge summaries from hospital to GP practices an
audit of summaries was undertaken with actions identified for improvement.

•

Working with Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust, the providers of the HomeFirst initiative in
Lower Lea Valley and North Herts, to identify key quality indicators to support the work of
HomeFirst.

•

Maintaining a robust programme of quality assurance visits to providers using the expertise of
patient representatives to support visits.

•

Working with Herts Valleys CCG and Hertfordshire County Council to bring together quality
monitoring of care homes and independent providers.

Specific work that has been undertaken and is on-going to improve clinical effectiveness, patient
experience and patient safety is detailed below:
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Clinical effectiveness
•

Working within the relevant guidance including the NHS Outcomes Framework, and drawing
on clinical guidance from national bodies alongside local priorities to ensure that providers are
delivering against latest guidance and best practice. For example in relation to accessing
psychological therapies and improving quality of life for people with dementia.

•

Reviewing the key data to benchmark local providers and understand where and why they are
outliers in specific areas, e.g. caesarean section rates.

•

Monitoring compliance against NICE guidance through quality review meetings.

•

Working closely with the local authority to monitor the quality of care homes, and agreed to
appoint a care homes lead post within the CCG.

•

CCG pharmacists supported prescribers throughout the year in the most appropriate use of
antibiotics. The CCG has achieved a 0.62% decrease in total antibacterial prescribing and a
14.9% decrease in the prescribing of specific antibiotics that are not recommended for routine
use. This indicates an improvement in the quality and safety of prescribing for our patients, as
nationally advocated and as part of the Chief Medical Officer’s robust guidance.

Patient experience
•

The patient network continues to look at quality, with membership from all locality groups, to
enhance feedback on the quality of services commissioned by the CCG, using surveys, patient
stories and other means.

•

Regular in-depth review, together with providers, of complaints themes and trends, as well as
monitoring standards of complaints handling in line with relevant guidance including
‘principles for remedy’, Patients Association recommendations and the Clwyd report.

•

Regular review of patient survey results and progress against action plans. An acute trust has
reviewed all patient information leaflets on their website, and is using standardised admission
packs which include relevant information related to the patient’s condition, in order to ensure
consistency across the trust.

•

Closely monitored ‘friends and family’ scores, response rates and comments made about local
providers in line with the national CQUIN. A local friends and family CQUIN for the community
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and acute trusts was also introduced during 2014/15 requiring specific work for ward areas
and community teams reporting lower patient experience levels in order to support
improvement.
•

Unannounced inspections of providers are undertaken by the CCG where concerns have been
identified. A programme of routine announced and unannounced visits has been undertaken
in 2014/15 including evening and weekend visits. Training has been provided for a number of
patient members who attend all planned announced and unannounced visits, with a focus on
discussions with patients regarding the quality of care they are receiving. This has been noted
as best practice by NHS England and the CCG has been used as a case study in the
‘Commissioning for Quality Framework’ published by NHS England.

•

Reviewed workforce data with our local providers. Development of ward level and community
team level dashboards for our local acute and community providers, enabling areas where
staffing is difficult to be quickly identified. The CCG has reviewed national and local staff
survey results and monitored improvement action plans. Actions can then be put in place to
make sure that the quality of patient care is not compromised because of staffing difficulties.

•

Signage for out of hours GP bases, and internal signage within provider settings has been
reviewed as a result of feedback from patient representatives during Quality Assurance Visits.

•

Several providers, including East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust have reviewed the layout and content of noticeboards as a result of
feedback from patient representatives during Quality Assurance Visits

Patient safety
•

Developed a robust serious incident reporting process, including a review panel with all
identified actions closely monitored to ensure full implementation prior to closure

•

Strong focus on reducing mortality rates, supported by analysis of Hospital Standardised
Mortality Ratios (HSMR) and Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) data.
Extensive work on reviewing key pathways such as respiratory care to reduce mortality in
those specific areas. The CCG has commissioned an invited service review of acute and
community respiratory services within East and North Hertfordshire in order to identify any
further areas for improvement
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•

There has been a focus on the elimination of avoidable pressure ulcers across the health
economy through the NHS safety thermometer CQUIN scheme with a focus on pressure ulcer
prevention in residential homes. This has resulted in a reduction in the number of patients in
care homes developing pressure ulcers

•

Active participation in the NHS England Area Team quality surveillance group, highlighting and
sharing concerns with other CCGs, the area team and the Care Quality Commission

•

Commissioned a data reporting tool to enable analysis of CCG and providers’ performance
against the five domains of the NHS Outcomes Framework

•

Signed up to the national ‘Sign up to Safety’ campaign which aims to make the NHS the safest
healthcare system in the world. The campaign objective is to reduce avoidable harm by 50%
over the next three years

•

An audit of GP record-keeping is being undertaken to ensure the required standards are being
maintained

•

Provided support to the out-of-hours GP service in designing and producing an infection
control leaflet for use across the bases

•

The Hertfordshire health economy infection control group continues to provide the strategic
lead to drive down the risk of healthcare associated infections (HCAI). It is supported by the
newly developed Herts HCAI reduction group which provides the forum to develop countywide
infection control initiatives.

•

Active participation in the NHS England Area Team quality surveillance group

Never Events
‘Never Events’ are serious incidents that are wholly preventable. National guidance or safety
recommendations are available to all healthcare providers that should protect patients from such
incidents taking place.
Each ‘Never Event’ has the potential to cause serious patient harm or death. However, serious
harm or death is not required to have happened as a result of a specific incident occurrence for
that incident to be categorised as a ‘Never Event’.
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‘Never Events’ include incidents such as:
•
•
•

‘wrong site’ surgery (when an operation is performed on the wrong part of the patient’s
body)
retained instrument post operation (when a piece of medical equipment is left inside a
patient after an operation)
wrong route administration of chemotherapy (when chemotherapy drugs are administered
to a patient incorrectly)

In 2014/15, one ‘Never Event’ was reported regarding an East and North Hertfordshire CCG
patient. This was reported by East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and related to ‘wrong site’
surgery, as a patient had a grommet inserted into the wrong ear. A full investigation was
undertaken in line with the Serious Incident policy, and actions taken by the Trust included
amendment to the process for adding patients to an operating list at short notice, and further
teaching sessions regarding relevant NICE guidance for this case. The investigation report was
reviewed by the CCG and further assurance and clarifications were sought. Confirmation that
agreed actions had been completed was provided by the Trust ahead of agreed closure.
Another of our provider trusts, Princess Alexandra Hospital, reported two maternity Never Events
in 2014/15, although neither related to an East and North Hertfordshire patient. Both of these
incidents concerned retained medical items left inside patients following operations. The trust
undertook an investigation and the resulting actions were to reinforce the use of the theatre
checklist, to review relevant guidelines and to ensure that additional training to all staff and
additional support to agency staff was in place. East and North Hertfordshire CCG visited the
maternity unit with West Essex CCG and the trust was able to demonstrate that the required
improvements had been made which showed effective leadership within the unit.

Caring for vulnerable residents
East and North Hertfordshire CCG recognised that
we needed improve our work in safeguarding
vulnerable children and adults, particularly children
in the care of the local authority. As a result, we
have worked closely with our partner agencies
across Hertfordshire, through active membership of
the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board and
the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board, to
safeguard and promote the welfare of all children
and vulnerable adults.

43

Safeguarding children
Our vision for safeguarding is to ensure that children and young people within Hertfordshire thrive
in safe environments at home, in care and healthcare settings and in educational establishments.
This includes keeping them safe from neglect, abuse and exploitation because we know that
healthy, secure children are more likely to grow up to be healthy, happy and productive adults.
The CCG works closely with Herts Valleys CCG and the NHS England Central Midlands SubRegion, supported by designated professionals and our local Authorities (including Public Health
and Local Safeguarding Children’s Board), to ensure there are effective NHS safeguarding
arrangements across our local health community.
At the same time we are clear about the statutory responsibilities that we have for the services
that we commission, together with the clear leadership and oversight role that the NHS England
Central Midlands Sub-Regional Area Team has, as outlined in “Safeguarding Vulnerable People in
the Reformed NHS; Accountability and Assurance Framework”. We undertake annual ‘section 11’
reviews of all of our providers and have worked to provide common standards across all
commissioners.
The CCG is working with the county council and with the NHS England Central Midlands SubRegional Area Team to ensure effective and seamless arrangements for safeguarding children,
children cared for by Hertfordshire County Council and the child death overview process. In
particular this involves working closely with the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children’s Board and
the Central Midlands Safeguarding Forum. We are represented at every level of the board
including at sub-group level. The CCG’s Governing Body safeguarding lead role is held by the
Director of Nursing and Quality who holds safeguarding accountability.
During 2014/15, the CCG commissioned an external review of the services for children in the care
of Hertfordshire County Council, sometimes known as ‘looked-after children’. This has formed the
basis of service redesign and the development of multi-agency monitoring groups and service
specification for the delivery of these services.
Nationally, the number of children in care has increased year on year since 2008. However, data
for Hertfordshire County Council shows that numbers of children in its care have remained stable
since 2012.
Year

Under 1

1-4

5-9

10-15

16 Plus

Total LAC

2012

55

175

180

370

275

1055

2013

60

169

184

359

265

1037

2014

50

159

183

352

297

1041
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The peak age groups in which children are becoming ‘looked after’ in Hertfordshire are 10-15
years and 16 years and over. Each age group brings its own unique health issues and needs which
necessitate careful assessment and planning.

Children’s Community Sickle Cell Specialist Service
The countywide service commenced in autumn 2013 and its main role is to provide a culturally
sensitive service that promotes quality of life and optimal health of all children with sickle cell
disease. The service is provided by a specialist nurse and clinical psychologist with children and
young people referred either by their GP, or local consultants or specialist nurses. The team is
currently supporting 50 children and their families in East and North Hertfordshire. There are
around eight new cases diagnosed at birth through screening every year. The team provides
contact visits in home and clinic settings, making every contact count by providing health
promotion, healthcare plans and transition plans into adult services.
The service user feedback on the team is extremely positive, and the service has maintained
100% attendance by all children/young people for all clinic or community based appointments.

Special Educational Needs and/or Disability (SEND)
All local authorities and CCGs in England have been required to implement the SEND reforms with
effect from 1 September 2014. The CCG has developed a SEND work plan and set out our key
requirements and deliverables to ensure compliance. The CCG’s work plan is monitored by the
Joint Partnership Programme Board and the 0-25 Programme and is interdependent with other
strategic projects accountable to the Children and Young People’s Executive Committee.
There are key deliverables which the CCG has a duty to implement, to initiate change internally
and externally with our commissioned providers. We have action plans in progress which have
been co-produced with our strategic partners to deliver:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

The Local offer
SEND information, advice and support, and independent support
Education, health and care plans
Personal budgets
Transition plans
Preparing for adulthood
Personalisation
Co-production
Implement role of Designated Health Officer.
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All CCG commissioned health services are listed on the Hertfordshire Local Offer website, with
links to their main domains. Further improvements are planned following feedback from service
users and their families.

Safeguarding adults
The safeguarding adult lead has achieved the following outcomes:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Developed a strategy setting out the CCG’s priorities for adult safeguarding in line with the
Care Act 2014
Delivered an adult safeguarding programme for GPs and practice staff across CCG localities
Undertaken assurance visits to provider organisations with the Director of Nursing and
Quality as part of the quality assurance process
Working with partners, developed the role of the Independent Advocate Domestic Abuse
Service at East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
Developed and implemented a mental capacity action (MCA) plan in response to the House
of Lords review of the MCA
Participated in the ‘Co-ordinated Action Against Domestic Abuse (CAADA)’ review of
services in Hertfordshire

The key areas of focus for the Head of Adult Safeguarding lead in 2015/16 will be to:
•
•
•
•

Develop an action plan to implement the key areas of the strategy
Continue to be actively engaged in each of the provider organisations safeguarding adult
committees, providing scrutiny and challenge
Monitor the MCA action plan
Represent the CCG in domestic abuse work as a key member of the domestic homicide sub
group and the commissioning action plan

Supporting adults with learning disabilities
Hertfordshire residents with learning disabilities are offered a personal purple health record folder
from their community learning disability team. The folder is a place to collate information about
their health needs and any reasonable adjustments that should be made for their care. The folder
scheme aims to help vulnerable people to get the best care and treatment from health and social
care professionals.

46

Transforming care: A national response to Winterbourne View
Winterbourne View was a private hospital in Bristol for adults with learning disabilities and autism.
People at Winterbourne View experienced serious and sustained abuse, ill-treatment and neglect.
These events represented an extreme failure of the health and care system.
In Transforming care: A national response to Winterbourne View, the Department of Health sets
out 14 national actions to improve the care and support of very vulnerable people with learning
disabilities or autism.
In Hertfordshire, health and social care professionals have been working together to oversee the
implementation of these actions. All service users have had a personal review and either have a
plan for discharge, or a plan for their ongoing treatment and care in a safe and high quality
environment. NHS contracts are now in place with three independent hospitals to ensure effective
reporting and quality monitoring.

Quality Premium
All CCGs have the potential to earn a ‘quality premium’ (QP) which is a reward for improvements
in the quality for services that they commission and for associated improvements in health
outcomes and reducing inequalities. The quality premium for 2014/15 will be paid to CCGs in
2015/16 to reflect the achievements based on national measures set out in the NHS Outcomes
Framework and also a locally identified measure focusing on a local issue and priority agreed with
NHS England and key stakeholders, especially patients and local community representatives. CCGs
must use any QP payment awarded to them to improve quality of care or health outcomes and/or
reduce health inequalities
In 2013/14 the CCG was awarded 46.9% of the available Quality Premium equating to £1.3m. This
funding was made available to GP practices with the objective of improving primary care services.
The main categories of spending have been:
a) Purchase of additional medical equipment including 24-hour blood pressure monitors,
spirometers, ECG machines and defibrillators.
b) Additional training for nurses and health care assistants.
c) Improvements to premises to meet CQC requirements and improve patient safety, such as
replacing worn flooring and waiting room chairs.
d) Improving IT and communications equipment including replacement telephone systems
and a patient ‘self-check in system’.
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In 2014/15 the total maximum amount payable to CCGs for achievement of the QP is £5 per
registered patient. For East and North Hertfordshire CCG, with a registered population of around
580,000 this would equate to around £2.9m. The national measures, based on the NHS Outcomes
Framework are:
•

Reducing potential years of lives lost through causes considered amenable to healthcare
and addressing locally agreed priorities for reducing premature mortality – worth 15% of
the Quality Premium (domain 1)

•

Improving access to psychological therapies – worth 15% of the Quality Premium (domain
2)

•

Reducing avoidable emergency admissions worth 25% of the Quality Premium (domains 2
and 3)

•

Addressing issues identified in the 2013/14 Friends and Family Test (FFT), supporting roll
out of FFT in 2014/15 and showing improvement in a locally selected patient experience
indicator” – worth 15% of the Quality Premium (domain 4)

•

Improving the reporting of medication-related safety incidents based on a locally selected
measure – worth 15% of the Quality Premium (Domain 5).

The local measure is based on local priorities for East and North Hertfordshire CCG for 2014/15
and was agreed with the Hertfordshire and South Midlands Area Team of NHS England:
•

Advanced Care Planning (ACP): ACP is initiated for 55% of patients identified to be in last
12 months of life. – worth 15% of the Quality Premium
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Quality Premium Performance 2014/15
Domain/Measure

Detail

Performance at year end

Domain 1

Potential years of life lost (PYLL) from
causes considered to healthcare

This is produced annually and information for
2014/15 will not be available until mid-2015/16
There is a requirement to achieve IAPT access
levels of at least 15% by 31 March 2015.

Domain 2

Improving access to psychological
therapies (IAPT)

In Q4 we achieved 3.75%. This was helped in part
by an awareness campaign which included
advertising, poster campaigns across train
stations, leaflets, and increased GP
communications. The 3.75% rate puts the CCG on
a trajectory to achieve the annual 15% target
going forward

Unplanned hospitalisation for chronic
ambulatory care sensitive conditions
Domain 3

Domain 4

Unplanned hospitalisation for asthma,
diabetes and epilepsy in under 19s
Emergency admissions for acute
conditions that should not usually require
hospital admission

Based on performance up to February 2015, this
target is unlikely to be met as there has been a
slight increase in the numbers.

Emergency admissions for children with
lower respiratory tract infection
Roll out of Friends and Family Test in local
health economy

This has been achieved

Patient experience for hospital care

This information will not be available until later
in 2015

Domain 6

Improved reporting of medication related
safety incidents

This target has not been met for 2014/15

Local measure

Advanced Care Planning is initiated for 55
per cent of patients identified to be in the
last 12 months of the end of their life

Information is still being collated but it is likely
that this metric has been met.

Domain 5
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The total payment to CCGs, based on performance against the national measures and local
measures detailed above, is further reduced if the NHS Constitution rights or pledges are not met
for its patients:
•
•
•
•

Maximum 18 week waits from referral to treatment (incompletes);
Maximum 4 hour waits in A&E;
Maximum 2 week wait from urgent GP referral to first outpatient appointment for suspected
cancer;
Maximum 8 minute response for Category A Red 1 ambulance calls.

Failure to meet any of the above rights or pledges results in a 25 per cent reduction to the amount
of Quality Premium earned for each standard not met, with the risk of losing the whole payment if
none are met. CCGs must also manage within their total resource envelope for 2014/15 in order to
qualify for any QP payment. Failure to meet this will result in CCGs not achieving any of their QP
payment. The table below details performance against the NHS Constitution Rights and Pledges.
Only 2 out of the required 4 performance standards have been met for 2014/15 which results in
an automatic reduction of 50 per cent of any potential quality premium payable to the CCG.

Performance against NHS Constitution Rights/Pledges
NHS Constitution
Right / Pledge

Detail

Target

Performance

Maximum 18 week
waits from referral
to treatment

Patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways
(yet to start treatment) should have been waiting
no more than 18 weeks from referral.

92%

Achieved for 2014/15

4 hour waits in A&E

Patients should be admitted, transferred or
discharged within four hours of their arrival at an
A&E department

95%

This was not achieved for
2014/15

Cancer 2 week wait

Maximum two week (14-day) wait from urgent GP
referral to first outpatient appointment for
suspected cancer

93%

This performance
standard has been
achieved for 2014/15

Category A Red 1
response times

Red 1 ambulance calls resulting in an emergency
response arriving within 8 minutes.”

75%

This was not achieved for
2014/15

The Quality Premium payment to the CCG for 2014/15 will not be finalised until late September
2015.
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Performance against other NHS Constitution Rights/Pledges
A&E 4 Hour Operational Standard
There is a national requirement that patients attending an
A&E department need to be discharged, transferred or
admitted within 4 hours at least 95% of the time.
Performance at both ENHT and PAH has been poor with
ENHT only meeting the target in June and July, and PAH
failing to meet the target throughout 2014/15. Although
there has been a significant improvement since Quarter 3,
neither Trust met the required 95% for 2014/15.

Waiting times for cancer treatment
The CCG is a member of the Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire Cancer Forum, which is part of the
East of England Strategic Clinical Network for cancer.
Both Princess Alexandra Hospital and East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust have cancer forums
which are attended by members of the CCG. The focus for 2014/15 has been to address long
waiting times in the treatment of all types of cancers. This is to ensure that the overall
achievement of waiting time performance targets does not mask long waits for the treatment of
particular cancers. A full analysis is undertaken of any breaches at patient level to identify the
main causes with a view to improving pathways.
The table on the following page details performance against the cancer waiting times for ENHCCG
patients for each quarter throughout 2014/15. Performance for the year was good, with all but
one of the metrics being met overall for each of the waiting times. The 62 days to first definitive
treatment was 84.11% against a target of 85%. This has mainly been as a result of pathway issues
for urology patients which are being addressed.
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Cancer Waiting Times

2 week
waits

31 day
waits

62 day
waits

Target

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

2014/15

Maximum two-week wait for first
outpatient appointment for
patients referred urgently with
suspected cancer by a GP

93%

96.48%

95.38%

96.03%

96.26%

96.03%

Maximum two-week wait for first
outpatient appointment for
patients referred urgently with
breast symptoms (where cancer
was not initially suspected)

93%

92.56%

94.00%

95.54%

95.14%

94.18%

Maximum one month (31-day) wait
from diagnosis to first definitive
treatment for all cancers

96%

96.64%

97.06%

97.32%

97.30%

97.32%

Maximum 31-day wait for
subsequent treatment where that
treatment is an anti-cancer drug
regime

98%

93.60%

96.85%

96.48%

95.55%

95.62%

Maximum 31-day wait for
subsequent treatment where that
treatment is surgery

94%

100.00%

99.38%

100.00%

100%

99.86%

Maximum 31-day wait for
subsequent treatment where that
treatment is a course of
radiotherapy

94%

96.04%

96.82%

95.88%

96.8%

96.30%

Maximum two month (62-day) wait
from urgent GP referral to first
definitive treatment for cancer

85%

82.72%

78.55%

82.41%

83.57%

81.66%

Maximum 62-day wait from
referral from an NHS screening
service to first definitive treatment
for all cancers

90%

95.00%

96.36%

93.62%

87.50%

93.41%

Maximum 62-day wait for first
definitive treatment following a
consultant's decision to upgrade
the priority of the patient (all
cancers)

85%

91.94%

93.33%

91.89%

96.67%

92.89%
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Referral to Treatment Times
The NHS constitution gives patients the right to start consultant-led treatment for non-urgent
services within a maximum of 18 weeks from referral. Patients referred for non-emergency
consultant-led treatment are on Referral to Treatment (RTT) pathways. An RTT pathway is the
length of time that a patient waited from their referral to the start of their treatment, or if they
have not yet started treatment, the length of time that a patient has waited so far.
The waiting times standards set the proportion of RTT pathways that must be within 18 weeks.
There are three performance standards for Referral to Treatment 18 week waiting times:
1. 90% for admitted pathways (day case or inpatient);
2. 95% for non-admitted pathways for treatment that does not require an admission;
3. 92% for incomplete pathways – patients still waiting to start treatment.
The table below details the RTT performance for ENHCCG patients for 2014/15 which is largely
attributable to the performance at ENHT. This is because Princess Alexandra Hospital suspended
RTT reporting in July 2015 following the implementation of a new Electronic Patient Record (EPR)
system. The admitted target was not met for the year although there was a national waiting list
initiative, aimed at reducing the numbers of patients waiting over 18 weeks for treatment, which
resulted in a moratorium on the requirement for NHS Trusts to achieve RTT standards between
July and November 2014.
RTT Waiting Times

18 week
waits

Target

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

2014/15

Admitted patients to start
treatment within a maximum of
18 weeks from referral

90%

90.67%

88.62%

90.78%

88.19%

89.61%

Non-admitted patients to start
treatment within a maximum of
18 weeks from referral

95%

96.84%

96.36%

95.46%

93.82%

95.66%

Patients on incomplete nonemergency pathways (yet to start
treatment) should have been
waiting no more than 18 weeks
from referral

92%

94.65%

94.90%

93.30%

92.92%

94.76%
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Stroke Performance
Stroke performance is an area of concern and there has been an increased focus from the CCG on
addressing this underperformance. Stroke performance meetings are held monthly with East and
North Hertfordshire NHS Trust (ENHT) and Princess Alexandra Hospital to ensure that performance
is appropriately scrutinised and challenged.
Initiatives undertaken by ENHT include:
•

•

•

the recruitment of a third stroke consultant to fill what was a vacant post, which has
allowed for consultant reviews of patients five days a week, as well a five day cover for
thrombolysis (a specialist treatment for some types of stroke) by ENHT consultants
the introduction, working with local health and social care partners, of an ‘Early Supported
Discharge’ scheme, which enables patients to be allowed to leave hospital earlier than
normal with specialist support and therapy.
additional specialist stroke nurse cover for the stroke ward.

The CCG has also established a stroke programme board, which includes significant clinical
representation, to monitor and support the development of stroke services across whole
pathways.
Stroke Performance

Target

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

2014/15

4 hours direct to stroke unit (ASI 2)

90%

57.6%

60.40%

49.00%

42.90%

52.8%

90% of time on the stroke unit (ASI 3, IPMR)

80%

71.90%

73.00%

74.80%

77.80%

74.1%

Thrombolysed within 3 hours

12%

8.90%

5.30%

6.70%

3.30%

6.4%

TIA - high risk, not admitted, treated within 24
hours (IPMR)

60%

69.70%

70.10%

63.20%

65.40%

67.2%

TIA - low risk, treated within 7 days from onset

65%

56.50%

49.10%

53.50%

55.50%

53.5%
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Diagnostic Test Waiting Times
There is a requirement for patients to wait no longer than six weeks for a diagnostic test with a
threshold of 99%. The target was failed in Q3 which was mainly due to ENHT failing to achieve the
required performance standard in December which also impacted on January performance. This
was as a result of a one-off issue arising from errors with demand and capacity planning that has
since been rectified.
Diagnostic Test

Maximum six week wait for diagnostic test

Target

99%

Q1

97.62%

Q2

99.38%

Q3

Q4

2014/15

91.21%

Q4 data
not
available
at time of
publication

Final year
data not
available at
time of
publication

Dementia Diagnosis
A national ambition on dementia diagnosis has been set, to ensure that at least two thirds of the
people estimated to have the condition receive a diagnosis and appropriate post-diagnosis
support by March 2015. Although ENHCCG achieved just under 60% against the national
requirement of 66.7%, this figure has significantly improved throughout 2014/15. National support
and advice has been offered to GPs, aimed at helping them to make a more timely diagnosis of
dementia and offering them advice on how to provide vital post-diagnostic support. The CCG will
be monitoring dementia diagnosis rates at GP practice level and expects to be meeting the
required target by July 2015.
To raise awareness amongst CCG staff of the challenges faced by people with dementia and how
to offer them support, the CCG held three staff ‘dementia friends’ training sessions in 2014/15,
which were all very well attended.

Response Times to Category A Ambulance calls
East and North Hertfordshire CCG commissions services from the East of England Ambulance
Service NHS Trust (EEAST). We are the lead commissioner for a consortium of four East of England
CCGs, the other members of which are Bedfordshire, Herts Valleys CCG and Luton. In recent years,
the ambulance trust has had problems meeting national required response times for East and
North Hertfordshire CCG patients and also at an overall provider level. This is reflected in the
2014/15 performance figures:
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National Target

Actual
(ENHCCG Level)

Calls judged to be life-threatening, where the patient could require
defibrillation, resulting in an emergency response arriving within 8
minutes (Red 1 Critical)

75.00%

69.97%

Calls judged to be immediately life-threatening, resulting in an emergency
response arriving within 8 minutes (Red 2 serious)

75.00%

65.29%

Calls resulting in an ambulance arriving at the scene within 19 minutes

95.00%

93.12%

Category A

As a result, in 2014/15 a group of 19 CCGs across the East of England agreed to provide funding to
help to restore services to a safer level and improve the quality of patient care. East and North
Hertfordshire CCG invested £723,000 to support EEAST’s education and development programme
and to purchase medical equipment. The CCG invested a further £42,000 in vehicle replacement.
Additionally, a hospital ambulance liaison officer (HALO) was commissioned by the CCG to be
based at the Lister hospital throughout the winter to support EEAST and East and North
Hertfordshire NHS Trust to improve the handover process for patients arriving at hospital in
ambulances. Both the ‘arrival to handover’ times and the ‘handover to clear times’ were targeted
for improvement, in line with an agreed action plan.
A target of achieving a 20% reduction in handover delays was agreed for quarter four of 2014/15.
Whilst the Trust did not achieve this target in December and January, there was a significant
reduction in delays in February, when the lowest level of handover delays in the whole of 2014/15
was achieved.
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Review of financial performance
East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s Annual Accounts are included within this Annual Report. The
accounts have been prepared under a Direction issued by NHS England under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended).
CCGs have a duty to keep their expenditure within the resources available. There are six separate
duties with this regard, although there is some overlap between them and some are not relevant
to us in 2014/15. The duties, their relevance in 2014/15 and the performance of East and North
Hertfordshire CCG in 2014/15 are set out in the table below. Further details are provided in note
42 of the Accounts on page 176 of this Annual Report.
Duty [and section of 2012 Act]

Relevance in 2014/15

Achievement

Expenditure does not exceed sums allotted to the CCG plus
other income received [223H(1)]

Applicable



Underspend £7,913K

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified
in Directions [223I(2)]

Applicable



Underspend £170k

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified
in Directions [223I(3)]

Applicable



Underspend £7,743K

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed
the amount specified in Directions [223J(1)]

Not applicable; no specified matters in 2014/15

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not
exceed the amount specified in Directions [223J(2)]

Not applicable; no specified matters in 2014/15

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions [223J(3)]

Applicable



Underspend £3,496K

CCG allocations for 2014/15 were published following the NHS England Board meeting held in
December 2013 when a decision was taken regarding allocation policy. The Board agreed a new
funding formula for CCGs, which included an adjustment for health inequalities/unmet need. It
agreed a pace of change policy such that all CCGs received a minimum growth of 2.14% in
2014/15, with additional funding directed at CCGs whose funding was less than their “fair share”
calculated using the formula. Under the formula East and North Hertfordshire CCG was deemed
to receive less funding than its “fair share” and therefore received higher than average growth of
3.38% in 2014/15.
In addition CCGs received an allocation for administrative (sometimes known as running costs)
equivalent to £25 per head of population served by the CCG. For East and North Hertfordshire
CCG the allocation received was £14m.
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Although provided for the purposes of running costs, CCGs were allowed to spend less than the
sum allocated on running costs and increase the amount spent on healthcare. The allocation for
running costs remained at the same level as 2013/14.
Additionally the CCG received a Quality Premium allocation of £1.3m. Whilst this was allocated as
administration funding, the CCG actually spent it by investing in primary care services which is
counted as ‘programme costs’. This increased the underspend recorded on administration (in the
table above).
The 1% underspend of £6.02m which the CCG was required to deliver in 2013/14 was carried
forward into 2014/15 and so funded most of the requirement to achieve a 1% underspend of
£6.275m in 2014/15. The CCG also had to contribute to a national fund for continuing healthcare
claims backdated to a period before the CCG was established. Due to delays nationally in
settlements being reached and paid out, the contribution was reduced halfway through the year
and the CCG was required to carry the resultant underspend of £1.468m into 2015/16. The total
CCG underspend in 2014/15 of £7.743m is therefore made up of the original planned figure of
£6.275m, plus £1.468m.
To support and give weight to the authority of localities within East and North Hertfordshire CCG,
budgets were delegated to localities in 2013/14 and the Governing Body has continued to review
financial performance at locality level. Funding was retained centrally by the CCG to cover running
costs and where healthcare costs could not be attributed to a locality and to create a
transformation reserve. The balance was distributed to localities pro-rata to their 2013/14
allocations, which were based on localities’ list sizes weighted for age and need.
East and North Hertfordshire CCG was successful in meeting all of its financial duties, with each of
the six locality groups making significant contributions to both the financial and more general
performance of the CCG. Whilst each locality underspent against its allocated budget and the CCG
achieved the required 1 per cent underspend in 2014/15, there was an overspend on acute
services which was offset by underspends on other budget lines, particularly on running costs
which were underspent by £2.2m (1.6%). The position by locality is shown in the table below.
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Financial Position by Locality
Locality

Revenue Budget £000

Revenue Spend £000

Variance £000

Variance %

North Herts

120,211

119,238

973

0.8%

Lower Lea Valley

82,532

82,343

189

0.2%

Stevenage

96,067

95,940

127

0.1%

Welhat

113,573

112,206

1,367

1.2%

Upper Lea Valley

117,549

117,452

97

0.1%

Stort Valley and Villages

57,782

56,823

959

1.7%

Central Budgets

47,765

43,734

4,031

8.4%

Total

635,479

627,736

7,743

1.2%

In setting acute services budgets for 2014/15 East and North Hertfordshire CCG predicted
increases based on the trends seen over the previous 12 months and extrapolated forwards into
2014/15. Assuming no actions were taken to impact on these trends, increases were predicted of:
•
•
•
•
•

Outpatient referrals
Elective treatments
Non-elective admissions
A&E attendances
Other services

3.99%;
4.02%
4.33%
3.85%
2.5%

Such increases in activity would have led to an increase in spending on acute services of £11.7m
(3.3%). However, in order to invest to improve outcomes and set a balanced budget, the CCG set a
savings target on acute services of £11.6m. The CCG ended the year with a £6.5m overspend on
acute services and therefore achieved savings of £5.1m.
During the year the CCG received a further allocation of £2.1m to reduce referral to treatment
waiting times at local providers. The CCG also received £5m as winter resilience funding which it
supplemented with a further £2m from its own allocation. The total was used to fund schemes at
local acute, mental health, and community providers, as well as general practice in primary care,
to help sustain services, including the flexibility to commission additional short term health and
social care capacity during the winter period.
Recognising that investment is almost always needed to generate savings, we created a
‘transformation fund’ at the beginning of 2014/15. Set at 2.5 per cent of our allocation, the
transformation fund was used to invest in new services like HomeFirst, acute in-hours visiting and
rapid assessment interface and discharge in mental health scheme (RAID). The transformation
fund will continue into future years.
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The 1% underspend of £6.275m which we are required to deliver in 2014/15 will be carried
forward into 2015/16 and so fund most of the requirement to achieve a 1% underspend in
2015/16. In addition, as set out above, the underspend against the CHC risk pool in 2014/15 of
£1.468m will also be carried forward into 2015/16 with an expectation that this will have a
corresponding impact on the underspend carried forward into 2016/17.

Financial strategy
When planning for future years CCGs have to take account of changes to the national tariff (prices
charged by providers) and growth in activity and spend compared to changes in funding. Changes
to national tariffs are based on guidance issued by NHS England and Monitor, the sector regulator
for health services in England.
Growth in activity and spend is estimated based on a number of factors. Firstly, population
growth, which is based on the Office of National Statistics estimate of the population increase in
the CCG by age-band according to the age of the population using the services we commission.
Secondly, non-demographic growth which is based on previous years’ trends in activity and
extrapolated assuming the trend continues into future years. Thirdly, there are other inflationary
increases in costs, e.g. prescribed drugs. Finally there is recurrent investment in schemes which
may have been previously funded non-recurrently. We also set aside a proportion of our
allocation to be spent non-recurrently as ‘transformation funding’ and intended to be used to
develop and implement plans for change. Finally a contingency is created to meet unexpected
events during the year.
On the funding side, CCG allocations for 2015/16 were published following the NHS England Board
meeting held in December 2014 when a decision was taken regarding the distribution of additional
funding for front line services and transformation funding. The Board agreed that the extra CCG
front line funding should be used to move parts of the country, furthest below their ‘fair share’ of
NHS funding, towards fair shares at a faster pace than was possible under the 2015/16 allocations
announced in December 2013. The allocations to CCGs are based on a funding floor of 1.94%, this
being the combination of real terms growth and all CCGs receiving their fair share of the £350m
resilience funding for CCGs allocated non-recurrently in 2014/15. The additional resources have
been used to provide more resources for pace of change. This has resulted in East and North
Hertfordshire CCG receiving a total increase of 5.8%, compared with a national average of 3.4%
and the minimum of 1.94% described above. The increase is £35.179m, including resilience
funding of £3.3m. Excluding resilience funding, the increase is 5.1% over funding received in
2014/15. Since resilience funding is now included in the baseline, no additional resilience funding
will be made available in 2015/16.

60

Whilst allocations for later years are still to be published, the CCG can expect to continue receiving
higher than average levels of growth in funding. Using the anticipated growth in aggregate CCG
funding and the current pace of change policy, East and North Hertfordshire CCG could expect to
receive growth in its funding of 2.6 per cent in each of the years 2016/17 to 2018/19. The
allocation for running costs was kept at the same level in 2014/15, but adjusted for population
changes. However, in 2015/16 the allocation for running costs will be reduced by 10 per cent.
Projected spend, taking into account growth in demand, price changes and investments required
to deliver the CCG’s ambitions, exceeds the funding available to the CCG by £12m (1.8%) in
2015/16. Similar funding shortfalls are expected over the current planning timeframe up to
2018/19. Doing more or the same will therefore lead to a significant financial gap.
Driving East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s financial strategy is our over-arching aims to improve
the health of the population, to reduce health need, and to find different ways of commissioning
high quality services at lower cost. This will include investing in primary and community care
services, and together with colleagues in Hertfordshire County Council, into social care services,
bearing down on the demand for and expenditure on acute hospital care.
A new fund called the “Better Care Fund” will start next year. This pools local authority and CCG
funding to spend jointly on community services and social care services. The Better Care Fund
allocation which was given to local Area Teams (and then to local authorities) in 2014/15 has
transferred to CCGs in 2015/16. The amount for this CCG is £9.063m. This will form part of the
Better Care Fund in 2015/16. Additionally the CCG agreed at its Governing Body meeting in
November 2014 to increase the fund by £5m to protect the level of social care services for older
people in East and North Hertfordshire.
One of the requirements in the 2015/16 planning guidance, related to mental health parity, is that
CCGs are to ensure that mental health spend rises in real terms and grows at least in line with
each CCG’s overall allocation growth. The increase in the CCG’s allocation after taking account of
the resilience funding is 5.1% (as described above). The CCG was already planning to increase
investment in mental health services, but this new requirement increases that investment by
almost another £1m.
Investment will continue to be made into services focussing on long term conditions and our
ageing population and we will work with all our partner organisations and patients to reduce
avoidable hospital admissions and improve the safety and patient experience wherever care is
delivered. The aim is to achieve real terms shifts in the profile of expenditure, significantly
reducing the proportion of our funding spent on acute services as highlighted below.
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2014/15
12%

3% 2%

Acute
Mental Health

4%

Community
8%
59%
12%

Continuing care
Prescribing
Other Primary Care
Running costs

2018/19
12%

4% 2%

Acute
Mental Health

4%

Community
54%

12%

Continuing care
Prescribing
Other Primary Care

13%

Running costs
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Looking forward – the changing health
landscape
Health services in and around the East and North Hertfordshire CCG
area are changing. For example, there is an increasing move towards
caring for patients in their own homes, or in nursing or community
homes, where in the past they would have been looked after in
hospitals. Hospital services, such as the QEII hospital’s Accident and
Emergency department and mental health inpatient services have been
reconfigured in order to offer round the clock specialist services in
centralised locations, where this leads to better outcomes for
patients.
The CCG is working in partnership delivering community healthcare
and in our hospital trusts to ensure that the resulting changes to
patient flow are carefully monitored and managed and that choice and
quality are maintained. A short summary of some of the key changes
underway in our area follows below:

The New QEII Hospital
Work on the £30m New QEII Hospital in Welwyn Garden City is
progressing well and the building is on track for completion in late
spring. It is a modern and welcoming place for local people to access
the hospital services they use most often, including:
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

a 24h Urgent Care Centre, treating adults and children with minor
illnesses and injuries
general outpatient services
diagnostics (MRI, CT scans and X-rays)
rapid assessment for patients whose health needs to be urgently
assessed, but who don’t need to be admitted to hospital
a purpose-built area for outpatient children’s services, providing
integrated assessment, diagnosis, treatment and support for
children
therapy services, including physiotherapy and other rehabilitation
treatments
endoscopy and other procedures
a breast unit
ante-natal care
routine blood treatments.
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We are working with the local branch of the Royal Voluntary Service to co-ordinate a new
volunteer group, to welcome and assist patients and carers when they visit the New QEII.

Care home improvement plans
Around 3,000 east and north Hertfordshire residents live in care homes. These are some of our
most vulnerable patients, who in addition to being older and frail are often living with a number of
long-term health conditions. In order to improve the health care offered to this vulnerable group,
East and North Hertfordshire CCG, Hertfordshire County Council and the Hertfordshire Care
Providers Association, put forward an ambitious improvement plan which has been backed by NHS
England as a ‘vanguard’ project. This means that we will be able to draw on expert help and a
£200m national fund to push forward with our intentions to:
•
•

•

•

enhance the skills of care home staff through a package of education and training, so that
patients with complex care needs can be looked after with confidence
create teams of GPs, district and practice nurses, community psychiatric nurses,
geriatricians and pharmacists, who will liaise closely with care home staff to support
residents and work together when the health of a resident worsens
bring together ‘rapid response’ teams of community nurses, matrons, therapists and
home-carers who can be deployed to care homes within 90 minutes, as an alternative to
sending elderly patients to A&E, when that is in their best interests
invest in technology to allow all GPs to have access to comprehensive information about
each care home resident when they visit them. For the first time, this will include GP
records, mental health care notes, hospital records, community health support notes and
their social care history.

Primary Care Strategy
Led by GPs, we are in the final phases of developing our primary care strategy to ensure the
provision of high quality and sustainable local primary care and community services. This strategy
sets out our vision to deliver integrated physical and mental health and social care in the
community, which meet patients’ needs in the most appropriate setting. Our six localities are
developing their own individual transformational plans that best meet the needs of their local
population, making best use of the local existing health and social care infrastructure.

Joint commissioning of primary care services
East and North Hertfordshire CCG has recently been approved as a ‘joint commissioner’ of GP
services in our area with NHS England, which means that in future local clinicians will have much
more involvement in deciding how GP services should be delivered. This is a significant step for the
CCG and we have made a number of changes to our constitution in preparation for the joint
commissioning arrangement. A new joint committee has been established with the regional NHS
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team, including representation from Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board, to oversee
commissioning arrangements. To ensure that the governance of the new commissioning model is
robust, we have updated our conflicts of interest policy and training programmes, in readiness for
the new arrangements.

New facilities for Hertfordshire’s mental health inpatients
Kingfisher Court, near Radlett in west Hertfordshire, is a £42m state-of-the-art inpatient 86-bed
unit that opened in June 2014. Kingfisher Court was designed to provide a healing and therapeutic
environment to support people as they recover from mental illness, and replaces the in-patient
provision which was in place at the QEII hospital in Welwyn Garden City. Each service user staying
at the unit has their own room with en-suite facilities. Each ward has two private and secure
courtyards, where service users can get access to fresh air and gardens whenever they need to.
The unit is part of a wider £100m five year programme which is designed to improve the efficiency
and quality of HPFT’s services across Hertfordshire, as well as those in North Essex and Norfolk.

A new way of caring for stroke patients
The Stroke Early Supported Discharge project, which enables patients who have suffered a mild to
moderate stroke to leave hospital earlier supported by an expert team, launched in Hertfordshire
in October last year. Patients are now supported at home by a multi-disciplinary team of health
and social care experts, who provide an intensive rehabilitation package for up to six weeks.

Planning for the future of health services in neighbouring west Essex
The health and social care system in west Essex is under extreme pressure. The Princess Alexandra
Hospital, which is used by a significant proportion of East and North Hertfordshire CCG patients,
faces rising costs beyond its income, in part because of the escalating number of people needing
emergency services – with some 110,000 patients a year being seen in the accident and
emergency department. In response to these challenges, West Essex CCG is proposing the
development of an integrated health and social care model and is working with GPs, social
workers, hospital and community staff, to determine the best way to develop the programme.
East and North Hertfordshire CCG is working with West Essex CCG and closely following the
development of the west Essex plans, to ensure that the needs of our patients are considered
throughout this process.
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Supporting resilient communities
Hertfordshire’s mental health ‘Crisis Care Concordat’
The Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat is a national agreement signed in February 2014 between
22 bodies involved in the care and support of people in crisis. It sets out how organisations will
work together better to make sure that people get the help they need when they are having a
mental health crisis. The national concordat focuses on four main areas:
•
•
•
•

Access to support before crisis point – making sure people with mental health problems can
get help 24 hours a day and that when they ask for help, they are taken seriously
Urgent and emergency access to crisis care – making sure that a mental health crisis is treated
with the same urgency as a physical health emergency
Quality of treatment and care when in crisis – making sure that people are treated with dignity
and respect, in a therapeutic environment
Recovery and staying well – preventing future crises by making sure people are referred to
appropriate services.

Each region has committed to the national agreement by signing a local declaration and
developing a county-wide action plan. East and North Hertfordshire CCG is a signatory to
Hertfordshire’s declaration, which has also been signed by more than twenty other relevant
organisations in our area. By developing the action plan and signing the declaration with our
partners, we have committed to supporting the principle of ‘parity of esteem’ between physical
and mental health care. This means that we believe that someone’s physical and mental health
care are equally as important and should be treated equally. The signatories to Hertfordshire’s
mental health concordat have agreed to safely support, assess and manage anyone who asks any
of our services in Hertfordshire for help in a mental health crisis.

Dementia strategy
Hertfordshire County Council, East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group and
Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group are developing a joint dementia strategy. The strategy
is being developed with the support of our statutory, voluntary, and independent sector partners
and is due to be signed by the Health and Wellbeing Board and other key organisations later in
2015. The strategy will focus on 6 key areas, each supported by an action plan that will be
finalised following our engagement with our stakeholders. These areas are:
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•
•
•
•
•
•

promoting health and wellbeing
developing dementia friendly communities
enabling equal access to diagnosis and support
supporting carers of people with dementia
preventing and responding to crisis
evidence-based commissioning.

It is important that the services commissioned by the CCG to meet the challenge of
dementia are based on strong local evidence of need, involve people with dementia and
their carers in their design and production and use best practice models of care and clinical
effectiveness.
We will aim to diagnose 75% of our prevalent population by 2017 and will ensure that all
people with dementia will receive an equal service, in relation to their referral for diagnosis
and being informed of their diagnosis.

Supporting carers
There are around 56,000 family and friend carers in East and North Hertfordshire – around
10% of the women, men and children who make up our population. This ‘hidden army’
provides the equivalent of £1bn of care a year, but they don’t always get the support that
they need. The new CCG carers strategy, launched in November 2014, has set out our
commitment to ensuring that the needs of carers are taken into account by all the health
organisations - from hospitals to GP practices - that are used by our patients. We will work
with the organisations that we buy care from to ensure that they have effective carers
policies which actively identify carers of all ages and work with those carers to prioritise
their health and plan the care of their loved ones.
Together with local carers charities Crossroads Care and Carers in Hertfordshire, we have
developed the carers’ champions support scheme in GP practices across our area and most
practices now have an active carer champion.

Children’s mental health services review
The CCG is working with partners across health, education and social care to review mental health
services for children and teenagers. The review is intended to improve young people’s access to
services and improve their treatment outcomes, whilst streamlining the processes involved,
In 2014/15, the CCG invested £325,000 into the ‘PALMS’ service, which supports positive
behaviour for children and young people up to the age of 19 who have a global learning
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disability and/or an autistic spectrum disorder. PALMS clinicians work in multi-disciplinary teams,
providing a consistent service to children and their families in community settings in Hertfordshire,
helping families to stay together.

Tackling domestic abuse
Domestic abuse has significant health and wellbeing consequences and tackling domestic abuse is
a statutory requirement of our membership of Community Safety Partnerships. This type of abuse
features in 80% of child protection cases, with pregnancy a frequent trigger for domestic abuse
within relationships. Domestic violence has also been identified as a prime cause of miscarriage
and still-birth.
We increased our efforts to tackle this abuse in 2014/15, providing funding for a full time
Independent Domestic Violence Adviser (IDVA) to be based in the Accident and Emergency
department of the Lister Hospital. The IDVA has helped to identify victims of domestic violence
and create pathways for patients to other sources of help within the hospital, such as maternity
services. The adviser also works with children’s universal services, to reduce the harm caused to
the children of abuse victims.

Supporting vulnerable families with young children through Home-Start
Home-Start is a national family support charity which works with volunteers to provide a home
visiting service to vulnerable families with a child aged under five years old. The work of these
volunteers helps to prevent families from struggling to the extent that statutory services have to
step in. There are four separate Home-Start schemes operating in East and North Herts CCG.
We have jointly commissioned Home Start with Hertfordshire County Council, the lead
commissioner, since 2008. The current contract was originally due to end March 2013 but we
extended it until 2015 to coincide with the outcome of the evaluation of Children Centres in
Hertfordshire, in order to develop a coordinated commissioning strategy for services for children
under five across the county. The responsibility for commissioning Home-Start has now moved to
Hertfordshire County Council, to complement their responsibility for commissioning Health
Visiting services.
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Sustainability
East and North Hertfordshire CCG employ a small number of staff and operate out of fully serviced
accommodation leased from NHS Property Services. The CCG’s impact on sustainability through
occupation of its Head Office and indeed through staff travel is dwarfed by the impact it has
through the commissioning of services.
“Sustainability” can be defined as meeting the needs of today without compromising the needs of
tomorrow. “Commissioning for Sustainable Development” is the process by which commissioners
improve both the sustainability of an organisation, and the way it provides services and interacts
with people in the community. It is about striking the right balance between the three key areas
of financial, social and environmental sustainability when making commissioning decisions.
Sustainability is a commissioning issue:
•

Managing system risk – sustainability is essentially about excellence in business
management. East and North Hertfordshire CCG can and must take a whole systems
approach to both delivery (ensuring integration of provider services) and managing future
risks (for example, resource uncertainty or climate change)

•

Managing demand – activity based commissioning will not incentivise managing demand
for health services. East and North Hertfordshire CCG must start thinking about
incentivising and enabling a ‘health and well-being service’, focussed on an upstream
preventative approach, as opposed to an ‘ill-health service’ based on activity

•

Contractual levers – East and North Hertfordshire CCG holds the money, and therefore
has the influence and leadership role to ensure that providers adopt sustainable business
practices.

East and North Hertfordshire CCG will adopt new approaches that encourage the seamless
integration of services, managing demand by providing appropriate services in the community
rather than incentivising secondary care activity. We will use evidence to underpin decision
making, and take into account the wider impact of health care delivery; balancing the operational
needs of the present with the strategic needs of the future. To be effective, East and North
Hertfordshire CCG will continue to build strong collaborative links with secondary care clinicians
and our local authority partners.
To ensure the health and social care systems deliver our vision for integrated care, the CCG has led
on the establishment of an Integrated Care Programme Board (ICPB). The board has
representatives from all major health providers, social care and Healthwatch. Tom Cahill, the Chief
Executive of HPFT, is acting as ‘systems lead’ and chairing the board. The ICPB has been tasked
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with ensuring that all providers collaborate to deliver enhanced integrated care across the patch.
For example, the board has been asked to deliver the roll out of HomeFirst and will be a key
delivery mechanism for the implementation of the ‘vanguard’ project.
We will use a whole systems approach to sustainable commissioning to be more effective by:
•

Using it to make decisions as a whole system, so the total picture is considered when
making investment and disinvestment decisions and to ensure all of our operations boost
the wider determinants of health

•

Helping to balance present/future costs and benefits by managing tensions and trade-offs
to balance patients’/communities’ needs now and in the future, and increasing the
resilience of investment decisions by considering future trends and uncertainties

•

Helping prioritise health systems over ‘territories’ - to overcome the scepticism and
territorial attitudes that might get in the way of working as a health economy and creating
a platform for collaboration across boundaries.

Our strategy is consistent with a sustainable future and East and North Hertfordshire CCG has
made a start on many of the above. There has been particular focus on:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Increasing planned preventative services
Providing more services closer to where people live
Promoting integration of services to reduce duplication
Reducing avoidable admissions and readmissions to hospital
Agreeing and following care pathways, aimed at getting the right people into the right
service first time
Reducing follow-up attendances
Increasing “hear and treat” and “see and treat” services, so reducing ambulance journeys
and conveyances
Increasing other non-face-to-face contacts, so reducing the need for patients or staff to
travel
Reducing medicines wastage

East and North Hertfordshire CCG plans to continue and to increase its focus on sustainable
commissioning and will set a current benchmark and future targets against which the CCG can be
judged.
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Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response
As an organisation we recognise the importance of being fully prepared to respond effectively in
case of an incident which challenges the capacity of the local health system. During 2014-15 we
have focused on:
•

updating our plans to ensure that we are able to fulfil our duties as a category two
responder and system leader and preparing our staff for the roles that they may be
required to undertake in the event of a prolonged incident

•

During 2015-16 we plan to focus on testing and exercising our plans and continuing to
develop our resilience as an organisation.

Review of statutory duties
East and North Hertfordshire CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred
on us by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and
regulations. We are clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory
functions for which we are responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.

Equality report – our policies and staff
East and North Hertfordshire CCG is committed to being an organisation within which diversity,
equality and human rights are valued. We will not discriminate either directly or indirectly and will
not tolerate harassment or victimisation in relation to age, disability, gender reassignment,
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, (including nationality and
ethnicity), religion or belief, gender or sexual orientation, trade union membership, status as a
fixed‐term or part‐time worker or socio‐economic status.
All applications are given fair and equal consideration for all vacancies, and adjustments are made
for any disability or need at interview and on successful appointment.
The CCG has an Equality and Diversity in Employment Policy which is available for all staff on the
intranet. Line managers, individuals, HR and Occupational Health are all included in discussions to
support and give advice and guidance to any staff member who may become disabled during their
employment with the CCG. We comply with the public sector equality duty, as set out in the
Equality Act 2010 and continue to work and build upon the revised Equality Delivery System 2
action plan, which is available for staff on the intranet but is also available to the public via our
internet page. This toolkit not only improves upon ways people from different groups are treated
as patients, but just as importantly how different groups of employees are treated. Organisational
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plans and processes continue to be maintained to support the Equality and Diversity agenda and
to ensure evaluation systems are designed to provide assurance on effectiveness for all staff.
We are committed to supporting current staff and any prospective employees, and continue to
sustain the Two Ticks accreditation, which acknowledges good practice within the CCG. We have
clear policies and procedures in place which support transparency and equality of opportunities
for people with disabilities.

Our staff
As at 31 March 2015, East and North Hertfordshire CCG employed a total of 285 staff, including
two lay members, 15 GP Board Members and six staff jointly employed with partner organisations.
We have an active secondment and talent development policy, which has enabled our staff to
broaden their knowledge base, further their development and help to prepare our organisation
for the future.
The CCG workforce is made up of 181 female staff members (63.51% female of which 38.7% are
part time and 61.3% full time) and the remaining 104 staff are male (36.49% male, of which only
18.3% are part time and 81.7% full time).
Staff are employed across the Agenda for Change bandings, with the majority in either Band 5 or
6. The higher end of the bandings, i.e. 8a and above, and those not covered by the Agenda for
Change, constitutes 36% of the staff employed. 62% of these higher banded staff are female and
38% are male.
East and North Hertfordshire CCG staff range in age from 18 to 60+ years old, with 59% of staff
aged between 40 to 59 years old. Younger staff, aged between 17 and 29 years old, currently
make up only 10% of the organisation. This is an area that the CCG acknowledged in the previous
year needed improvement, and is still aware there is a gap of young employees starting with the
CCG. This will continue to be addressed through succession planning and improving the diversity
of the workforce.
Note 4 of the accounts provides details of expenditure for the year and the average number of
people employed. The average number of staff employed is lower than that employed at 31 March
2015 because the CCG brought back in-house a number of functions previously undertaken by
Central Eastern CSU. Staff employed by the CSU in providing these services transferred to the CCG
on 1 October 2014.
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The declaration of religious belief data held by the CCG shows us that 38% of staff declare their
belief as Christian and 15% as Hindu, Sikh or followers of another religion. This is an increase of
10% from the previous year and is an indication of moving to a more diverse workforce. 19%
declared that they were atheist or didn’t specify any religion 28% decided not to disclose their
religious beliefs.
The highest populated ethnic origin group in the CCG is White British at 76%. The least
represented remains Chinese at 1%.
33% of our staff have not disclosed their sexual orientation. 66% of our workforce have declared
they are heterosexual and less than 1% self-identify as bisexual or gay.
91% of our staff have declared they have no disability, 3% have declared a disability, which is a
small increase from the previous year and 6% have not made any declaration.

Governing Body Membership
The Governing Body is made up of 24 members: 13 members are male and 11 are female
Equality and Diversity – graphical data representation
ENH CCG Disabliity (%) Headcount
No

ENH CCG

Not Declared

Yes

Non-AfC
Band 8A and above
Band 7 and below
80%

85%

90%

95%

100%
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Employee Category / Gender %
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ENH CCG Ethnicity (%) Headcount
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Recruitment
The following graphs show the make-up of applicants for our vacancies.
NHS Jobs remains the first point of information for candidates and the data shows a good
response to all positions that went out to advert, with a high calibre of applicants.
The number of male applicants has increased. This may in part be due to the TUPE transfer of the
Hertfordshire, Bedfordshire and Luton ICT ‘shared service’ to the CCG in October 2014, which is a
relatively male-orientated service.
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A small number of applicants with disabilities applied for CCG positions, resulting in a low number
of successful applicants being employed within the CCG. This may be due to non-disclosure of
disability by applicants. Applications were received from candidates with various impairments and
those shortlisted and successful had long-term conditions. There continues to be a noticeable
absence of applications from candidates who disclose a mental health condition.
The highest number of applications continues to be from White British, with an increase of 18% on
the previous year. There has been a more noticeable increase in applications from ‘Black’ or ‘Black
British – African’ of 43%, but the largest increase has been applications from ‘Asian’ or ‘Asian
British – Indian’ over the same period last year which rose to over 150%.
It is also noted that as the number of applications from different ethnic groups has risen, the
number of successful candidates for ‘Black’ or ‘Black British – African’ has also increased by over
300%, whilst the successful candidates being appointed within the ‘Asian’ or ‘Asian British –
Indian’ ethnic group is 100% more than the same period last year.
The National Census from 2011 shows Hertfordshire’s population at that time to be 80.82% ‘White
British’; ‘Black’ or ‘Black British – African’ as 1.77% and ‘Asian or Asian British – Indian’ to be only
2.58% of the Hertfordshire population at that time.
It is also noted that the Office for National Statistics (Office for National Statistics, Experimental
Mid-Year Population Estimates by Ethnic Group (release 8) reported the total estimated
population of Hertfordshire in minority ethnic groups was increasing year on year, from 11.4% in
2001 to 18.4% in 2009.
This increase in more diverse applications demonstrates the continued increase of ethnic groups
within Hertfordshire, but is also indicative of the CCG being an employer of choice. Many
candidates do reside in the Hertfordshire area, but just as many candidates are not residents of
the county, and travel some distance to be employees of the organisation.
Applications were received from candidates between the ages of 18 to 69 years of age, with the
majority of recruited staff falling within the 30-34 and 40-44 age groups. There is a noticeable
under-representation of younger employees, as already highlighted in the staff profile summary.
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By gender
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By ethnicity
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0
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Staff absence figures
The total number of working days lost to sickness absence was 1,390 full time equivalent days
(FTE) – a rate of 5.15%.
Absence days (FTE)

Total working days

Absence %

1,390

27,000

5.15%

The average absence rate for East and North Hertfordshire CCG based on working days lost to
sickness in the period January 2014 to December 2014 was therefore above the 2% absence
benchmark set by the CCG on its inception. However, it has dropped from a peak of 5.6% in June,
and although there was a slight upturn in sickness absence in October due to flu related illnesses,
the rate dropped below the benchmark in November and December.

6%

4%

Absence % (FTE)
2%

Absence Target

0%

CCGs form the part of the NHS with the lowest sickness absence rate. Although the 12 month rate
for East and North Hertfordshire CCG is high in comparison to other CCGs, with the average for
CCGs being 1.57%, it is only slightly higher than the average rate for the NHS overall (2.64%).
Our absence data must be looked at in context from the previous year. During 2014 the CCG
transferred over many teams and staff from the Central Eastern Commissioning Support Unit, and
now employs staff in frontline services including Information and Communications Technology and
Continuing Health Care, which many other CCGs do not. These areas tend to have a higher rate of
sickness (particularly stress-related sickness). Across the CCG we have also had a relatively high
number of staff with long term sickness.
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A new occupational health provider was commissioned from 1 May 2014 which has given a more
personal and interactive service for staff. A new monthly drop-in session has been initiated for
staff where initial advice can be given prior to a formal referral.
We continue to promote the Employee Assistance Programme to staff and use it to support
occupational health guidance and recommendations. This has been utilised by our staff and is an
added support system for them.

Employee Consultation and Communications
In October 2014 following a period of staff consultation and the closure of the Central Eastern
Commissioning Support Unit (CECSU), the following functions were taken in-house:
•
•
•
•

Financial Services
Pharmacy and Medicines Optimisation Team
Continuing Health Care and Retrospective Team
Hertfordshire, Bedfordshire and Luton (HBL) ICT Shared Service.

This has resulted in an increase of staff numbers and reorganisation of teams within the CCG.
The HBL ICT shared service is hosted by East and North Hertfordshire CCG on behalf of other
partners, including other CCGs, Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust and Hertfordshire Partnership
University NHS Foundation Trust. To ensure its structures meet the needs of its clients, a further
consultation will be undertaken during 2015/16 for staff within this directorate.
We have internal communications channels for CCG staff. These include our intranet site which
features information relating to latest national and local news, HR policies, templates, guidance on
learning and development and many other topics of interest for staff.
A monthly staff magazine is issued electronically to all staff and available around the offices in
hard copy. This magazine includes key strategic news from the CCG as well as an opportunity for
staff to write articles about their key projects and what they are interested in outside of work. As
and when needed, the ‘HR Extra’ bulletin is issued. This complements the monthly newsletter but
includes current human resources news and a general round up of human resources issues for
staff, and upcoming news.
The Joint Partnership Forum continues to be well attended with representatives from different
unions attending regularly. This enables management and staff representatives to meet to discuss
any concerns and new developments within the organisation. All information is then made
available for all staff to ensure they are fully aware of what is happening within the organisation
and for them to have a voice.
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Regular one-to-one meetings are held with individual staff and their line managers, together with
team meetings for open discussions regarding work and objectives.
To encourage staff involvement in the CCG’s performance and outcomes, regular ‘pulse’ staff
surveys are undertaken, and the National NHS Survey was also undertaken in 2014. Results from
this survey have now been released and an action plan will be put in place and all comments taken
into account, acted upon and communicated to all staff in the coming months.
A weekly staff ‘learning hour’ has been introduced, which allows staff the protected time to
complete their mandatory training, complete external training, read journals and to network with
other teams. As part of the learning hour programme a series of briefing sessions have been held
with external speakers invited to share their knowledge and introduce new ideas and initiatives,
such as becoming a Dementia Friend, learning about ‘co-production’ of services’ and plans for the
New QEII Hospital.
A staff wellbeing group was formed and has encouraged staff to take part in a number of different
activities including badminton, volleyball and dodgeball competitions in conjunction with the Herts
Sports Partnership. A walking group meets weekly, as does the healthy weight group. Further
initiatives are planned for 2015. Regular lunches with the chief executive are held, enabling staff
to quiz the senior team in a relaxed setting and allowing time for staff to network with colleagues
from other teams and share ideas.
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Members’ report
East and North Hertfordshire CCG is a GP-led organisation. GPs are in close contact with patients
on a daily basis. They understand what their patients need because they hear about it first hand as
they treat and care for them. They are therefore best placed to make decisions about local
healthcare to meet the needs of our diverse population. Every GP practice is a member of the CCG
and is represented on our locality committees, which are committees of the Governing Body. This
report has been prepared on behalf of the locality committees.

Our member practices
Lower Lea Valley Locality

North Hertfordshire locality

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Abbey Road
Cromwell and Wormley Medical Centres
Cuffley and Goffs Oak Medical Centre
High Street Surgery
The Maples
Stanhope Surgery
Stockwell Lodge Medical Centre
Warden Lodge Medical Practice

Stevenage Locality
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Bedwell Medical Centre
Canterbury Way Surgery
Chells Way Surgery
King George Surgery
Manor House Surgery
Shephall Way Surgery
Stanmore Road Health Centre
St. Nicholas Health Centre
Symonds Green Health Centre

Ashwell Surgery
Astonia House Surgery
Birchwood Surgery
Courtenay House Surgery
The Garden City Surgery
Knebworth and Marymead Surgery
Nevells Road Surgery
Orford Lodge Surgery
The Portmill Surgery
Regal Chambers Surgery
The Sollershott Surgery
Whitwell Surgery

Stort Valley and Villages Locality
•
•
•
•
•
•

Central Surgery
Church Street Partnership
Much Hadham Health Centre
Parsonage Surgery
Sawbridgeworth Medical Services
South Street Surgery
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Upper Lea Valley Locality
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Amwell Street Surgery
Buntingford Medical Centre
Castlegate Surgery
Church Street Surgery
Dolphin House Surgery
Hailey View Surgery
Haileybury College
Hanscombe House Surgery
The Limes Surgery
The Maltings Surgery
Orchard Surgery
Park Lane Surgery
Puckeridge Surgery
Wallace House Surgery
Ware Road Surgery
Watton Place Surgery

Welwyn and Hatfield locality
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Bridge Cottage Surgery
Burvill House Surgery
The Garden City Surgery
Hall Grove Surgery
Lister House Surgery
Peartree Lane Surgery
Potterells Medical Centre
Spring House Medical Centre
Wrafton House Surgery
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Governance
The Chair of the CCG had been Dr Tony Kostick until July 2014. In September 2014, Dr Hari
Pathmanathan took over the role. Dr Nicky Williams was Acting Chair from April 2014 until August
2014. The Chief Executive has been Lesley Watts throughout the year, up to signing the Annual
Report and Accounts.
The Governing Body from April 2014 to the time of writing this report has been composed of the
following members:
Chair
Chair
Deputy Clinical Chair
Chief Executive Officer
Interim Director of Commissioning
Interim Director of Operations
Director of Operations
Director of Strategic Partnerships
Chief Finance Officer
Director of Nursing and Quality
Director of Commissioning
Lay Member
Lay Member
Lay Member (Deputy Chair)
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
GP Member
Secondary Care Specialist Doctor
Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

Dr Tony Kostick (until July 2014)
Dr Hari Pathmanathan (from Sept 2014)
Dr Nicky Williams (Acting Chair April – Aug 2014)
Lesley Watts
Denise Boardman (from October 2014)
Harper Brown (October to December 2014)
Sharn Elton (from January 2015)
Beverley Flowers
Alan Pond
Sheilagh Reavey
John Webster (April to September 2014)
Jon Chapman (until May 2014)
Dianne Desmulie (from November 2014)
Linda Farrant
Dr Mark Andrews
Dr Ed Bosonnet
Dr Robin Christie
Dr John Constable (Until June 2014)
Dr Rob Graham
Dr Russell Hall
Dr Alison Jackson
Dr Deborah Kearns
Dr Stephen Kite
Dr Prag Moodley
Dr Hari Pathmanathan
Dr Ashish Shah (from November 2014)
Dr Peter Shilliday (from June 2014)
Dr Fiona Sinclair
Dr Nabeil Shukur
Dr Dermot O'Riordan (from January 2015)
Dr Mike Walker (until May 2014)
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Members of the Governance and Audit Committee throughout the year and up to the signing of
the Annual Report and Accounts and unless otherwise stated:






Jon Chapman – Lay member (assurance) until May 2014
Dianne Desmulie – Lay member (patient and public engagement) from March 2015
Linda Farrant – Lay member (governance and audit), Deputy Chair and Chair of the
Governance and Audit Committee.
Dr Nabeil Shukur - GP Member – May to August 2014
Dr Nicky Williams – Governing Body Deputy Clinical Chair – September 2014 to Mar 2015

The Annual Governance Statement, from page 103, provides details of the attendance of the
Governing Body and its Committee members at their respective meetings, namely:









Governing Body in Public
Governing Body in Private
Governing Body Business Meetings
Governance and Audit Committee
Quality Committee
Remuneration Committee
ICT Stakeholder Board
Locality Committees x 6

Details of any Declarations of Interests are shown on pages 99 of this report.

External Audit
East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s external auditor for 2014/15 was PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
(PwC) whose fee for the statutory audit and services carried out in relation to the statutory audit
was £95,000 plus VAT. PwC provided no other services in the year to the CCG.
Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms that:
• So far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the
clinical commissioning group’s external auditor is unaware,
• The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member in order to
make them self-aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the clinical
commissioning group’s auditor is aware of that information.

84

Cost allocation and Setting of Charges
We certify that the clinical commissioning group has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on
cost allocation and the setting of charges for information.

Principles for Remedy
East and North Hertfordshire CCG follows the six principles set down by the Parliamentary and
Health Service Ombudsman in ‘Principles for Remedy’. The aim of these principles is to ensure that
instances of injustice or hardship as a result of poor service or maladministration are redressed.
The principles are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Getting it right
Being customer focused
Being open and accountable
Acting fairly and proportionately
Putting things right
Seeking continuous improvement.

How have we met these principles?
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Our complaints policy reflects the NHS complaints procedures
Our Chief Executive scrutinises all complaints and where needed leads a whole system
collaborative approach to complaint resolution and action planning
The CCG’s Quality Team makes every effort to speak with all complainants at the beginning
of the process to understand how they would like their concerns addressed
The CCG aims to respond to many queries and concerns quickly and informally without the
need for a formal complaint
The CCG places a strong emphasis on continuous improvement and learning from
complaints
The CCG has an effective complaints procedure, which includes offering a fair and
appropriate remedy when a complaint is upheld
Regular reporting to the Governing Body of complaints received and actions taken as part
of the CCG’s quality monitoring

In addition to following the Principles of Remedy the CCG has also taken into account and works to
the recommendations relating to complaints outlined in publications including the Francis Report,
Berwick Report and the ‘Guide to good handling of complaints for CCGs’, published by NHS
England in May 2013.
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The CCG also works closely with our provider organisations and receives regular summaries of
complaints received by each Trust. The Quality Team visits providers complaint departments to
understand the key themes and trends and monitor complaints handling. Actions identified as a
result of a complaint are also followed up through a regular programme of Quality Assurance visits
to provider organisations.

Remuneration Report
The information on pages 86 – 87 is not subject to audit.
The members of the Remuneration Committee for the year were:
•
•

Linda Farrant – Lay member (Governance and Audit), Chair of the Remuneration
Committee
Dr Nicky Williams – Deputy Clinical Chair

The Committee met once during 2014/15 and both members were in attendance. The Chief
Finance Officer (Alan Pond) and Chief Executive (Lesley Watts) provided advice to the committee.
Policy on Remuneration of Senior Managers
The clinical commissioning group’s Remuneration Committee used the remuneration guidance
provided by NHS England to inform its decisions regarding the pay of all very senior managers. We
can confirm that the pay of all our very senior managers is within the pay ranges identified in the
guidance. Additional payments have been agreed on a post-by-post basis for additional
responsibilities and complexity, as assessed by the Remuneration Committee. The same approach
will be taken for 2015/16.
Senior Managers Performance Related Pay
The Remuneration Committee has agreed that there will be no performance related pay for senior
managers.
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Policy on Senior Managers’ Contracts
Contracts for the executive team managers are permanent and have no specified duration. Five of
these posts have a notice period of six months, one having a notice period of 12 weeks and one
having a notice period of 3 months. Lay members are also employed on permanent contracts,
notice period not specified. GPs on the Governing Body are employed on fixed term contracts:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Dr Pathmanathan (4 year fixed term from 1 September 2014)
Drs Bosonnet, Graham, Hall, Kite, and Williams (4 year fixed term from 1 April 2013)
Drs Andrews, Jackson, Moodley and Sinclair (4 year fixed term from 1 April 2015)
Dr Kearns, (4 year fixed term from 1 April 2014)
Dr Shukur (2 year and 11 month fixed term from 1 April 2013)
Dr Shah (4 year fixed term from 1 Nov 2014)
Dr Shilliday (3 years and 8 months fixed term from 30 June 2014)

Senior Manager Service Contracts
We do not have any senior manager service contracts.
Payments to Past Senior Managers
There have been no payments to past senior managers.
Salaries and Allowances (audited element of remuneration report)
The salary and pension entitlements of East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s senior managers are
disclosed in the following two tables. The definition of a senior manager is a person in a senior
position having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities of the
clinical commissioning group. This means those who influence the decisions of the clinical
commissioning group as a whole rather than the decisions of individual directorates or
departments, people including advisory and lay members. The Chief Executive confirms that this
definition covers members of the Governing Body only.

87

Salaries and Allowances in 2014/15
Name and Title

Lesley Watts - Accountable Officer
Alan Pond - Chief Finance Officer
Sheilagh Reavey - Director of Nursing & Quality
John Webster - Director of Commissioning - (Apr - Sept 2014)
Denise Boardman - Interim Director of Commissioning ( Oct 2014 - Mar 2015)
Beverley Flowers - Director of Strategic Partnerships
Sharn Elton - Director of Operations (Jan - Mar 2015)
Harper Brown - Interim Director of Operations (Oct – Dec 2014)
Tony Kostick - GP Board Member and CCG Chair (Apr - Jul 2014)
Hari Pathmanathan - GP Board Member and CCG Chair from Sept 2014
Nicky Williams - GP Board Member and CCG Vice Chair (Acting Chair April - Aug 2014)
Robert Graham - GP Board Member
Stephen Kite - GP Board Member
Mark Andrews - GP Board Member
Alison Jackson - GP Board Member
Ed Bosonnet - GP Board Member
Prag Moodley - GP Board Member
Russell Hall - GP Board Member
Deborah Kearns - GP Board Member
Nabeil Shukur - GP Board Member
Fiona Sinclair - GP Board Member
Peter Shilliday - GP Board Member (Jul 2014 - Mar 2015)
Ashish Shah - GP Board Member (Nov 2014 - Mar 2015)
John Constable - GP Board Member (Apr - Jun 2014)
Robin Christie - GP Board Member
Linda Farrant - Lay Member
Diane Desmulie - Lay Member (Jan - Mar 2015)
Mike Walker - Secondary Care Doctor (Apr 2014 – May 2015)
Jon Chapman –Lay Member (Apr 2014 – May 2015)

Salary and
Fees
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
150-155
125-130
105-110
50-55
45-50
105-110
20-25
45-50
30-35
80-85

Taxable Benefits
(rounded to the
nearest £100)
£
0
300
0
200
100
0
0
0
0
0

Annual Performance
Related Bonuses
(bands of £5,000)
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Long Term
Performance
Related Bonuses
(bands of £5,000)
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

All Pension Related
Benefits
(bands
of £2,500)
£000
0
0
67.5-70
0
77.5-80
0
77.5-80
0
0
0

Total
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
150-155
125-130
170-175
50-55
120-125
105-110
95-100
45-50
30-35
80-85

125-130
50-55
50-55
50-55
50-55
65-70
50-55
50-55
65-70
50-55
35-40
35-40
20-25
10-15
50-55
15-20
0-5
0
0-5

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
200
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

15-17.5
0
0
2.5-5
7.5-10
5-7.5
2.5-5
0
0
7.5-10
12.5-15
0
110-112.5
0
0
0
0
0
0

140-145
50-55
50-55
50-55
55-60
70-75
50-55
50-55
65-70
55-60
45-50
35-40
130-135
10-15
50-55
15-20
0-5
0
0-5
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Notes:
Mike Walker is a consultant psychiatrist employed by Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation
Trust and working in West Hertfordshire. He was a member of the Governing Body without receiving any
payment from East and North Hertfordshire CCG and without Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS
Foundation Trust making any charge to the CCG.
The taxable benefits referred to in the table above relate to the reimbursement of mileage undertaken on
official duties. The benefit arises from the mileage allowance payments made to all staff, to reimburse them
for expenses related to the use of their own vehicle for business travel. East and North Hertfordshire CCG pays
the rate per mile set out in Agenda for Change, which exceeds the HMRC “approved mileage allowance
payments” rate in 2014/15 of 45p a mile. The excess amount paid is taxable and is disclosed above.
The all pension related benefits in the table above shows the real terms increase in pension benefits over the
course of the past year, i.e. the additional money (lump sum and annual pension) that would be payable to the
individual if they had become entitled to it on 31 March 2015 compared to their entitlements as at 31 March
2014. These benefits are funded by the CCG and are calculated on the assumption that the annual pension will
be paid for 20 years after the date of retirement.
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Salaries and Allowances in 2013/14
Name and Title

Salary and Fees
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Taxable
Benefits
(rounded to the
nearest £100)
£

Annual
Performance
Related
Bonuses (bands
of £5,000)
£000

Long Term
Performance
Related Bonuses
(bands of £5,000)
£000

All Pension
Related Benefits
(bands of £2,500)
£000

Total
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

70-72.5
57.5-60
15-17.5
0

220-225
180-185
125-130
105-110

Lesley Watts - Accountable Officer
Alan Pond - Chief Finance Officer
Sheilagh Reavey - Director of Nursing & Quality
John Webster - Director of Commissioning - (April 2014 - September 2014)
Tony Kostick - GP Board Member and CCG Chair (April 2014 - July 2014)
Hari Pathmanathan - GP Board Member and CCG Chair from September 2014

150-155
125-130
105-110
105-110
115-120
50-55

200
400
200
0
0

0

0

0

50-55

Nicky Williams - GP Board Member and CCG Vice Chair (Acting Chair April 2014 - August 2014)
Robert Graham - GP Board Member
Stephen Kite - GP Board Member
Mark Andrews - GP Board Member
Alison Jackson - GP Board Member
Ed Bosonnet - GP Board Member
Prag Moodley - GP Board Member
Russell Hall - GP Board Member
Deborah Kearns - GP Board Member
Nabil Shukur - GP Board Member
Fiona Sinclair - GP Board Member
John Constable - GP Board Member (April 2014 - June 2014)
Robin Christie - GP Board Member
Linda Farrant - Lay Member
Diane Desmulie - Lay Member (January 2015 - March 2015)
Mike Walker - Secondary Care Doctor
Jon Chapman – Lay Member

100-105
55-60
50-55
50-55
50-55
50-55
50-55
50-55
50-55
50-55
30-35
50-55
30-35
10-15
0
0
10-15

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
100
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

15-17.5
7.5-10
7.5-10
7.5-10
7.5-10
7.5-10
7.5-10
7.5-10
7.5-10
7.5-10
7.5-10
0
0
0
0
0
0

115-120
65-70
55-60
55-60
55-60
55-60
55-60
55-60
55-60
55-60
35-40
50-55
30-35
10-15
0
0
10-15
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Pensions Benefits 2014/15
Relating to the period 1 April 2014 to 31st March 2015

Name and title
Lesley Watts - Accountable Officer
Alan Pond - Chief Finance Officer
Sheilagh Reavey - Director of Nursing & Quality
Denise Boardman - Interim Director of Commissioning (Oct 2014 - Mar 2015)
Beverley Flowers - Director of Strategic Partnerships
Sharn Elton - Director of Operations (January 2015 - March 2015)
Nicky Williams - GP Board Member and CCG Vice Chair - see Note 2
Robert Graham - GP Board Member - see Note 2
Stephen Kite - GP Board Member - see Note 2
Mark Andrews - GP Board Member - see Note 2
Alison Jackson - GP Board Member - see Note 2
Ed Bosonnet - GP Board Member - see Note 2
Prag Moodley - GP Board Member - see Note 2
Russell Hall - GP Board Member - see Note 2
Deborah Kearns - GP Board Member - see Note 2
Nabeil Shukur - GP Board Member - see Note 2
Fiona Sinclair - GP Board Member - see Note 2
Ashish Shah - GP Board Member (November 2014 - March 2015) - see Note 2
John Webster - Director of Commissioning (Apr - Sept 2014) - not pensionable
Linda Farrant - Lay Member
Diane Desmulie - Lay Member (Jan - Mar 2015)
Robin Christie - GP Board Member - taken pension
Peter Shilliday - GP Board Member - not pensionable
John Constable - GP Board Member (Apr - June 2014) - not pensionable
Harper Brown - Interim Director of Operations (Oct - Dec 2014) - via agency
Hari Pathmanathan - GP Board Member and CCG Chair - not pensionable
Jon Chapman – Lay Member (Apr 2014 – May 2015)

Real
increase in
pension at
age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Real increase in
lump sum at
aged 60 related
to real increase
in pension
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2015
(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum at
age 60
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2015 (bands
of £5,000)

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2015

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2014

Real
increase in
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value
funded by
CCG

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000
0-2.5
0-2.5
2.5-5.0
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£000
0-2.5
0-2.5
10-12.5
5-7.5
0-2.5
2.5-5.0
2.5-5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
2.5-5.0
5-7.5
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£000
35-40
45-50
35-40
30-35
25-30
35-40
10-15
15-20
15-20
5-10
5-10
5-10
5-10
10-15
10-15
5-10
15-20
5-10
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£000
110-115
135-140
105-110
95-100
80-85
115-120
40-45
50-55
55-60
20-25
25-30
20-25
15-20
40-45
40-45
25-30
55-60
15-20
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£000
834
818
694
612
449
604
223
302
448
186
130
97
108
265
274
222
348
99
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£000
782
766
588
509
417
519
189
282
421
167
114
84
93
246
253
195
314
26
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£000
15
16
46
23
11
9
15
6
8
7
7
5
6
6
7
11
13
15
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

91

Notes
1.

As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of
pensions for Lay Members.

2.

Pensions Agency has provided details of the pension benefits that GPs have accrued in relation to their
service as an NHS Officer, not as a GP.

3.

NHS employees contribute towards their pension benefits. In 2014/15 contribution rates were 14.5%
of salary where the individual earned in excess of £111,377 and 13.5% where the individual earned
between £70,631 and £111,377.

4.

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme
benefits accrued by a member at a particularly point in time.
The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable
from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another
pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the
benefits accrued in their former scheme.
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of
their membership of the pension scheme. This may be more than just their service in a senior capacity
to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another
scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.
They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing
additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of
Actuaries.

5.

Real Increase in CETV
The Real increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes
account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee
(including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses
common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.
( ) Denotes a decrease in pension and lump sum entitlements.
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Pay Multiples (audited element of remuneration report)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the mid-point of the banded remuneration of the
highest paid director in their organisation at the reporting period end date on an annualised
basis. Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and
benefits-in-kind. It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions
and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
The mid-point of the banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the Governing
Body of the CCG in the financial year 2014/15 was £152,500. This was 4.22 times the
median remuneration of the workforce, which was £36,162.
In 2013/14 the mid-point of the banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the
Governing Body of the CCG was £152,500. This was 3.98 times the median remuneration of
the workforce, which was £38,298. The higher ratio in 2014/15 reflects the increase in the
number of employees and the changed skill mix associated with staff joining the CCG from
the disestablished Central Eastern CSU on 1 October 2014.
In 2013/14 and 2014/15 no employee received remuneration in excess of the highest paid
director member of the Governing Body.
Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2015, for more than £220 per day and that last
longer than six months (not subject to audit)
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2015

5

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

5

for between one and two years at the time of reporting
for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting
for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting
for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

The CCG confirms that all existing off-payroll engagements, as outlined above, have at some
point been subject to a risk based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the
individual is paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been
sought.
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For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015, for more
than £220 per day and that last longer than six months:
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration,
between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015

6

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving the [NHS
body name] the right to request assurance in relation to income tax and National
Insurance obligations

0

Number for whom assurance has been requested

6
Of which:

assurance has been received

1

assurance has not been received

5

engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received

0

Even though contract did not include an explicit clause on assurances that would be sought, the CCG wrote to
all individuals engaged off-payroll requiring them to provide assurance as to their tax obligations, with
termination of engagement occurring for failure to respond. The CCG has since developed a revised contract
which includes an explicit clause on this and is being used for all new engagements.

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with
significant financial responsibility, during the year
Number of individuals that have been deemed “board members, and/or senior officers
with significant financial responsibility” during the financial year. This figure includes
both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements

1
30

28 May 2015 (Date) ………………………………………… Accountable Officer
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The CCG Governing Body
Dr Hari Pathmanathan, CCG Chair
Hari took up the role of CCG Chair on 1 September 2014. Hari has been a GP at Bridge
Cottage Surgery for more than 15 years and has held various roles in locality
commissioning for the past 10 years.

Dr Nicky Williams, CCG Deputy Clinical Chair and GP Governing Body Member, Upper
Lea Valley
Nicky has been a GP partner for 17 years at Church Street Surgery in Ware. Her lead
roles on the CCG board include Patient and Public Engagement, Provider Integration
and leading the Enhanced Health in Care Homes Vanguard project.
Lesley Watts, Accountable Officer
Lesley trained as a nurse and midwife. Her previous roles include Executive Nurse
Director at two large acute trusts and Non Executive Director, Vice Chairman and
Chairman of Bedfordshire Health Authority. Since 2006 she has worked at NHS
Hertfordshire as Turnaround Director, Director of Operations and Deputy Chief
Executive Officer.
Dr Ed Bosonnet, GP Governing Body Member, Lower Lea Valley
Ed is a GP at Warden Lodge, Cheshunt. His lead areas of work include the Royal Free
Hospitals Trust and IT.

Dr Alison Jackson, GP Governing Body Member, Lower Lea Valley
Alison is a GP based in Cheshunt with 14 years’ experience. She is the co-chair of the
Lower Lea Valley locality and her lead area of work is Long Term Conditions. Alison also
leads on the HomeFirst project.

Dr Robin Christie, GP Governing Body Member, North Herts
Robin is a GP at the Portmill Surgery in Hitchin.
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Dr Rob Graham, GP Governing Body Member, North Herts
Rob is a GP and has been based in Letchworth for the past 20 years. His previous
experience includes work with the Local Medical Committee and Primary Care Groups
as well as teaching medical students and junior doctors. Rob is the CCG Governing Body
quality lead for acute commissioning with East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust, and
co-lead for the North Herts Locality.

Dr Fiona Sinclair, GP Governing Body Member, North Herts
Fiona has worked as a GP in North Hertfordshire since 1992 and at Regal Chambers
Surgery since 2010. She is the locality GP lead for HomeFirst North Herts and the CCG
Board lead for Stroke.

Dr Russell Hall, GP Governing Body Member, Stevenage
Russell has worked as a full time GP in Stevenage since 1999. Before joining the CCG
Governing Body, he was the prescribing lead for Stevenage. He is the CCG's Urgent
Care lead.

Dr Prag Moodley, GP Governing Body Member, Stevenage
Prag has been a GP for 19 years and is the CCG's mental health lead. His lead area of
work is Mental Health and Learning Disabilities.

Dr Deborah Kearns, GP Governing Body Member, Stort Valley and Villages
Deborah has been a GP in Hertfordshire for 25 years.

Dr Nabeil Shukur, GP Governing Body Member, Stort Valley and Villages
Nabeil is a GP at South Street Surgery in Bishop's Stortford. He has several years’
experience on the locality commissioning board. He is the CCG quality lead for the
Princess Alexandra Hospital contract.

Dr Mark Andrews, GP Governing Body Member, Upper Lea Valley
Mark has been a GP for 26 years at The Limes Surgery in Hoddesdon. He is the CCG's
Cancer Lead.
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Dr Stephen Kite, GP Governing Body Member, Upper Lea Valley
Stephen has been a GP in Ware for 13 years, a GP in Hertfordshire since 1987 and was
a member of the Hertfordshire Local Medical Committee for 10 years. He is the mental
health lead for the Upper and Lower Lea Valley localities and SCG co-Chair for specialist
child and adolescent mental health services.

Dr Ashish Shah, GP Governing Body Member, Welwyn and Hatfield
Ashish has been GP principal at Wrafton House, Hatfield since 2009. He is a GP trainer
with a special interest in cardiology and respiratory. He is currently the prescribing lead
for the CCG.
Dr Peter Shilliday, GP Governing Body Member, Welwyn and Hatfield
Peter has been a GP since 1995 and is currently with the Garden City group of practices
in Welwyn Garden City. He has been involved with commissioning services with
previous NHS organisations for 20 years. He is co-Chair for the Welwyn Hatfield locality.

Linda Farrant, Deputy Chair, Lay Member - Audit
qualified accountant, Linda spent much of her career in local government working on
finance, regeneration policy and practice and developing devolved public sector
services. She has undertaken various non-executive director (NED) roles in the
voluntary and public sectors and became a NED for NHS Hertfordshire in 2003.

Dianne Desmulie, Lay Member - Public and Patient Engagement
Dianne has a career background in local government and the NHS. She has experience
within the Department of Health and Adult Social Care in the Eastern region, promoting
Dignity in Care and working closely with carers' organisations. Dianne was a local
councillor in East Herts for 8 years and in 2001 was Mayor of Hertford, where she has
lived since 1982. She is a member of Hanscombe House Surgery Patient Participation
Group.
Dr Dermot O'Riordan
Dermot is a Consultant General Surgeon at West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust and
previously was Medical Director for 5 years and interim-Chief Executive Officer.

Denise Boardman, Interim Director of Commissioning
Denise trained as an occupational therapist and worked in a variety of physical health
roles in both acute and community services in the northwest and southeast of England.
In 2004, she left clinical management for a commissioning role in Hertfordshire which
included Assistant Director of Strategic Planning and Service Redesign. In 2013, Denise
joined East and North Hertfordshire CCG as Associate Director for Unscheduled Care
and commenced as interim Director of Commissioning in October 2014.
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Sharn Elton, Director of Operations
Sharn trained as a nurse at Bedford Hospital and worked across many general ward
areas, moving through the ranks to become a ward sister and eventually a matron of
medicine at the Lister Hospital. It was through representing the Lister in management
meetings that she started to become interested in the world of health beyond hospitals
and when an opportunity became available at NHS England in 2013, she felt that the
time was right for a change to move into management.
Beverley Flowers, Director of Strategic Partnerships
Beverley joined the CCG in April 2014 from NHS England. Previous to this she held a
range of commissioning, partnership and contracting roles across health and social care
organisations in London and the East of England.

Alan Pond, Director of Finance
Alan has been a Finance Director for 14 years for NHS commissioning organisations. He
has 30 years’ experience in the NHS with a broad range of experience within the
finance function along with other areas. He has been involved in strategy development
and implementation with direct operational responsibility for financial management,
costing and pricing, contract negotiation and business case preparation.
Sheilagh Reavey, Director of Nursing & Quality
Sheilagh has trained as a Nurse, Midwife and Health Visitor and has worked at a senior
level in the NHS for a number of years. She has both operational service delivery and
commissioning experience and has significant experience in relation to quality and
safeguarding issues.
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Governing Body Members Declarations of Interests
as of 28 May 2015
Name / Position
Dr Hari Pathmanathan
Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG) Chair

Dr Nicky Williams
CCG Deputy Clinical Chair,
Locality Co-Chair,
Upper Lea Valley

Dr Rob Graham
Locality Co-Chair,
North Herts

Dr Robin Christie (job- share)
Locality Co-Chair,
North Herts

Dr Fiona Sinclair (job- share)
Locality Co-Chair, North Herts

Dr Prag Moodley
Locality Co-Chair, Stevenage

Dr Russell Hall
Locality Co-Chair, Stevenage
Dr Mark Andrews
Locality Co-Chair,
Upper Lea Valley

Dr Stephen Kite
Locality Co-Chair,
Upper Lea Valley

Date
declared*

Declarations of interest

12/02/2015

•
•
•
•

Partner, Bridge Cottage Surgery, Welwyn
Director, Bridge Cottage Pharmacy
Wife is a GP in Herts Valleys CCG
Practice is a shareholder of Ephedra Healthcare Limited

•
•

Partner, Church Street Surgery, Ware
Principal in a practice which is a shareholder of Generating
Health Ltd, the provider arm of Upper Lea Valley Locality
Commissioning Group

•
•

Principal, Birchwood Surgery
Wife works as salaried GP at Birchwood and does some out-ofhours work with Herts Urgent Care and some well woman
medicals at Pinehill Hospital, Hitchin
Practice is a Shareholder Partnership in 12 Point Care (North
Herts. Federation)

25/02/2015

27/02/2015
•
•
•
•
13/02/2015
•
•

05/03/2015

11/03/2015

26/02/2015

•
•
•

Partner, Regal Chambers Surgery, Hitchin
Associate trainer in General Practice
Practice is a Shareholder Partnership in 12 Point Care (North
Herts. Federation)

•
•

Principal, Stanmore Medical Group
Wife works for Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS
Foundation Trust as a Child and Adolescent Mental Health
Services Consultant

•

Partner, Chells Way Surgery, Stevenage

•
•

Partner, Limes Surgery, Hoddesdon
Spouse is a Health Visitor, employed by Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust
Practice is a member of Generating Health Ltd, the federation
of Upper Lea Valley practices

26/02/2015
•

26/03/2015

Partner, Portmill Surgery, Hitchin
GP Tutor, Eastern Deanery
Clinical Review Panel Chair, Expert-24 (a company that
develops symptom assessment software for companies such as
BUPA and has no contracts in Hertfordshire)
GP Advisor to the Care Quality Commission
Practice is a Shareholder Partnership in 12 Point Care (North
Herts. Federation)

•
•
•

Principal, The Maltings Surgery, Ware
Medical Advisor to the Locum Practice, an agency for providing
locums to GP Practices
Practice is a shareholder of Generating Health Ltd, the provider
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Name / Position

Date
declared*

Declarations of interest
•

Dr Alison Jackson
Locality Co-Chair,
Lower Lea Valley
Dr Ed Bosonnet
Locality Co-Chair,
Lower Lea Valley

Dr Peter Shilliday
Locality Co-Chair,
Welwyn Hatfield

27/02/2015

•
•

Partner, The Maples Surgery, Broxbourne
Practice is a shareholder in Lea Valley Health which is the
Lower Lea Valley federation

•
•

Partner, Warden Lodge Surgery, Cheshunt
Wife is a school nurse employed by Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust but via NHS professional
Practice is a shareholder in Lea Valley Health which is the
Lower Lea Valley federation

11/02/2015
•

02/04/2015

•
•
•

GP Principal, Garden City Practice, Welwyn Garden City
Practice is a shareholder of Ephedra Healthcare Limited
Director (unpaid) of Isabel Hospice

•
•

Principal, Central Surgery, Sawbridgeworth
Owner of premises for a GP Surgery looking to develop
premises to provide primary care services
Husband is landlord of a building in Stevenage, the main tenant
of which is Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS
Foundation Trust who run mental health services from there.
Practice is about to join the emerging federation in Stort Valley
and Villages but not yet a legal entity.
Involved in scoping a project in Stort Valley and Villages to
transform out-of-hours services in which the local practices
and ultimately the federation will be the GP providers of their
part of these services

•
Dr Deborah Kearns
Locality Co-Chair,
Stort Valley and Villages

05/03/2015

•
•

•
•
Dr Nabeil Shukur
Locality Co-Chair,
Stort Valley and Villages

05/03/2015

•
•

Dr Ashish Shah
Locality Co-chair,
Welwyn and Hatfield
Lesley Watts
Chief Executive

Alan Pond
Chief Finance Officer

arm of Upper Lea Valley Locality Commissioning Group
Trustee of Libury Hall – Care home for adults with long term
mental illnesses in Great Munden, Hertfordshire

Partner, South Street Surgery, Bishops Stortford
Director & Shareholder of NHA Medical Ltd providing
dermatology and orthopaedic medical services
GP with Special Interests in Orthopaedics for West Essex
Clinical Referral Group
New member of Clinical Excellence Awards Committee for
Princess Alexandra Hospital

02/04/2015

•
•
•
•

GP Principal, Wrafton House Surgery
Director of Abhirush Limited
GP Trainer
Practice is a shareholder of Ephedra Healthcare Limited

10/04/2015

•
•

Husband is a Consultant at Luton & Dunstable Hospital
Daughter employed by the CCG August – December 2014

•

Director of Assemble Community Partnership Ltd and
associated companies (a LIFT company). Directorship is unpaid
and following nomination by Community Health Partnerships
(CHP), acting as a representative of the local CCGs.
Partner is a GP at Haverfield Surgery and Locality Chair in Herts
Valleys CCG.

11/02/2015
•
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Name / Position

Date
declared*

Declarations of interest

Sheilagh Reavey
Director of Nursing and
Quality

10/03/2015

Nothing to declare

Dee Boardman
Interim Director of
Commissioning

20/03/2015

External Assessor for The College for Occupational Therapy (Awards
& Nominations)

John Webster
Director of Commissioning

16/01/2014

Nothing to declare (on secondment)

Beverley Flowers
Director of Strategic
Partnerships
Sharn Elton
Director of Operations
Linda Farrant
Deputy Lay Chair,
Lay Member – Governance
and Audit

16/02/2015

27/02/2015

Nothing to declare

Nothing to declare
•
•

12/02/2015
•
•

Dianne Desmulie
Lay Member – Patient and
Public Engagement

26/11/2014

Dr Dermot O’Riordan
Secondary Care Specialist
Doctor

02/04/2015

•

•
•

Board member of Ofsted (Office for Standards in Education)
Governor of Bishops Stortford College (co-educational
independent school for 4-18 year olds)
External member of the Audit and Risk Committee for the Big
Lottery Fund with effect from July 2014
Director of own company, Pieve Solutions, working as
Management Consultant
Husband is Director of Pieve Solutions. Works in a freelance
capacity as a HR specialist for a range of clients.
Consultant Surgeon West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust
Wife is Consultant Surgeon Ipswich Hospital

* Date declared is the date that they most recently confirmed that their interests were correctly recorded.
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s
Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed the Chief Executive to be
the Accountable Officer of the Clinical Commissioning Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and
regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping
proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts
comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and
cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in
particular to:
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis

•

Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis

•

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for Accounts
issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the financial statements

•

Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set
out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.

…………………………… Lesley Watts, Accountable Officer, 28 May 2015

Annual Governance Statement 2014-15
NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning
Group
Introduction and Context
The Clinical Commissioning Group was licenced from 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted
in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act
2006.
As at 1 April 2014, the Clinical Commissioning Group was licensed without conditions.

Scope of Responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity.
Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
Whilst the detailed provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code are not mandatory for
public sector bodies, compliance is considered to be good practice. This Governance
Statement is intended to demonstrate the Clinical Commissioning Group’s compliance with
the principles set out in the Code that are relevant to it.
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The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L(2)(b) states:
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted principles of good
governance as are relevant to it.
Governance Structure
The Governing Body has created the statutorily-required Governance and Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee. Additionally the Governing Body has established a Quality
Committee, six Locality Committees and an Information Communication Technology
Stakeholder Board. This latter committee was created following the closure of the Central
Eastern Commissioning Support Unit on 30th September 2014 and the transfer of ICT
services provided in Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire and Luton to the CCG. On 1st April 2015 the
CCG also created a Joint Committee with NHS England with responsibility for primary care
co-commissioning.
Joint Committee
Governing Body

Governance and Audit
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Quality Committee

NHS England and Clinical
Commissioning Group

Information
Communication
Technology Stakeholder
Board

Locality Committees x 6

Figure 1: Governance Structure
Governing Body
The Governing Body ensures that the Clinical Commissioning Group has appropriate
arrangements in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and
in accordance with the Clinical Commissioning Group’s principles of good governance.
Using a risk management mechanism, the Governing Body brings together the various
aspects of governance; corporate, clinical, financial and information to provide assurance on
its direction and control across the whole organisation in a co-ordinated way. The coordinating body for receiving assurance on these strands of governance is the Governance
and Audit Committee, which oversees integrated governance on behalf of the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s Governing Body. In addition the other Committees oversee the risks
within their specific remits, providing assurance to the Governance and Audit Committee
where appropriate.
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Governance and Audit Committee
The Governance and Audit Committee is a Committee of the Governing Body. It provides
assurance to the Governing Body that the CCG’s overall internal control and governance
system operates in an adequate and effective way. The Committee’s work focuses on the
adequacy of the controls on finance, risk management and clinical quality. It does this by
reviewing the assurance framework, strategic and operational risk and independent
assurance on controls. It also oversees internal and external audit arrangements, for both
financial and non-financial systems. Key activities have included:





reviewing in detail the Annual Report and Accounts, including the Audit Completion
Report from External Audit
considering the Audit Reports from Internal Audit and the Counter Fraud Service
assessing the Risk Management Framework and ensuring that any highlighted risk
areas were mitigated through reviews or other work-streams
considering the assurances on risk and control set out in Internal Audit’s annual
report and opinion, together with key assurance reported in individual reports.

During its work, activities and areas of review throughout the year, the Committee ensured
that any areas of particular concern were brought to the Governing Body's attention.
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is a Committee of the Governing Body. It reports its decisions
to the Governing Body on determinations about pay and remuneration for senior employees
of the Clinical Commissioning Group.
Quality Committee
The Quality Committee is a Committee of the Governing Body. It works to ensure that
commissioned services are being delivered in a high quality and safe manner, ensuring that
quality sits at the heart of everything the Clinical Commissioning Group does. It is
responsible for providing assurance and information on quality to enable the Governing
Body to fulfil its role and responsibility in connection with the management of quality. The
Committee takes on overall responsibility for leading the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
patient care, quality and safety agenda and reports directly to the Governing Body on these
matters. To support it in this role the Committee involves members of the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s Patient Participation Groups to provide an invaluable patient
perspective.
Joint Committee
In December 2014, the Governing Body selected ‘Joint Commissioning’ as the most
appropriate primary care co-commissioning model for the Clinical Commissioning Group and
the population it serves at this point in time.
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A new Joint Committee between the Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS England Central
Midlands Sub Region was established to satisfy the governance requirements for the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s new responsibilities. The role of the Joint Committee will be to carry
out the functions relating to the commissioning of primary medical services except those
relating to individual GP performance management, which have been reserved to NHS
England. A minimum of four scheduled meetings are to take place per year, and where
required additional meetings will be arranged.

5

Governing Body
Business Meetings

Number of meetings held during 2014/15

Governing Body in
Private (Part 2)

Governing Body in
Public
(Part 1)

Governing Body and Committee Attendance for 2014/15
All members have good attendance records – these are detailed in the table below:

5

10
9/10

Name:

Title/Locality:

Dr M Andrews

Upper Lea Valley

Attendance:
4/5

3/5

D Boardman (I)

Interim Director of Commissioning

3/3

3/3

6/6

Dr E Bosonnet

Lower Lea Valley

5/5

5/5

9/10

H Brown (II)

Interim Director of Operations

1/1

1/1

3/3

J Chapman (III)

Lay Member - Assurance

1/1

1/1

_

Dr R Christie

North Herts

4/5

4/5

10/10

Dr J Constable (IV)

Welwyn and Hatfield

_

_

2/2

D Desmulie (V)

Lay Member - Patient and Public Engagement

1/2

1/2

2/5

S Elton (VI)

Director of Operations

2/2

2/2

3/3

L Farrant

Lay Member – Governance and Audit, Deputy Chair

5/5

5/5

7/10

B Flowers

Director of Strategic Partnerships

5/5

4/5

7/10

Dr R Graham

North Herts

4/5

3/5

8/10

Dr R Hall

Stevenage

4/5

3/5

9/10

Dr A Jackson

Lower Lea Valley

1/5

2/5

9/10

Dr D Kearns

Stort Valley and Villages

5/5

5/5

8/10

Dr S Kite

Upper Lea Valley

3/5

3/5

10/10

Dr T Kostick*

Chair

0/1

0/1

0/2

Dr P Moodley

Stevenage

3/5

2/5

10/10

Dr D O'Riordan (VII)

Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

1/2

1/2

_

Dr H Pathmanathan**

Chair

4/5

4/5

9/10

A Pond

Chief Finance Officer

5/5

5/5

8/10

S Reavey

Director of Nursing and Quality

5/5

5/5

7/10

Dr A Shah (VIII)

Welwyn and Hatfield

2/2

2/2

4/5

Dr P Shilliday (IX)

Welwyn and Hatfield

3/4

3/4

8/8

Dr N Shukur

Stort Valley & Villages

5/5

5/5

8/10

Dr F Sinclair

North Herts

4/5

4/5

8/10

Dr M Walker (X)

Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

_

_

0/1

L Watts

Chief Executive

5/5

5/5

8/10

J Webster (XI)

Director of Commissioning

2/2

2/2

3/3

Dr N Williams***

Deputy Chair - Clinical

4/5

4/5

9/10
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* Chair of Governing Body until July 2014
** Chair of Governing Body from September 2014
*** Acting Chair of Governing Body from April 2014 to August 2014
(I) Commenced position October 2014
(II) Member of Governing Body from October 2014 to December 2014
(III) Left position in May 2014
(IV) Left position in June 2014
(V) Commenced position November 2014
(VI) Commenced position January 2015
(VII) Commenced position January 2015
(VIII) Commenced position November 2014
(IX) Commenced position in June 2014
(X) Left position May 2014
(XI) Member of Governing Body from April 2014 to September 2014

Committee Attendance for 2014/15
All members have good attendance records – these are detailed in the tables below:
Governance and Audit Committee:
Number of meetings held during 2014/15

6

Name:

Title/Locality:

Attendance:

D Desmulie (I)

Lay Member - Patient and Public Engagement

1/1

L Farrant*

Lay Member – Governance and Audit

6/6

Dr N Shukur (II)

Stort Valley & Villages

2/2

Dr N Williams (III)

Deputy Chair - Clinical

4/4

* Chair of Governance and Audit Committee
(I) Commenced position November 2014
(II) Member of Governance and Committee June 2014 to August 2014
(III) Acting Chair of Governing Body from June 2014 to August 2014

Quality Committee:
Number of meetings held during 2014/15

9

Name:

Title/Locality:

Attendance:

Dr E Bosonnet

Lower Lea Valley

6/9

J Chapman*

Lay Member - Assurance

2/2

L Dent

Lead for Public Engagement

6/9

D Desmulie (I)

Lay Member - Patient and Public Engagement

2/2

L Farrant**

Lay Member – Governance and Audit

5/7

Dr R Graham

North Herts

8/9

Dr A Jackson

Lower Lea Valley

7/9

J Jewitt

Patient Participation Group

8/9

J Linskill (II)

Nursing and Quality Project Manager

5/5

Dr P Moodley

Stevenage

1/9

S Reavey

Director of Nursing and Quality

7/9

Dr N Shukur

Stort Valley & Villages

9/9

C Slater (III)

Associate Director of Quality and Patient Experience

5/6
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* Chair of Quality Committee until May 2014
** Chair of Quality Committee from June 2014
(I) Commenced position November 2014
(II) Member of Quality Committee until August 2014
(III) Member of Quality Committee from July 2014

Remuneration Committee:
Number of meetings held during 2014/15

1

Name:

Title/Locality:

Attendance:

L Farrant*

Lay Member – Governance and Audit

1/1

Dr N Williams

Deputy Chair - Clinical

1/1

* Chair of Remuneration Committee

Information Communication Technology Stakeholder Board
The Information Communication Technology Stakeholder Board is a committee of the
Governing Body. Following the closure of the Central Eastern Commissioning Support Unit,
the ICT customers of the CSU in Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire and Luton wished to continue
benefiting from working together and created a shared service for ICT. This committee
brings together the stakeholders and its role is to ensure focus on strategy, policy and the
overall operational performance of information and communications technology.
Attendance at meetings of the committee is recorded in the table below.
Member Organisations:

Out of total of 7 meetings

Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group

3/7

East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group

7/7

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust

7/7

Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust

7/7

Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group

7/7

Luton Clinical Commissioning Group

6/7

Locality Committees
There are six Locality Committees of the Governing Body, which are responsible for ensuring
the Governing Body is informed by the members of the Clinical Commissioning Group and
that local knowledge is fed into the decision making process of the Clinical Commissioning
Group. The committees are responsible for ensuring that members of the Clinical
Commissioning Group have the opportunity to contribute to the development of policy and
commissioning strategy.
Attendance records for each of the committees are detailed in the table below:
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Lower Lea Valley:

Out of total of 8 meetings

The Maples Health Centre, Broxbourne

5/8

Cromwell and Wormley Medical Centre, Cheshunt

5/8

High Street Surgery, Cheshunt

7/8

Stockwell Lodge Medical Centre, Cheshunt

7/8

Warden Lodge, Cheshunt

3/8

Cuffley and Goffs Oak Medical Centre, Cuffley

8/8

Abbey Road, Waltham Cross

4/8

Stanhope Surgery, Waltham Cross

8/8

North Herts:

Out of total of 9 meetings

Ashwell Surgery, Ashwell

9/9

Astonia House Surgery, Baldock

9/9

Courtenay House Surgery, Hitchin

9/9

Orford Lodge Surgery, Hitchin

6/9

Portmill Surgery, Hitchin

9/9

Regal Chambers Surgery, Hitchin

8/9

Knebworth & Marymead Surgery, Knebworth

6/9

Birchwood Surgery, Letchworth

9/9

Garden City Surgery, Letchworth

7/9

Nevells Road Surgery, Letchworth

7/9

Sollershott Surgery, Letchworth

7/9

Whitwell Surgery, Whitwell

7/9

Stevenage:

Out of total of 11 meetings

Bedwell Medical Centre, Stevenage

10/11

Canterbury Way Surgery, Stevenage

6/11

Chells Way Surgery, Stevenage

11/11

King George Surgery, Stevenage

10/11

Manor House Surgery, Stevenage

9/11

Shephall Way Surgery, Stevenage

5/11

St Nicholas Health Centre, Stevenage

11/11

Stanmore Medical Group, Stevenage

11/11

Symonds Green Health Centre, Stevenage

11/11

Stort Valley and Villages:

Out of total of 9 meetings

Church Street Partnership, Bishop’s Stortford

8/9

Parsonage Surgery, Bishop’s Stortford

7/9

South Street Surgery, Bishop’s Stortford

9/9

The Health Centre, Much Hadham

9/9

Central Surgery, Sawbridgeworth

7/9

Sawbridgeworth Medical Services, Sawbridgeworth

0/9*

Upper Lea Valley:

Out of total of 11 meetings

Park Lane Surgery, Broxbourne

10/11

Buntingford Medical Centre, Buntingford

9/11

Orchard Surgery, Buntingford

8/11

Castlegate Surgery, Hertford

7/11

Hanscombe House Surgery, Hertford

10/11

Wallace House Surgery, Hertford

9/11

Ware Road Surgery, Hertford

8/11

Haileybury College, Hertford Heath

0/9*

Amwell Street Surgery, Hoddesdon

11/11

Hailey View Surgery, Hoddesdon

9/11

The Limes Surgery, Hoddesdon

11/11

Puckeridge Surgery, Puckeridge

9/11
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Church Street Surgery, Ware

9/11

Dolphin House Surgery, Ware

8/11

The Maltings Surgery, Ware

11/11

Watton Place Surgery, Watton at Stone

7/11

Welwyn and Hatfield:

Out of total of 8 meetings

Burvill House Surgery, Hatfield

8/8

Lister House Surgery, Hatfield

8/8

Potterells Medical Centre, Hatfield

8/8

Wrafton House Surgery, Hatfield

5/8

Bridge Cottage Surgery, Welwyn

8/8

The Garden City Surgery, Welwyn Garden City

8/8

Hall Grove Surgery, Welwyn Garden City

7/8

Peartree Lane Surgery, Welwyn Garden City

7/8

Spring House Surgery, Welwyn Garden City

7/8

* These are not GP practices but provide specific services to a unique cohort of patients and are not required to attend meetings.

Committee Effectiveness
Throughout the year the Governing Body has undertaken self-assessments of its
effectiveness. Governing Body members have also undertaken mandatory training, which
included Equality and Diversity, Information Governance, Health and Safety, Counter Fraud
and Safeguarding Children and Adults.
The Committees of the Governing Body also undertook a self-assessment of their
effectiveness. Any agreed changes have been incorporated in to the agenda planning and
organisation of subsequent Governing Body and Committee meetings.
Declarations of Interest
The Governing Body maintains an up-to-date Register of Interests, which formally records
the declarations of interests made by its members and is available as part of the Annual
Report and on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s website. Any interest that arises during
the course of a meeting is declared immediately and recorded in the Minutes of the
meeting. This ensures that the Governing Body acts in the best interests of the organisation
and avoids situations where there may be a potential conflict of interest.
The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management Framework
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Risk Management Framework sets out the strategic aim,
commitment to and objectives of the single integrated risk management process. The Risk
Management Framework clearly identifies the leadership and responsibilities for risk
management throughout the organisation. The Governing Body is ultimately responsible for
risk management across the Clinical Commissioning Group. It is supported in discharging its
responsibilities by the Governance and Audit Committee and Quality Committee. Risks are
reported and managed at all levels across the organisation but there are a number of roles
with key responsibilities relating to risk management:
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Executive Team
The Executive Directors are responsible for overseeing the implementation of the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s Risk Management Framework, including defining, supporting and
challenging key risks and risk management activity.
Governance and Corporate Affairs Team
The Governance and Corporate Affairs Team is the lead for the development and
implementation of the Risk Management Framework.
Head of Risk Management
The Head of Risk Management is responsible for co-ordinating and reporting risk
information to the Governing Body and its Committees, as well as providing support and
guidance on the application of the Risk Management Framework.
Management and Staff
Each department and employee is responsible for implementing the requirements of the
Risk Management Framework. All managers have a responsibility for identifying, assessing,
managing and reporting risk within their area of responsibility, which could affect
achievement of any of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s objectives. They are also
responsible for putting actions into place to mitigate these risks and for reporting activities
or circumstance that may give risk to new or changed risk.
Risk Management Framework
The risk management process starts with the Clinical Commissioning Group setting its
objectives and identifying possible risks to their achievement. The controls in place to
mitigate the risks are assessed together with the assurance in place on those controls. Gaps
in controls and assurance are evaluated and further actions identified and implemented. If
the residual risk is not acceptable further actions are identified, assigned to named
individuals and timescales for implementation agreed.
In support of the Risk Management Framework, the Clinical Commissioning Group has a Risk
Management Procedure Guidance, which is used by all levels of staff and guides them
through the steps of managing risks. It contains the risk scoring matrix and descriptors,
which enables staff to ensure that risks are scored consistently so that priority can be given
to the risks that could hinder the achievement of objectives. It also details the process by
which risks are managed and escalated to the Strategic Risk Register. The Guidance explains
what the Risk Controls and Assurance Dashboard is and how it is used to prevent and deter
risks.
The Strategic Risk Register details the risks that at a strategic level could have an impact on
achieving the Clinical Commissioning Group’s objectives. The Strategic Risk Register is
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updated with information from the quarterly review of the Risk Controls and Assurance
Dashboard.
The Risk Controls and Assurance Dashboard is refreshed quarterly by the Head of Risk
Management, following meetings with senior managers. The refresh meetings include a
review of the risk and control scoring, discussion and challenge of the controls and
identification of further actions required to mitigate the risk. If through the review process a
risk is identified that has an unacceptable risk score that could have an impact on the Clinical
Commissioning Group ’s objectives, this is escalated to the relevant Executive Director and if
required to the Strategic Risk Register. Each Directorate team reviews the Risk Controls and
Assurance Dashboard on a regular basis to ensure it is accurate, up to date and clearly
describes the risks facing the organisation. At any time, when a team or member of staff
identifies a new risk the Head of Risk Management is informed and the Risk Controls and
Assurance Dashboard updated and risks escalated to the Strategic Risk Register if necessary.
The amount and type of risk that the Clinical Commissioning Group is willing to take on in
pursuit of its strategic objectives (and of those objectives defined in the Risk Management
Framework) is determined by the Governing Body. The Governing Body’s appetite for risk is
influenced by a number of key factors including (but not limited to) the overall level of risk,
as well as the economic, regulatory and operational landscape, and the Risk Management
Framework sets out the risk tolerances that have been applied by the Clinical Commissioning
Group.
The system of internal control includes analysis of actions that could be put in place to
prevent and deter risks arising. The system is embedded in the activity of the Clinical
Commissioning Group, for example, all business cases include consideration of the
associated risks and require Equality and Privacy Impact Assessments. Incident reporting is
encouraged and the Clinical Commissioning Group has a long established hotline for
practices to report issues relating to the provision of care to patients.
The Clinical Commissioning Group is an active member of the Health and Wellbeing Board
and regular participates in scrutiny undertaken by Hertfordshire County Council. This level
of joint activity enables stakeholders to work with the Clinical Commissioning Group to
understand and manage any risks that may impact on them.
The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the Clinical
Commissioning Group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and
the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.
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The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has a number of clear objectives for risk management
which this Framework is intended to help achieve. These are to:







Seek to identify, measure, control and report on risk that will undermine the
achievement of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s objectives, both strategically and
operationally, through appropriate analysis and assessment criteria
Better allocate effort and resources for the management of key and emerging risks
Drive improvements and improved intelligence for key decision making
Support and develop our reputation as a well governed and trusted organisation
amongst our patients, staff, partners and peers
Reduce cost and improve efficiency in our combined governance, risk and assurance
process.

The Internal Control Framework is underpinned by a number of guiding principles that
determine how we put risk management into practice at all levels. These guiding principles
are:






Managing risk is a core competency of all management within the Clinical
Commissioning Group and an integral part of line management responsibility
Management support, involvement and oversight is fundamental to the success of
the framework
The design of our framework, in order to be successful in fulfilling its objective, must
be relevant to our vision, focused on risks that impact our ability to achieve our
objectives, aligned to our operating style and culture (which it can also help to
create) as well as compliance with our regulatory obligations
Application of risk management gives rise to the consideration of opportunity and as
such the framework is implicitly focused on ‘upside’ risk as well as downside risk.

The application of these principles is fundamental to the approach of risk and control
management within the Clinical Commissioning Group. Arrangements, processes and
mechanisms for risk management are comprehensive, but they must also be proportionate
to the nature, scale and complexity of our activities.
Internal Audit
The Internal Audit services for the organisation are currently provided by Baker Tilly. The
Internal Auditors report independently to the Governance and Audit Committee and provide
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independent assurance on the effectiveness of its system of internal control, including the
application of the Risk Management Framework.
Information Governance
Risks to data security are managed through a series of management, technical, operational
and privacy controls.
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an
Information Governance Toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to
the Clinical Commissioning Group, other organisations and to individuals that personal
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust Information Governance systems
and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We have
established an Information Governance Management Framework and have developed
Information Governance processes and procedures in line with the Information Governance
Toolkit. We have ensured that all staff undertake annual Information Governance training to
ensure they are aware of their roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.
We continue to review information risk assessment and management procedures to embed
an information risk culture throughout the organisation.
Pension Obligations
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the scheme
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary,
employer’s contributions and payments into the scheme are in accordance with the scheme
rules, and that member pension scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with
the timescales detailed in the regulations.
Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Obligations
Control measures are in place to ensure that the Clinical Commissioning Group complies
with the required public sector equality duty set out in the Equality Act 2010. There is more
detail in the Annual Report regarding the measures in place. See page 71.
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Sustainable Development Obligations
The Clinical Commissioning Group is required to report its progress in delivering against
sustainable development indicators.
We are developing plans to assess risks, enhance our performance and reduce our impact,
including against carbon reduction and climate change adaptation objectives. This includes
establishing mechanisms to embed social and environmental sustainability across policy
development, business planning and in commissioning.
We are also setting out our commitments as a socially responsible employer.
Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk Management & Internal Control
The Clinical Commissioning Group process for risk assessment starts with it agreeing its
objectives that form part of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s Strategic and Operational
Plan. The Risk Controls and Assurance Dashboard supports the identification of the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s strategic risks, and controls in place are assessed to provide a view
on whether the residual risk following application of controls is acceptable to the
organisation.
This assessment of the Strategic Risk Register is presented bi-annually to the Governing Body
at meetings held in public. Prior to this it has been scrutinised by the Governance and Audit
Committee through discussion of the Principal Risk Report. If the risks are assessed as not
acceptable further actions are agreed to mitigate the impact and likelihood of the risk
materialising. The review process of the strategic risks includes assessment of the assurance
in place such as internal audit and local counter fraud services.
The Governing Body also receives a comprehensive integrated quality and performance
report at their bi-monthly meeting, which enables Governing Body members to challenge
and have an oversight of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s overall performance and assess
the risks in the full context of the organisation’s objectives.
To enhance the scrutiny it undertakes the Governance and Audit Committee has established
a programme of ‘deep dives’ linked with the strategic risks to ensure a greater level of
understanding of the factors impacting on the risk. The Principal Risk report and ‘deep dives’
provide assurance on the risks which are being assessed and managed effectively
Operational risks are assessed at directorate level. It is recognised that a significant
operational risk can become a risk to the achievement of Clinical Commissioning Group
objectives. To mitigate against this the Clinical Commissioning Group as part of the Risk
Management framework captures and assesses the following information for each
operational risk:
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Inherent risk score
Controls in place
Gaps in controls – Assessment of effectiveness of controls
Source and type of assurance
Current risk score, following application of controls
Further actions planned to mitigate the risks, including owner and timescale
Target risk score
Statement on whether the risk score is an acceptable level of risk
If not acceptable, what other actions are required.

The table below details the Strategic Risks for the Clinical Commissioning Group:
Strategic Risk 1:

Failure of the Clinical Commissioning Group to ensure delivery of safe, high quality
and effective services from appropriately commissioned providers

Strategic Risk 2:

Failure to establish an adequate and appropriate commissioning plan that is
informed by member practices

Strategic Risk 3:

Inability to achieve engagement/buy-in from our external stakeholders to ensure
appropriate collaboration in developing plans that manage, meet and maintain their
expectations

Strategic Risk 4:

Failure of the Clinical Commissioning Group to manage the financial budget and
meet its financial target

Strategic Risk 5:

Failure to implement key work streams to ensure delivery of the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s strategic plan

Review of Economy, Efficiency & Effectiveness of the Use of Resources
To ensure the Clinical Commissioning Group resources are used economically, efficiently and
effectively the Clinical Commissioning Group has implemented processes, which are
described below:
1. The Clinical Commissioning Group has agreed its prime and detailed financial policies,
which set out the systems to be adhered to in order to ensure that resources are
used efficiently
2. Developed and implemented strategic and operational plans, which include an
agreed annual budget approved by the Governing Body
3. Contracts with providers that use the national standard NHS contract and include
detailed finance, activity and quality schedules. The contracts require providers to
innovate to improve quality and efficiency
4. Comprehensive programme of contract monitoring, covering all aspects of
performance, quality, activity and finance against agreed plans
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5. Corporate wide process for the development and review of business cases for
investment. Processes includes assessment of value for money and contribution to
the achievement of Clinical Commissioning Group objectives
6. Reports on finance and quality presented on a monthly basis to the Governing Body,
with actions identified when performance is off track
7. Report on identified key financial risks to bi-monthly meetings of the Governance and
Audit Committee
8. Implementation of an internal audit programme that is targeted at the strategic risks
and key financial control processes
9. Annual fraud risk assessment undertaken by an independent party, providing
recommendations for key actions
10. Comprehensive suite of Fraud and Bribery policies agreed and in place with local
counter fraud specialist in place delivering an agreed work plan
11. Requirement as part of mandatory training that all staff undertake counter fraud
training.
Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management & Internal Control
As Accountable Officer I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the Clinical Commissioning Group.
Capacity to Handle Risk
As Chief Executive I have overall responsibility for risk management within the organisation.
The Director of Nursing and Quality has delegated management responsibility for clinical
risk. The Chief Finance Officer has delegated management responsibility for financial risk. I
am supported in my role by the Governance and Corporate Affairs Team and in particular,
the Head of Risk Management. The GP Governing Body members undertake an important
role in leading key work streams to ensure that the organisation’s objectives are met.
All Executive Directors are responsible for ensuring that key and emerging strategic risks are
identified, assessed and managed. They also monitor the effectiveness of risk assessment,
mitigating actions and assurances in place. The Directorate teams are responsible for
reviewing their work areas to identify risks to the achievement of objectives and to put in
place actions to mitigate these.
The Risk Management Framework and Guidance and Serious Incidents Requiring
Investigation Policy clearly describe the responsibilities of all Clinical Commissioning Group
staff appropriate to their authority and duties. Members of the Governing Body have
attended specific training in risk management. Risk management training is mandatory for
all managers and staff, risk management and incident reporting is also included in the
general induction arrangements for all staff.
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Review of Effectiveness
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of
the Internal Auditors, the Executive Directors and Clinical Leads within the Clinical
Commissioning Group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me and
my review is also informed by comments made by the External Auditors in their annual audit
letter and other reports.
The Strategic Risk Register itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls
that manage risks to the Clinical Commissioning Group achieving its principal objectives have
been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Governance and Audit Committee, the
Quality Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement
of the system is in place.
The process to maintain and review the effectiveness of the system of internal control
includes the following:





bi-monthly reports to the Governing Body
bi-monthly scrutiny at the Governance and Audit Committee
quarterly Quality Committee
full Internal Audit Programme, developed in conjunction with the senior
management team and the Governance and Audit Committee.

The Governing Body regularly reviews progress against the risks identified as Strategic Risks
to ensure that identified actions are implemented in a timely manner. The Governance and
Audit Committee has regularly reviewed the principal risks, receives reports on assessments
undertaken by the Clinical Commissioning Group’s Internal and External Auditors and
monitors its system of financial control. This includes follow up of audit recommendations
through the use of an Action Tracker. The Governance and Audit Committee also has a
programme of ‘deep dives’ for each Strategic Risk, asking the relevant Executive Director to
attend to present the risk, controls and assurances. These processes enable scrutiny of the
actions planned to deal with any internal control issues, including gaps in control or
assurance. The Internal Audit in the area of Risk Management and Assurance has given
positive assurance on the effectiveness of the systems.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has assured itself as to the validity of its Governance
Statement by ensuring the Governance and Audit Committee reviewed it, seeking the input
from the Executive Team, Internal Audit and External Audit. The Governance and Audit
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Committee in supporting the statement has taken into consideration assurances from
internal audit reports as well as its review of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s principal
risks.
The Head of Internal Audit provides me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for
gaining assurance through the Strategic Risk Register and Risk Controls and Assurance
Dashboard and on the controls reviewed as part of the Internal Audit work. Executive
Directors within the organisation with responsibility for the development and maintenance
of the system of internal control also provide me with assurance. The Governance Report
provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage the risks to the
organisation to achieve its objectives have been reviewed. My review is also informed by:











The annual work programme of Internal Audit and, in particular, their opinion on the
system of internal control and the Risk Management processes and recognition of
the leadership team involvement in the Governing Body and relevant committees
Specific risk data reports, such as incidents and complaints, which also focus on
positive aspects as well as any learning opportunities
For commissioned services specific risk data is received from providers including
incident reports, complaints and performance reports
Performance management through robust contract and quality monitoring,
supported by a comprehensive programme of quality assurance visits
Counter Fraud assurance through an annual fraud risk assessment and the
implementation of its recommendations
Formal reports from the Clinical Commissioning Group’s Internal and External Audit
Auditors;
Central Eastern Commissioning Support Unit Service Auditor Reports
Providers’ Registration with the Care Quality Commission and their reports;
The final submission of the Information Governance Toolkit.

The Clinical Commissioning Group has received and reviewed the Central Eastern
Commissioning Support Unit Audit Assurance letter. The letter identified some areas
requiring management action but due to the limited number of services that the Clinical
Commissioning Group received between April until September 2014 from Central Eastern
Commissioning Support Unit, the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assessment is that the
identified areas do not have a detrimental impact on its Annual Governance Statement or
any other Statement.
As part of my review of the effectiveness of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s risk
management and internal control processes I have considered one work stream that had the
potential to generate a high level risk for the organisation. This was:
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move of services from Central Eastern Commissioning Support Unit into the Clinical
Commissioning Group.

I have reviewed how the Clinical Commissioning Group managed the risks associated with
these areas and the systems and processes used to mitigate the risks’ impact or likelihood. I
am assured by my review of these areas that the Clinical Commissioning Group had a sound
system of internal control and this gives me confidence of the wider processes the Clinical
Commissioning Group has in place to manage risk.
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the Clinical
Commissioning Group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s system of
risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded
that:

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion
The purpose of my annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the assurances
available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body, which underpin the Governing
Body’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control.
This Opinion will in turn assist the Governing Body in the completion of its Annual
Governance Statement.
My opinion is set out as follows:
Based on the work undertaken in 2014/2015, significant assurance can be given that there is
a generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives,
and that controls are generally being applied consistently. However, some weaknesses were
identified that put the achievement of particular objectives at risk.
Whilst we have not issued any RED rated reports during the course of the year we did
identify a small number of areas where we could only provide some assurance (amber red),
and whilst these were not sufficiently significant to impact on the overall effectiveness of
internal controls, they did require action to be taken to address the weaknesses identified.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has put in place a robust system of recommendation
tracking to address any weaknesses identified through the Internal Audit process, and this is
subject to independent review by Internal Audit and the Governance and Audit Committee.
The above opinion can be considered as though we are providing an unqualified opinion.
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Data Quality
The Clinical Commissioning Group undertakes monthly validation of all Secondary Uses
Service data for all contracted providers against a comprehensive list of validation rules.
There is also a monthly Organisational Performance and Delivery Day held with Governing
Body members to discuss and resolve a range of issues associated with the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s main providers, including data quality and validation issues.
Commissioning Information Groups are held with all the main acute and community
providers to discuss and agree improvements in performance and data quality issues.
Data Quality Improvement Plans have been agreed with all the main providers and
monitored at the Commissioning Information Data Groups on a monthly or quarterly basis.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has purchased Methods Stethoscope to assist in the
comparison and benchmarking of the Clinical Commissioning Group and Trust performance
against the national Outcomes Framework. The organisation also has access to the national
Hospital Episode Statistics data, through Mede/Analytics, to undertake bespoke comparative
data analysis.
Quality Assurance of Business Critical Models
The Clinical Commissioning Group uses activity models that are based on official
Government produced information, for example, population demographics, provided by the
Office for National Statistics. It is assumed that the Office for National Statistics, as a
nationally recognised body will have undertaken quality assurance processes with regard to
construction of these models. The Clinical Commissioning Group also undertakes trend
analysis based on Hospital Episode Statistics to help inform commissioning and contracting
plans.
The Clinical Commissioning Group currently uses a local risk stratification model that was
jointly developed across the health and social care organisations in Hertfordshire with PI
Benchmark. This model is used to identify a discrete group of patients who are at risk of
being admitted to hospital as an emergency for local initiatives such as Home First. The
patients identified by this model are followed up by clinicians as part of a clinical review
process to provide assurance only patients suitable for the schemes developed are followed
up.
The Clinical Commissioning Group does not use any other sophisticated models beyond
those described above.
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Data Security
A risk management process is in place to identify and manage information risks through the
Senior Information Risk Owner. This consists of proactive risk assessments on key
information assets, investigation of information related incidents and review of information
related complaints. The standard of information security is continually increasing and
Information Governance training, which is mandatory for all staff has significantly increased
staff awareness and compliance with Clinical Commissioning Group policies. It has also
increased awareness of the need to report incidents but these have not highlighted any
major weakness in our information security standards.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has undertaken an assessment of its position against the
Information Governance Toolkit v12. We have submitted a Satisfactory level of compliance,
which evaluated that the organisation achieved level 2 or above on all Requirements.
Policies and processes for the management of information have been agreed at the
Information Governance Forum and ratified by the Governance and Audit Committee.
Summary Lapses in Data Security 2014/15
All incidents were investigated and reported in accordance with Department of Health
guidelines. During 2014/15 there has been one incident for the Clinical Commissioning
Group relating to data loss or confidentiality breaches reported to the Information
Commissioner’s Office.
Summary of Serious Untoward Incidents involving personal data as reported to the Information
Commissioner’s Office in 2014/15
Date of Incident:

Nature of Incident:

Nature of Data Involved:

27 August 2014

Loss of patient
documents from
waste paper bin
marked “Shred It”
disposed of in
general waste








Further Action on
information risk:

NHS numbers
Patient names
Date of birth
GP Surgery
Details of elective
procedure
Possibility of various
related documents
including referral letters
and some medical
history

Notification Steps:
A staff meeting held to notify
staff of incident and stress the
importance of confidentiality &
Information Governance
mandatory training

Level 2 breach – reported to the
Information Commissioners
Office

New arrangements agreed with cleaning contractors, including the removal of keys for
locked office
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Summary of other Personal Data related incidents in 2014/15
Category

Nature of Incident

Total

I

Loss of inadequately protected electronic equipment, devices or paper
documents from secured NHS premises

0

II

Loss of inadequately protected electronic equipment, devices or paper
documents from outside secured NHS premises

0

III

Insecure disposal of inadequately protected electronic equipment,
devices or paper documents

0

IV

Unauthorised disclosure

0

V

Other

0

Discharge of Statutory Functions
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the Clinical Commissioning Group
and explained within the Corporate Governance Framework were developed in line with
guidance from NHS England and input from Internal Audit and Counter Fraud services, to
ensure compliance with relevant legislation. That guidance and advice also informed the
matters reserved for the Membership Body, Governing Body decisions and the Scheme of
Delegation.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers
conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated
legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the Clinical Commissioning Group
is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for
which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Executive
Director. Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability
and capacity to undertake all of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory duties.
Conclusion
As Accountable Officer, and based on the review processes outlined above, I can confirm
that the Annual Governance Statement is a balanced reflection of the actual controls
position and there are no significant internal control issues identified for the Clinical
Commissioning Group.
Lesley Watts
Accountable Officer, NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group
28 May 2015
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Glossary
BME

Black, Minority and Ethnic

IG

Information Governance

CAMHS

Child and Adolescent Mental Health
Service

IP

Inpatient

CATCH

Cambridgeshire Association to
Commission Health

JCT

Joint Commissioning Team

CCG

Clinical Commissioning Group

JSNA

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

C.Diff

Clostridium difficile

LMC

Local Medical Committee

CECSU

Central Eastern Commissioning
Support Unit

LOC

Local Ophthalmic Committee

CHC

Continuing Healthcare

LPC

Local Pharmaceutical Committee

CIs

Commissioning Intentions

LTC

Long Term Condition

COPD

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary
Disease

MH

Mental Health

CQC

Care Quality Commission

MIU

Minor Injury Unit

CQUIN

Commissioning for Quality and
Innovation

MP

Member of Parliament

CSU

Commissioning Support Unit

MRSA

Meticillin Resistant Staphylococcus
Aureus

DH

Department of Health

NHS AT

NHS England Area Team

EEAST

East of England Ambulance Service
NHS Trust

NICE

National Institute for Health and Care
Excellence

ENHCCG

East & North Hertfordshire Clinical
Commissioning Group

OOH

Out of Hours

ENHT

East and North Hertfordshire NHS
Trust

OP

Outpatient

EoL

End of Life

PAH

Princess Alexandra Hospital, Harlow

GP

General Practitioner

PPG

Patient Participation Group

HAIs

Healthcare Associated Infections

Q1/2/3/4

Denotes which quarter of the financial
year (April –March) is referred to

HCC

Hertfordshire County Council

QIPP

Quality, Innovation, Prevention and
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Productivity
HCT

Hertfordshire Community Trust

QP

Quality premium

HPFT

Hertfordshire Partnerships Foundation
Trust

RTT

Referral to treatment

HSMR

Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio

SHMI

Summary Hospital-level Mortality
Indicator

HVCCG

Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning
Group

SI

Serious Incident

HWB

Health and Wellbeing Board
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NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG
Annual Accounts 2014-15
Independent auditors’ report to the Members of East and North
Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group
Report on the financial statements
Our opinion
In our opinion the financial statements, defined below:
•

give a true and fair view, of the state of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2015 and
of its net operating costs and cash flows for the year then ended; and

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by the NHS Commissioning
Board with the approval of the Secretary of State as being relevant to the National Health Service in England.

This opinion is to be read in the context of what we say in the remainder of this report.

What we have audited
The financial statements, which are prepared by East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (“CCG”),
comprise:
•

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2015;

•

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2015;

•

Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for the year ended 31 March 2015;

•

the Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2015; and

•

Notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

st

st

st

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the accounting policies directed by the NHS
Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State as being relevant to the National Health Service in
England.
In applying the financial reporting framework, the Accountable Officer has made a number of subjective judgements, for
example in respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they have made assumptions and
considered future events.
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit, being:
•

the table of salaries and allowances and senior managers and related narrative notes on pages 87-90;

•

the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes on pages 91-92; and

•

the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes on page 93.

What an audit of financial statements involves
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”). An
audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of:
•

whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances and have been consistently
applied and adequately disclosed;
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•

the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Accountable Officer; and

•

the overall presentation of the financial statements.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 to identify
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If
we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
We are also required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and income reported
in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions
conform to the authorities which govern them.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion:
•

the information given in the Annual Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
is consistent with the financial statements;

•

the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
requirements directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State.

•

in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial statements have been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit
Commission requires us to report to you if:
•

in our opinion, the Governance Statement does not comply with the Annual Accounts guidance 2014/15, issued
on 24 February 2015 by the NHS Commissioning Board or is misleading or inconsistent with information of which
we are aware from our audit;

•

we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 19 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 because the CCG,
or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is about to
take, or has taken, unlawful action likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or

•

we issue a report in the public interest under section 8 of the Audit Commission Act 1998.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Our responsibilities and those of the Accountable Officer
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities set out on page 102 the Accountable
Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view in accordance with the accounting policies directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the
Secretary of State.
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with Part II of the Audit
Commission Act 1998, the Code of Audit Practice 2010 for local NHS bodies issued by the Audit Commission and ISAs (UK &
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Governing Body of East and North Hertfordshire
CCG in accordance with Part II of the Audit Commission Act 1998 as set out in paragraph 44 of the Statement of
Responsibilities of Auditors and of Audited Bodies (Local NHS bodies) published by the Audit Commission in April 2014, and
for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any
other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior
consent in writing.
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Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources
Conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Audit Commission on 13 October 2014, we have no
matters to report with respect to whether, East and North Hertfordshire CCG put in place proper arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 2015.

What a review of the arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources involves
We have undertaken our audit in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance issued by the
Audit Commission on 13 October 2014, as to whether the CCG has proper arrangements for:
•

securing financial resilience; and

•

challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

The Audit Commission has determined these two criteria as those necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit
Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2015.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such
work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant respects, the Trust had put in place proper
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Our responsibilities and those of the CCG
The CCG is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use
of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of
these arrangements.
We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued
by the Audit Commission requires us to report to you any matters that prevent us being satisfied that the CCG has put in
place such arrangements, having regard to the criteria specified by the Audit Commission on 13 October 2014.
We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding that the CCG has put in place
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to
consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of East and North Hertfordshire CCG in accordance
with the requirements of Part II of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit
Commission.

Anna Blackman (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Southampton
Date:
(a) The maintenance and integrity of the East and North Hertfordshire CCG website is the responsibility of the
directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly,
the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since
they were initially presented on the website.
(b) Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2014-15
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2015
Note
Total Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net operating expenditure before interest

2014-15
£000

2013-14
£000

4.1.1
5
2

10,884
627,879
(11,027)
627,736

4,471
598,238
(9,287)
593,422

Investment Revenue
Other (gains)/losses
Finance costs
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

8
9
10

0
0
0
627,736

0
0
0
593,422

Net (gain)/loss on transfers by absorption
Total Net Expenditure for the year

11

0
627,736

0
593,422

4.1.1
5
2

10,121
5,931
(4,253)
11,799

4,471
6,505
(180)
10,796

4.1.1
5
2

763
621,948
(6,774)
615,937

0
591,733
(9,107)
582,626

Of which:
Administration Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net administration costs before interest
Programme Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net programme expenditure before interest
Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Impairments and reversals
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant & equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Movements in other reserves
Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on assets held for sale
Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pension schemes
Share of (profit)/loss of associates and joint ventures
Reclassification Adjustments
On disposal of available for sale financial assets
Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year

2014-15
£000
22

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
627,736

2013-14
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
593,422

The notes on pages 135 to 177 form part of this statement
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NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2014-15
Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2015
31 March 2015
Note

31 March 2014

£000

£000

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment property
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Total non-current assets

13
14
15
17
18

906
0
0
0
0
906

0
0
0
0
0
0

Current assets:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

16
17
18
19
20

0
9,702
0
0
167
9,869

0
6,740
0
0
10
6,750

Non-current assets held for sale

21

0

0

9,869

6,750

10,775

6,750

(42,087)
0
0
0
(984)
(43,071)

(38,385)
0
0
0
(518)
(38,903)

(32,296)

(32,153)

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

(32,296)

(32,153)

Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

23
24
25
26
30

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current
Assets/Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
Assets less Liabilities

23
24
25
26
30
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Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Charitable Reserves
Total taxpayers' equity:

(32,296)
0
0
0
(32,296)

(32,153)
0
0
0
(32,153)

The notes on pages 135 to 177 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 129 to 135 were approved by the Governing Body on 28
May and signed on its behalf by:

…………………………………..
Chief Accountable Officer
Lesley Watts
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NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2014-15
Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended 31 March 2015
General fund
£000

Revaluation reserve
£000

Other
reserves
£000

Total reserves
£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Balance at 1 April 2014
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2014

(32,153)
0
(32,153)

0
0
0

0
0
0

(32,153)
0
(32,153)

(627,736)

0

0

(627,736)

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(627,736)
627,593
(32,296)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(627,736)
627,593
(32,296)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve
Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2015
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General fund
£000

Revaluation reserve
£000

Other
reserves
£000

Total reserves
£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Balance at 1 April 2013
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013 transition
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2013

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

(593,422)

0

0

(593,422)

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(593,422)
561,269
(32,153)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(593,422)
561,269
(32,153)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Net operating costs for the financial year
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve
Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2014

The notes on pages 135 to 177 form part of this statement
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NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2014-15
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2015
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2015
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption
Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Interest paid
Release of PFI deferred credit
Other Gains & Losses
Finance Costs
Unwinding of Discounts
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase) in trade & other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities
Provisions utilised
Increase in provisions
Net Cash (Outflow) from Operating Activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health
(Payments) for other financial assets
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)
Loans made in respect of LIFT
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT
Rental revenue
Net Cash (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash (Outflow) before Financing

5
5

17
23
30
30

2014-15
£000

2013-14
£000

(627,736)
228
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(2,961)
0
3,702
0
(216)
681
(626,302)

(593,422)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(6,740)
0
38,385
0
0
518
(561,259)

0
(1,134)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(1,134)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(627,436)

(561,259)
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Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received
Other loans received
Other loans repaid
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of
Financial Position PFI and LIFT
Capital grants and other capital receipts
Capital receipts surrendered
Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities
Net Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents
held in foreign currencies
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the
Financial Year

20

627,593
0
0

561,269
0
0

0
0
0
627,593

0
0
0
561,269

157

10

10

0

0

0

167

10

The notes on pages 135 to 177 form part of this statement

Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet
the accounting requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health.
Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Manual
for Accounts 2014-15 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the
Manual for Accounts follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are
meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which
is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Manual for Accounts permits a
choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the
particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair
view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are
described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in
relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a
service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in
published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will
continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining
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whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services will
continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the
revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial
assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector.
Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to
be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line
with the Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial
Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have
been accounted for under merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting
requires that entities account for their transactions in the period in which they took place, with no
restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector. Where
assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in
line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.

1.5

Charitable Funds
From 2014-15, the divergence from the Government Financial Reporting Manual that NHS Charitable
Funds are not consolidated with bodies’ own returns is removed. Under the provisions of IAS 27:
Consolidated & Separate Financial Statements, those Charitable Funds that fall under common
control with NHS bodies are consolidated within the entities’ accounts.

1.6

Pooled Budgets
Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under
Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 the clinical commissioning group accounts for its
share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled
budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.
If the clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the clinical commissioning
group recognises:
·
The assets the clinical commissioning group controls;
·
The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs;
·
The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs; and,
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.
If the clinical commissioning group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in
addition to the above, the clinical commissioning group recognises:
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified
according to the nature of the assets);
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.
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1.7

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually
reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

1.7.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
There are no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that
management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting
policies.

1.7.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the
clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

1.7.2.1

Prescription Services
The CCG receives financial information from NHS Business Services Authority relating to the cost of
drugs prescribed by independent GPs, CCG run practices and other CCG services. The total
expenditure for the year includes estimates for February and March, based on the estimated profile
of spend. The estimate for February and March 2014-15 is £12.4m (2013-14 £12.3m).

1.7.2.2

Secondary Healthcare
Secondary activity reports are received from providers monthly, but activity information for the final
month of the year is not available in time for the accounts, so estimates are made in agreement with
providers. A full reconciliation is undertaken once actual activity is agreed which is at the end of the
first quarter of the following year. Any increase or decrease in activity (if any) becomes a charge or
credit in the next financial year. Historically, when these estimates have been compared to the
subsequent actual data, they have not been materially different. Estimate techniques are used to
ensure that the correct levels of income and expenditure due relating to the current year are
included through the inclusion of accruals based on known commitments and local knowledge.

1.8

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance
occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that
income is deferred.

1.9

Employee Benefits

1.9.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service
is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the
financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the
following period.
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1.9.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme
is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other
bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is
not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the
underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a
defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in the
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not
funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to
expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless
of the method of payment.

1.10

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have
been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has
a present legal or constructive obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the
payment have been met.

1.11

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.11.1

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·
It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied
to the clinical commissioning group;
·
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of
more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous
purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial
control; or,
·
Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit,
irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly
different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own
useful economic lives.

1.11.2

Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly
attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are
measured subsequently at fair value.
Land and buildings used for the clinical commissioning group’s services or for administrative
purposes are stated in the statement of financial position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair
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value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not
materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair
values are determined as follows:
·
Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
·
Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on
modern equivalent assets and, where it would meet the location requirements of the service being
provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost,
less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are
recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be
materially different from fair value.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an
impairment for the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to
expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does
not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged
to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and,
thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic
benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported
as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.11.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly
attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original
specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is
written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.12

Intangible Assets

1.12.1

Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale
separately from the rest of the clinical commissioning group’s business or which arise from
contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only:
·
When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be
provided to, the clinical commissioning group;
·
Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
·
Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to
the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant
item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware,
for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not
capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internallygenerated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
·
The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for
use;
·
The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
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·
The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
·
How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service
potential;
·
The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
intangible asset and sell or use it; and,
·
The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during
its development.
1.12.2

Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the
expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internallygenerated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it
is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at fair value by reference to an active
market, or, where no active market exists, at amortised replacement cost (modern equivalent assets
basis), indexed for relevant price increases, as a proxy for fair value. Internally-developed software is
held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in development costs and
technological advances.

1.13

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property,
plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated
useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of
the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning
group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the
clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated
useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes
recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any
indication that any of its tangible or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to
determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for
use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is
recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance
on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear
consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable
amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial
impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the
decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.14

Donated Assets
Donated non-current assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt, with a matching credit to
Income. They are valued, depreciated and impaired as described above for purchased assets. Gains
and losses on revaluations, impairments and sales are as described above for purchased assets.
Deferred income is recognised only where conditions attached to the donation preclude immediate
recognition of the gain.
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1.15

Government Grants
The value of assets received by means of a government grant are credited directly to income.
Deferred income is recognised only where conditions attached to the grant preclude immediate
recognition of the gain.

1.16

Non-current Assets Held For Sale
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met
when:
·
The sale is highly probable;
·
The asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition; and,
·
Management is committed to the sale, which is expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of classification.
Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell. Fair value is open market value including alternative uses.
The profit or loss arising on disposal of an asset is the difference between the sale proceeds and the
carrying amount and is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. On disposal,
the balance for the asset on the revaluation reserve is transferred to the general reserve.
Property, plant and equipment that is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition
as held for sale. Instead, it is retained as an operational asset and its economic life is adjusted. The
asset is de-recognised when it is scrapped or demolished.

1.17

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.17.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of
the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a
matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between
finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical
commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and
individually assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases.

1.17.2

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the
clinical commissioning group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the clinical commissioning
group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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1.18

Private Finance Initiative Transactions
HM Treasury has determined that government bodies shall account for infrastructure Private Finance
Initiative (PFI) schemes where the government body controls the use of the infrastructure and the
residual interest in the infrastructure at the end of the arrangement as service concession
arrangements, following the principles of the requirements of IFRIC 12. The clinical commissioning
group therefore recognises the PFI asset as an item of property, plant and equipment together with a
liability to pay for it. The services received under the contract are recorded as operating expenses.
The annual unitary payment is separated into the following component parts, using appropriate
estimation techniques where necessary:
·
Payment for the fair value of services received;
·
Payment for the PFI asset, including finance costs; and,
·
Payment for the replacement of components of the asset during the contract ‘lifecycle
replacement’.

1.18.1

Services Received
The fair value of services received in the year is recorded under the relevant expenditure headings
within ‘operating expenses’.

1.18.2

PFI Asset
The PFI assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment, when they come into use. The assets
are measured initially at fair value in accordance with the principles of IAS17. Subsequently, the
assets are measured at fair value, which is kept up to date in accordance with the clinical
commissioning group’s approach for each relevant class of asset in accordance with the principles of
IAS 16.

1.18.3

PFI Liability
A PFI liability is recognised at the same time as the PFI assets are recognised. It is measured initially
at the same amount as the fair value of the PFI assets and is subsequently measured as a finance
lease liability in accordance with IAS 17.
An annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate in the lease to the opening
lease liability for the period, and is charged to ‘finance costs’ within the Statement of Comprehensive
Net Expenditure.
The element of the annual unitary payment that is allocated as a finance lease rental is applied to
meet the annual finance cost and to repay the lease liability over the contract term.
An element of the annual unitary payment increase due to cumulative indexation is allocated to the
finance lease. In accordance with IAS 17, this amount is not included in the minimum lease
payments, but is instead treated as contingent rent and is expensed as incurred. In substance, this
amount is a finance cost in respect of the liability and the expense is presented as a contingent
finance cost in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

1.18.4

Lifecycle Replacement
Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) are
capitalised where they meet the clinical commissioning group’s criteria for capital expenditure. They
are capitalised at the time they are provided by the operator and are measured initially at their fair
value.
The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is pre-determined for
each year of the contract from the operator’s planned programme of lifecycle replacement. Where
the lifecycle component is provided earlier or later than expected, a short-term finance lease liability
or prepayment is recognised respectively.
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Where the fair value of the lifecycle component is less than the amount determined in the contract,
the difference is recognised as an expense when the replacement is provided. If the fair value is
greater than the amount determined in the contract, the difference is treated as a ‘free’ asset and a
deferred income balance is recognised. The deferred income is released to the operating income
over the shorter of the remaining contract period or the useful economic life of the replacement
component.
1.18.5

Assets Contributed by the Clinical Commissioning Group to the Operator For Use in the Scheme
Assets contributed for use in the scheme continue to be recognised as items of property, plant and
equipment in the clinical commissioning group’s Statement of Financial Position.

1.18.6

Other Assets Contributed by the Clinical Commissioning Group to the Operator
Assets contributed (e.g. cash payments, surplus property) by the clinical commissioning group to the
operator before the asset is brought into use, which are intended to defray the operator’s capital
costs, are recognised initially as prepayments during the construction phase of the contract.
Subsequently, when the asset is made available to the clinical commissioning group, the prepayment
is treated as an initial payment towards the finance lease liability and is set against the carrying value
of the liability.

1.19

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out cost
formula. This is considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of
stocks.

1.20

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice
of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from
the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant
risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash
management.

1.21

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical commissioning group will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation,
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as
follows:
·
Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.50%
·
Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.05%
·
Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Plus 2.20%
·
All employee early departures: 1.30%
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a
detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it
will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to
those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct
expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily
entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.
1.22

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning
group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical
negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority
is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the
clinical commissioning group.

1.23

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to
Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group
pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with
the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in
respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.24

Continuing healthcare risk pooling
The accounting arrangements for balances transferred from predecessor PCTs ("legacy" balances) are
determined by the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014. The Accounts
Directions state that the only legacy balances to be accounted for by the CCG are in respect of
property, plant and equipment (and related liabilities) and inventories. All other legacy balances in
respect of assets or liabilities arising from transactions or delivery of care prior to 31 March 2013 are
accounted for by NHS England.
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims,
for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013. Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute
annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.25

Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme
Carbon Reduction Commitment and similar allowances are accounted for as government grant
funded intangible assets if they are not expected to be realised within twelve months, and otherwise
as other current assets. They are valued at open market value. As the clinical commissioning group
makes emissions, a provision is recognised with an offsetting transfer from deferred income. The
provision is settled on surrender of the allowances. The asset, provision and deferred income
amounts are valued at fair value at the end of the reporting period.

1.26

Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not
recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the
amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed
unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
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within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an
inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
1.27

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial
instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been
delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset
has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
·
Held to maturity investments;
·
Available for sale financial assets; and,
·
Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the
time of initial recognition.

1.27.1

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and
contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as
financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant
gain or loss recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus or deficit for the year.
The net gain or loss incorporates any interest earned on the financial asset.

1.27.2

Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturity, and there is a positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. After
initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.27.3

Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available
for sale or that do not fall within any of the other three financial asset classifications. They are
measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the exception of
impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.

1.27.4

Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which
are not quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective
interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by
valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial
assets, other than those held at ‘fair value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are
impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of
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one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash
flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure
and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount
of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
1.28

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical
commissioning group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in
the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are
de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has
expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities
are initially recognised at fair value.

1.28.1

Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
·
The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative
amortisation; and,
·
The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37:
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

1.28.2

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and
contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant
gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss
incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.

1.28.3

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, except for loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic
cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is
recognised using the effective interest method.

1.29

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in
general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT
is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
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1.30

Foreign Currencies
The clinical commissioning group’s functional currency and presentational currency is sterling.
Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate
ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting
exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s
surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise.

1.31

Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the
accounts since the clinical commissioning group has no beneficial interest in them.

1.32

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed
funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should
not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of
payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are
handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an
accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the
clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being
included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.33

Subsidiaries
Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has the power to exercise control so as
to obtain economic or other benefits are classified as subsidiaries and are consolidated. Their income
and expenses; gains and losses; assets, liabilities and reserves; and cash flows are consolidated in full
into the appropriate financial statement lines. Appropriate adjustments are made on consolidation
where the subsidiary’s accounting policies are not aligned with the clinical commissioning group or
where the subsidiary’s accounting date is not co-terminus.
Subsidiaries that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount
or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.

1.34

Associates
Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has the power to exercise significant
influence so as to obtain economic or other benefits are classified as associates and are recognised in
the clinical commissioning group’s accounts using the equity method. The investment is recognised
initially at cost and is adjusted subsequently to reflect the clinical commissioning group’s share of the
entity’s profit/loss and other gains/losses. It is also reduced when any distribution is received by the
clinical commissioning group from the entity.
Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount
or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.

1.35

Joint Ventures
Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has joint control with one or more
other parties so as to obtain economic or other benefits are classified as joint ventures. Joint
ventures are accounted for using the equity method.
Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount
or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.
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1.36

Joint Operations
Joint operations are activities undertaken by the clinical commissioning group in conjunction with
one or more other parties but which are not performed through a separate entity. The clinical
commissioning group records its share of the income and expenditure; gains and losses; assets and
liabilities; and cash flows.

1.37

Research & Development
Research and development expenditure is charged in the year in which it is incurred, except insofar
as development expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the benefits of it can reasonably
be regarded as assured. Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of future benefits expected
and is amortised through the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure on a systematic basis
over the period expected to benefit from the project. It should be re-valued on the basis of current
cost. The amortisation is calculated on the same basis as depreciation.

1.38

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and
Interpretations to be applied in 2014-15, all of which are subject to consultation:
·
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
·
IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement
·
IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts
·
IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for
2014-15, were they applied in that year.
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2 Other Operating Revenue

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Patient transport services
Prescription fees and charges
Dental fees and charges
Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to revenue
expenditure: NHS
Charitable and other contributions to revenue
expenditure: non-NHS
Receipt of donations for capital acquisitions: NHS
Charity
Receipt of Government grants for capital
acquisitions
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Income generation
Rental revenue from finance leases
Rental revenue from operating leases
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2014-15
Total

2014-15
Admin

2014-15
Programme

2013-14
Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

0
0
0
0
8

0
0
0
0
8

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
10,836
0
0
0
183
11,027

0
4,129
0
0
0
116
4,253

0
6,707
0
0
0
67
6,774

0
9,243
0
0
0
43
9,287

Most of the programme income relates to IVF services which were commissioned by the CCG on behalf of a
number of other CCGs up until the end of November 2014.
Admin revenue relates to various hosted services provided by the CCG, from 1st October 2014, to a number of
other CCGs and NHS Trusts such as Information Management and Technology, and is revenue received that is
not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

3 Revenue

From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

2014-15
Total
£000
11,027
0
11,027

2014-15
Admin
£000
4,253
0
4,253

2014-15
Programme
£000
6,774
0
6,774

2013-14
Total
£000
9,287
0
9,287
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2014-15

Total

Admin

Programme

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

9,269
681
934
0
0
0
0
10,884

6,945
681
934
0
0
0
0
8,560

2,324
0
0
0
0
0
0
2,324

8,603
650
868
0
0
0
0
10,121

6,445
650
868
0
0
0
0
7,963

2,158
0
0
0
0
0
0
2,158

666
31
66
0
0
0
0
763

500
31
66
0
0
0
0
597

166
0
0
0
0
0
0
166

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
(note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including
capitalised costs

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

10,884

8,560

2,324

10,121

7,963

2,158

763

597

166

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
10,884

0
8,560

0
2,324

0
10,121

0
7,963

0
2,158

0
763

0
597

0
166
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4.1.1a Employee benefits 2013/14

2013-14
Total
£000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Total
Permanent
Employees
£000

Other
£000

3,592
321
421
0
0
0
137
4,471

3,125
321
421
0
0
0
137
4,004

467

Admin
Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

Other
£000

Programme
Permanent
Employees
Other
£000
£000

Total
£000

3,125
321
421
0
0
0
137
4,004

467

467

3,592
321
421
0
0
0
137
4,471

467

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0

0

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note
4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including
capitalised costs

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4,471

4,004

467

4,471

4,004

467

0

0

0

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
4,471

0
4,004

0
467

0
4,471

0
4,004

0
467

0
0

0
0

0
0

Expenditure in 2014/15 is significantly higher than in 2013/14 because, during 2014, the CCG transferred over many teams and staff from the Central Eastern
Commissioning Support Unit.

4.1.2 There were no recoveries in respect of employee benefits in 2014/15 or 2013/14.
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4.2 Average number of people employed
2014-15
Permanently
employed
Number

Total
Number
Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time
equivalent people engaged
on capital projects

2013-14
Other
Number

Total
Number

198

158

40

50

0

0

0

0

The increase in staff numbers is due to the CCG taking services back in house and also taking on the
responsibility of hosting services (mainly ICT and financial services) from the CSU on 1st October 2014, and
providing on behalf of other CCGs and Trusts.

4.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2014-15
Number

2013-14
Number

Total Days Lost

1,390

195

Total Staff Years

120

35

Average working Days Lost

12

6

The figures shown are for the period 1st January to 31st December 2014 (2013-14, the period was 1st April to
31 December 2013).

Number of persons retired early on ill health
grounds

Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the
year

2014-15
Number

2013-14
Number

1

0

£000

£000

86

0

Ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS
Pension Scheme
Where the clinical commissioning group has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by the
clinical commissioning group and not by the NHS Pension Scheme and would be shown in note 4.4 below.
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4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

2014-15
Compulsory
redundancies
Number
£
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2014-15
Other agreed
departures
Number
£
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2014-15
Total
Number
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2013-14
Total
Number
2
0
0
0
0
0
0
2

£
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£
1,862
0
0
0
0
0
0
1,862

Departures where special payments have been made

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures

Voluntary redundancies including early
retirement contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS)
contractual costs
Early retirements in the efficiency of the
service contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment Tribunals
or court orders
Non-contractual payments requiring HMT
approval*
Total

2014/15
Number
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2013/14
Number
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Other agreed
departures
2014/15
Number

£

2013/14
Number

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

0

0

0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

£

£
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated
with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a previous year.
Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS Scheme.
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of
departure.
The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.
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4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits
payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies,
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run
in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical
commissioning group of participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme
for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from
those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that ''the
period between formal valuations shall be four years,with approximate assessments in intervening years''. An
outline of these follows:
4.5.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting
period .
This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership
and financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for
financial reporting purposes.
The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2015, is based on valuation data as at 31 March 2014, updated
to 31 March 2015 with summary global member and accounting data.
In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and
the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the Scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part
of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually. These accounts can
be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme
(taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending
31 March 2012.
The Scheme Regulations allow contrbution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of
HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer
representatives as deemed appropriate.

4.5.3 Scheme Provisions
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The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide
only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be
met before these benefits can be obtained:
The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of
the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of
reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations
have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.
With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax
free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as “pension
commutation”.
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are
based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year. From
2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) has been used and replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI).
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently
incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s
pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer.
Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the
Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.
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5. Operating expenses
2014-15
Total
£000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body
members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Inventories written down
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and
equipment
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets
Impairments and reversals of financial assets
·
Assets carried at amortised cost
·
Assets carried at cost
·
Available for sale financial assets
Impairments and reversals of non-current assets
held for sale
Impairments and reversals of investment
properties
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Internal audit services
·
Other services
General dental services and personal dental
services
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Grants to other public bodies

2014-15
Admin
£000

2014-15
Programme
£000

Restated
2013-14
Total
£000

9,143
1,741
10,884

8,380
1,741
10,121

763
0
763

2,971
1,500
4,471

3,762
52,796
335,999
0
143,788
170
0
3,481
974
2,685
1
2,622
0
0
228
0

1,573
0
0
0
0
170
0
1,756
172
1,039
1
461
0
0
228
0

2,189
52,796
335,999
0
143,788
0
0
1,725
802
1,646
0
2,161
0
0
0
0

5,185
35,512
335,421
8
143,083
169
0
133
261
353
2
1,553
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0

0

0

0

0
114

0
114

0
0

0
126

35
1

35
1

0
0

64
16

0
75,491
0
0
3,393

0
0
0
0
0

0
75,491
0
0
3,393

0
74,157
0
0
1,384

326
0

255
0

71
0

206
0
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Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Change in discount rate
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total other costs

0
0
144
0
681
891
297
627,879

0
0
126
0
0
0
0
5,931

0
0
18
0
681
891
297
621,948

0
0
35
0
0
0
570
598,238

Total operating expenses

638,763

16,052

622,711

602,709

2013-14
Number

2013-14
£000
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2014-15
Number

2014-15
£000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year

6,024

129,772

2,444

119,260

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid
within target

5,747

128,875

2,101

112,487

95.40%

99.31%

85.97%

94.32%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year

4,022

423,366

2,945

386,657

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within
target

3,401

413,689

2,489

379,138

84.56%

97.71%

84.52%

98.06%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30
days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts
(Interest) Act 1998
No payments were made in respect of claims under this legislation in 2014-15 and 2013-14.

7 Income Generation Activities
The clinical commissioning group has no income generation activities in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
8. Investment revenue
The clinical commissioning group had no investment revenue in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
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9. Other gains and losses
There were no gains or losses in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
10. Finance costs
There were no finance costs incurred in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption
There were no transferred functions that gave rise to a recognised gain or loss in 2014-15 and
2013-14.
12. Operating Leases
12.1 As lessee
The clinical commissioning group is a lessee to the premises at Charter House and Fountain House, both of
which are on Parkway, Welwyn Garden City, Hertfordshire. The lease for Charter House is for five years from
September 2013 and the lease for Fountain House is for two years from September 2014.
12.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Land
£000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total

Buildings
£000
0
0
0
0

2,548
0
0
2,548

Other
£000
20
0
0
20

2014-15
Total
£000
2,568
0
0
2,568

2013-14
Total
£000
1,511
0
0
1,511

The figures in the table above include payments to NHS Property Services for premises occupied by providers
of services to the clinical commissioning group not fully charged to the providers.
12.1.2 Future minimum lease
payments
Land
£000
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Buildings
£000
0
0
0
0

196
103
0
299

Other
£000
5
10
0
15

2014-15
Total
£000
201
113
0
314

2013-14
Total
£000
67
48
0
115

12.2 As lessor
There was no rental revenue in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
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£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Total

Furniture &
fittings

Information
technology

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

£000
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1,134
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
1,134
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
1,134

0
0

0
1,134

Depreciation 1 April 2014

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Reclassifications
Reclassified as held for sale and reversals
Disposals other than by sale
Upward revaluation gains
Impairments charged

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

Addition of assets under construction and
payments on account
Additions purchased
Additions donated
Additions government granted
Additions leased
Reclassifications
Reclassified as held for sale and reversals
Disposals other than by sale
Upward revaluation gains
Impairments charged
Reversal of impairments
Transfer (to)/from other public sector body
Cumulative depreciation adjustment following
revaluation
Cost/Valuation At 31 March 2015

£000

Plant &
machinery

0

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2014

£000

Transport
equipment

2014-15

Assets under
construction
and payments
on account

Dwellings

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Land

13 Property, plant and equipment
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Reversal of impairments
Charged during the year
Transfer (to)/from other public sector body
Cumulative depreciation adjustment following
revaluation
Depreciation at 31 March 2015

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
228
0

0
0
0

0
228
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
228

0
0

0
228

Net Book Value at 31 March 2015

0

0

0

0

0

0

906

0

906

Purchased
Donated
Government Granted

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

906
0
0

0
0
0

906
0
0

Total at 31 March 2015

0

0

0

0

0

0

906

0

906

Owned
Held on finance lease
On-SOFP Lift contracts
PFI residual: interests

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

906
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

906
0
0
0

Total at 31 March 2015

0

0

0

0

0

0

906

0

906

Asset financing:
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Total

Furniture &
fittings

Information
technology

Transport
equipment

Plant &
machinery

under
constructio
n&
payments
on account

Land

Buildings

Dwellings

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property,
Plant & Equipment

Balance at 1 April 2014

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

£000'
s
0

Revaluation gains
Impairments
Release to general fund
Other movements

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

At 31 March 2015

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's
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13 Property, plant and equipment cont'd
13.1 Additions to assets under construction
The clinical commissioning group did not have any assets under construction in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
13.2 Donated assets
The clinical commissioning group had no assets under construction in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
13.3 Government granted assets
The clinical commissioning group had no government granted assets in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
13.4 Property revaluation
The clinical commissioning group does not hold any property and therefore did not undertake any property
revaluation in 2014-15 or 2013-14.
13.5 Compensation from third parties
The clinical commissioning group received no compensation from third parties in 2014-15 and
2013-14.
13.6 Write downs to recoverable amount
The clinical commissioning group had no write downs in 2014-15 and 2013-14.

13.7 Temporarily idle assets
The clinical commissioning group had no temporarily idle assets in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
13.8 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets
The clinical commissioning group had no fully depreciated assets in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
13.9 Economic lives

Buildings excluding dwellings
Dwellings
Plant & machinery
Transport equipment
Information technology
Furniture & fittings

Minimum
Life
(years)
0
0
0
0
1
0

Maximum
Life (Years)
0
0
0
0
5
0

14 Intangible assets
The CCG had no intangible assets in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
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15 Investment property
The clinical commissioning group had no investment property as at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014.

16 Inventories
The clinical commissioning group had no inventories as at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014.

17 Trade and other receivables

Noncurrent
2014-15
£000

Current
2014-15
£000

Current
2013-14
£000

Noncurrent
2013-14
£000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS receivables: Capital
NHS prepayments and accrued income
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS receivables: Capital
Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Private finance initiative and other public
private partnership arrangement
prepayments and accrued income

6,440
0
2,755
406
0
55
0
10

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

3,321
0
2,761
656
0
0
0
2

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0

0

0

0

Interest receivables
Finance lease receivables
Operating lease receivables
Other receivables
Total Trade & other receivables

0
0
0
36
9,702

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
6,740

0
0
0
0
0

Total current and non current

9,702

6,740

0

0

Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions

The great majority of trade is within the NHS England group. As NHS England is funded by Government to
provide funding to clinical commissioning groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is
considered necessary.

17.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2014-15
£000
1,962
868
0
2,830

2013-14
£000
1,184
703
178
2,065
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£1,833k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
The clinical commissioning group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March
2015 and
31 March 2014.

17.2 Provision for impairment of receivables
The clinical commissioning group had no receivables that were impaired in 2014-15 and 2013-14 and as such
did not make any such provision.

18 Other financial assets
The clinical commissioning group had no other financial assets in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
19 Other current assets
The clinical commissioning group had no other current assets in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
20 Cash and cash equivalents

Opening balance at 1 April
Net change in year
Closing balance at 31 March

2014-15
£000
10
157
167

2013-14
£000
0
10
10

166
0
1
0
167

9
0
1
0
10

0
0
0

0
0
0

167

10

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash with Commercial banks
Cash in hand
Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks
Total bank overdrafts
Closing balance at 31 March
There are no patients' money held by the clinical commissioning group in 2014-15 and 2013-14.

21 Non-current assets held for sale
The clinical commissioning group had no non-current assets held for sale in 2014-15 and 2013-14.

22 Analysis of impairments and reversals
The clinical commissioning group had no impairments or reversals of impairments in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
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23 Trade and other payables

Current
2014-15
£000

Non-current
2014-15
£000

Current
2013-14
£000

Noncurrent
2013-14
£000

Interest payable
NHS payables: revenue
NHS payables: capital
NHS accruals and deferred income
Non-NHS payables: revenue
Non-NHS payables: capital
Non-NHS accruals and deferred
income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Payments received on account
Other payables
Total Trade & Other Payables

0
6,361
0
6,764
3,026
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
15,228
0
2,888
2,448
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

25,259
139
0
143
0
395
42,087

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

17,450
67
0
62
0
242
38,385

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total current and non-current

42,087

38,385

Other payables include £198k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2015 (£89k - 31 March 2014).
24 Other financial liabilities
There were no other financial liabilities in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
25 Other liabilities
There were no other liabilities in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
26 Borrowings
The clinical commissioning group had no borrowings in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
27 Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession
arrangements
The clinical commissioning group had no private finance initiative, LIFT or other service concession
arrangements in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
28 Finance lease obligations
The clinical commissioning group had no finance lease obligations in 2014-15 and
2013-14.
29 Finance lease receivables
The clinical commissioning group had no finance lease receivables in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
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30 Provisions

Current
2014-15
£000

Continuing Care

Other

Total

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

0

0

135

0

0

0

0

383

0

518

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

840

0

840

0

0

(135)

0

0

0

0

(81)

0

(216)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(158)

0

(158)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

984

0

984

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

984

0

984

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

984

0

984

Pensions
Relating to
Other Staff

Legal Claims

Expected
timing of cash
flows:
Within one
year
Between one
and five years
After five
years
Balance at 31
March 2015

518

£000s

Pensions
Relating to
Former
Directors

Balance at 1
April 2014
Arising during
the year
Utilised
during the
year
Reversed
unused
Unwinding of
discount
Change in
discount rate
Transfer (to)
from other
public sector
body
Balance at 31
March 2015

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Equal Pay

984

0
0
135
0
0
0
0
383
0
518

Agenda for
Change

Total current and non-current

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Non-current
2013-14
£000

Redundancy

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
984
0
984

Current
2013-14
£000

Restructuring

Pensions relating to former directors
Pensions relating to other staff
Restructuring
Redundancy
Agenda for change
Equal pay
Legal claims
Continuing care
Other
Total

Non-current
2014-15
£000

Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for
liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of the clinical
commissioning group. However, the legal liability remains with the CCG. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing
Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2014 is £6,658k (£7,194k in 201314).
Legal claims are calculated from the number of claims currently lodged with the NHS Litigation Authority and the
probabilities provided by them. The clinical commissioning group had no provision within the overall balance of provisions
of the NHS Litigation Authority in respect of clinical negligence liabilities as at 31 March 2015 (£99,639 - 31 March 2014).

166

31 Contingencies
The clinical commissioning group had no contingent liabilities and no contingent assets in 2014-15 and 201314.
32 Commitments
The clinical commissioning group had no capital or other financial commitments in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
33 Financial instruments
33.1 Financial risk management
International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have
had during the year in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the
degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in
creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards
mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and
financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to
change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined
formally within the Clinical Commissioning Group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the
Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the Clinical Commissioning Group and internal
auditors.
33.1.1 Currency risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions,
assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas
operations. The Clinical Commissioning Group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
33.1.2 Interest rate risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as
confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets,
and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning
group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
33.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the Clinical Commissioning Group revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the
Clinical Commissioning Group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the
financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
33.1.4 Liquidity risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to
cover expenditure, as the need arises. The Clinical Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to
significant liquidity risks.
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33 Financial instruments cont'd
33.2 Financial assets
At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’
2014-15
£000
Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2015

Available
for Sale
2014-15
£000

Total
2014-15
£000

0

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0

6,440
406
167
37
7,050

0
0
0
0
0

6,440
406
167
37
7,050

At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’
2013-14
£000
Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2014

Loans and
Receivables
2014-15
£000

Loans and
Receivables
2013-14
£000

Available
for Sale
2013-14
£000

Total
2013-14
£000

0

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0

3,321
656
10
0
3,987

0
0
0
0
0

3,321
656
10
0
3,987

33.3 Financial liabilities
At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’
2014-15
£000
Embedded derivatives
Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and
finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2015

Other
2014-15
£000

Total
2014-15
£000

0

0

0

0
0

13,125
28,681

13,125
28,681

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
41,806

0
0
0
41,806

168

At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’
2013-14
£000
Embedded derivatives
Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and
finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2014

Other
2013-14
£000

Total
2013-14
£000

0

0

0

0
0

18,116
19,899

18,116
19,899

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
38,015

0
0
0
38,015

NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2014-15
34 Operating segments
Healthcare costs are attributed to localities as shown below. Transformation schemes, running costs and other
costs which cannot be attributed directly to localities are charged centrally.

North Hertfordshire locality
Lower Lea Valley locality
Stevenage locality
Welhat locality
Upper Lea Valley locality
Stort Valley & Villages locality
Central budgets
Total

Gross
expenditure
£'000
119,238
82,343
95,940
112,206
117,452
56,823
54,761
638,763

Income
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
(11,027)
(11,027)

Net
expenditure
£'000
119,238
82,343
95,940
112,206
117,452
56,823
43,734
627,736

Total
assets
£'000

Net
expenditure
£'000
116,061
78,052
92,518
109,666
113,572
55,925
27,628
593,422

Total
assets
£'000

0
0
0
0
0
0
10,775
10,775

Total
liabilities
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
(43,071)
(43,071)

Net
assets
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
(32,296)
(32,296)

Total
liabilities
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
(38,903)
(38,903)

Net
assets
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
(32,153)
(32,153)

2013/14

North Hertfordshire locality
Lower Lea Valley locality
Stevenage locality
Welhat locality
Upper Lea Valley locality
Stort Valley & Villages locality
Central budgets
Total

Gross
expenditure
£'000
116,061
78,052
92,518
109,666
113,572
55,925
36,915
602,709

Income
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
(9,287)
(9,287)

0
0
0
0
0
0
6,750
6,750
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34.1 Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoCNE
31-Mar-15
£'000
Total net expenditure
reported for operating
segments
Reconciling items
Total net expenditure per the Statement of Comprehensive
Net Expenditure

31-Mar14
£'000

627,736

593,422

0

0

627,736

593,422

34.2 Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoFP
31-Mar-15
£'000
Total assets reported for
operating segments
Reconciling items
Total assets per Statement of Financial Position

10,775

6,750

0
10,775

0
6,750

£'000

31-Mar14
£'000

(43,071)

(38,903)

0
(43,071)

0
(38,903)

31-Mar-15
Total liabilities reported for
operating segments
Reconciling items
Total liabilities per Statement of Financial Position

31-Mar14
£'000
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35 Pooled budgets
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget with Hertfordshire County Council, Herts
Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group, and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group.
The pool is hosted by Hertfordshire County Council.
Under the arrangement funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for mental health, learning
disabilities, child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS), integrated health and social care community
equipment service, and the joint commissioning of residential and nursing care in a number of care homes.
Since August 2013 the pooled budget for intermediate care and enablement beds in East and North
Hertfordshire has been two separate agreements, one with East and North Hertfordshire CCG and a further
one with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG for intermediate care in Royston.
The clinical commissioning group's share of the income and expenditure handled by the
pooled budget in the financial year were:
Schedule 4 Mental
Health, Learning
Disabilities & CAMHS
Total
CCG
PooledBudget

2014-15
£000

2014-15
£000

Schedule 2
Equipment
Service
Total
CCG
Poole
dBudge
t
2014201415
15
£000
£000

Schedule 5
Intermediate
Care
Total
CCG
Pool
edBudg
et
2014
2014
-15
-15
£000
£000

Original Contribution

292,435

62,952

6,749

1,878

5,347

2,477

Expenditure and revised
contribution

292,132

62,887

6,755

1,872

5,289

2,468

Schedule 4 Mental Health,
Learning Disabilities &
CAMHS
Total
CCG
PooledBudget

2013-14
£000

2013-14
£000

Schedule 2
Equipment Service
Total
CCG
Poole
dBudge
t
2013201314
14
£000
£000

Schedule 5
Intermediate
Care
Total
CCG
Pool
edBudg
et
2013
2013
-14
-14
£000
£000

Original Contribution

290,500

59,912

5,749

1,635

3,024

633

Expenditure and revised
contribution

290,208

59,852

6,741

1,917

2,986

625

36 NHS Lift investments
The clinical commissioning group had no NHS LIFT investments in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
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37 Intra-government and other balances
Current
Receivables
2014-15
£000
Balances with:
·
Other Central Government bodies
·
Local Authorities
Balances with NHS bodies:
·
NHS bodies outside the Departmental
Group
·
NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:
·
·

Public corporations and trading funds
Bodies external to Government

Total balances at 31 March 2015

Balances with NHS bodies:
·
NHS bodies outside the Departmental
Group
·
NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:
·
·

Public corporations and trading funds
Bodies external to Government

Total balances at 31 March 2014

Current
Payables
2014-15
£000

Non-current
Payables
2014-15
£000

2
385

0
0

1,313
613

0
0

3,831
5,364
9,195

0
0
0

611
12,514
13,125

0
0
0

0
120

0
0

0
27,036

0
0

9,702

0

42,087

0

Current
Receivables
2013-14
£000
Balances with:
·
Other Central Government bodies
·
Local Authorities

Non-current
Receivables
2014-15
£000

Non-current
Receivables
2013-14
£000

Current
Payables
2013-14
£000

Non-current
Payables
2013-14
£000

2
372

0
0

129
170

0
0

2,117
3,965
6,082

0
0
0

83
18,033
18,116

0
0
0

0
284

0
0

0
19,970

0
0

6,740

0

38,385

0
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38 Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health Ministers, clinical
commissioning group Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to
any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the clinical commissioning group.
The daughter of the Accountable Officer, C Travill, was employed as an intern by the CCG for the period August
2014 to December 2014. Her remuneration was £4,642.
A number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Governing Body. Details of payments made by the CCG to
their practices and related parties disclosed by the GPs and other Governing Body members were as follows:

Payments
to Related
Party
£000

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000

99

0

65

0

Birchwood Surgery - Dr. R Graham

113

0

94

0

Regal Chambers Surgery - Dr. F Sinclair

112

0

54

0

Church Street Surgery - Dr. N Williams

103

0

70

0

The Maltings Surgery - Dr. S Kite

10

0

11

0

The Limes Surgery - Dr. M Andrews

65

0

38

0

The Maples Surgery - Dr. A Jackson

89

0

41

0

Warden Lodge Surgery - Dr. E Bosonnet

104

0

45

0

Bridge Cottage Surgery - Dr. H Pathmanathan

425

0

56

0

92

0

31

0

Stanmore Medical Group - Dr. P Moodley

235

0

79

0

Chells Surgery - Dr. R Hall

127

0

57

0

98

0

70

0

South Street Surgery - Dr. N Shukur

158

0

86

0

Wrafton House Surgery - Dr. A Shah

78

0

32

0

3,308

0

0

0

Portmill Surgery - Dr. R Christie

Garden City Practice - Dr. P Shilliday

Central Surgery - Dr. D Kearns

Isobel Hospice

Amounts due from
Related Party
£000

The following are payments for services procured from GP Federations of which GP's were shareholders.
Ephedra Healthcare Limited

348

0

0

0

Generating Health Limited

116

0

9

0

27

0

0

0

150

0

0

0

12 Point Care
Lea Valley Health
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These payments were made in the normal course of business and Governing Body members had no direct
control over them.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has
had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the
parent Department.
The clinical commissioning group has adopted a disclosure level of £5million in 2014/15. These entities are
listed below.

East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust

Payments
to Related
Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts due from
Related Party

£000

£000

£000

£000

203,576

0

4,596

2,603

East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust

16,802

0

192

0

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust

36,672

1,610

1,560

1,603

6,321

0

381

0

53,098

0

738

0

11,033

1

113

70

Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
University College London Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

18,561

0

1,134

79

7,436

0

455

0

Hertfordshire County Council

76,831

98

613

385

North Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust
The Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

2013-14 comparators are shown on the
following page

38a Related party transactions 2013-14
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health Ministers, clinical
commissioning group Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to
any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the clinical commissioning group.
A number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Governing Body. Details of payments made by the CCG to
their practices and related parties disclosed by the GPs and other Governing Body members were as follows:
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Portmill Surgery - Dr. R Christie
Birchwood Surgery - Dr. R Graham
Regal Chambers Surgery - Dr. F
Sinclair
Church Street Surgery - Dr. N
Williams
The Maltings Surgery - Dr. S Kite
The Limes Surgery - Dr. M Andrews
The Maples Surgery - Mr. A Jackson
Warden Lodge, Cheshunt - Dr E
Bosonnet
Bridge Cottage Surgery - Dr. H
Pathmanathan
Wrafton House Surgery - Dr. J
Constable
Stanmore Medical Group - Dr. P
Moodley
Chells Surgery - Dr. R Hall
Central Surgery - Dr. D Kearns
South Street Surgery - Dr. N Shukur
Bedwell Surgery - Dr. T Kostick

Payments to
Related Party

Receipts from
Related Party

Amounts owed to
Related Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000

£000

£000

£000

96
82

0
0

57
57

0
0

84

0

51

0

61

0

59

0

12
57
38

0
0
0

10
35
45

0
0
0

53

0

45

0

358

0

70

0

64

0

40

0

133

0

95

0

88
84
135
45

0
0
0
0

64
45
75
55

0
0
0
0

These payments were made in the normal course of business and Governing Body members had no direct
control over them.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has
had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the
parent Department.
The clinical commissioning group has adopted a disclosure level of £5million in 2013/14. These entities are
listed below.
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NHS Hertfordshire Integrated CSU
East & North Hertfordshire NHS
Trust
Barnet & Chase Farm Hospitals NHS
Trust
East of England Ambulance NHS
Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS
Trust
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS
FT
University College London Hospitals
FT
Hertfordshire County Council

Payments to
Related Party

Receipts from
Related Party

Amounts owed to
Related Party

£000

£000

£000

Amount
s due
from
Related
Party
£000

5,818

0

2

0

194,928

0

7,750

0

23,786

0

0

378

16,100

0

0

139

33,035

0

1,115

0

49,503

0

4,543

0

10,786

0

637

0

5,846

0

0

88

67,895

0

170

372

In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government
departments and other central and local government bodies. Where appropriate, these transactions have been
reflected in the above table.
39 Events after the end of the reporting
year
A new fund called the “Better Care Fund” will start next year. This pools local authority and CCG funding to
spend jointly on community services and social care services. The CCG is required to pool a minimum of
£22.4m, plus £9.063m which was given to local authorities in 2014/15 and transferred to CCG allocations in
2015/16. The CCG and Hertfordshire County Council have agreed to include services in the Fund above the
minimum mandated, the CCG’s contribution being an additional £37.1m.
40 Losses and special payments
The clinical commissioning group had no losses and special payments in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
41 Third party assets
The clinical commissioning group did not hold cash or cash equivalents on behalf of other parties in 2014-15
and 2013-14.
42 Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
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NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:
2014-15
Target
£'000
Expenditure not to exceed
income
Capital resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue resource use does
not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Capital resource use on
specified matter(s) does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue resource use on
specified matter(s) does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue administration
resource use does not exceed
the amount specified in
Directions

2014-15
Performance
£'000

2013-14
Target
£'000

2013-14
Performance
£'000

647,810

639,896

608,729

602,709

1,304

1,134

0

0

635,479

627,736

599,442

593,422

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

15,317

11,821

14,000

10,796

43 Impact of IFRS
There was no impact of IFRS in 2014-15 and 2013-14.
44 Analysis of charitable reserves
The clinical commissioning group did not hold cash or cash equivalents on behalf of other parties in 2014-15
and 2013-14.
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